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REVIEW OF THE INTERNAL ADMINISTRA-
TION’S STUDY CRITICAL OF CLINTON DRUG
POLICY AND WHITE HOUSE SUPPRESSION
OF STUDY

TUESDAY, OCTOBER 1, 1996

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON NATIONAL SECURITY,
INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS, AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE,
COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT REFORM AND OVERSIGHT,
Washington, DC.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10:10 a.m., in room
2154, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. William H. Zeliff
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding.

Present: Representatives Zeliff and Mica.

Also present: Representatives Clinger, Hastert, and Cummings.

Staff present: Robert B. Charles, staff director and chief counsel;
Sean Littlefield, professional staff member; Chris Marston, legisla-
tive assistant; Ianthe Saylor, clerk; and Daniel P. Hernandez, mi-
nority professional staff member

Mr. ZELIFF. Good morning. The hearing on the Subcommittee on
National Security, International Affairs, and Criminal Justice will
now come to order.

We are holding these hearings today to review a study on drug
policy, a study we believe to have significant findings, prepared by
an independent group, the Institute for Defense Analysis, at the re-
quest of Secretary of Defense Perry in 1994. .

The basic findings of the study were submitted to the Office of
National Drug Control Policy in early 1996, and while efforts were
made to take some conclusions out of this study, the final draft was
created in May 1996.

In terms of background, this subcommittee has oversight respon-
sibility for our Nation’s drug war and has the utmost respect for
our new drug czar, Barry McCaffrey, as well as our Nation’s Inter-
diction Coordinator, Adm. Bob Kramek.

In the course of some 19 hearings that have come before this
subcommittee, the subcommittee has questioned for some time the
administration’s strong reliance on treatment as the key to winning
our Nation’s drug war, and furthermore this subcommittee has
questioned the wisdom of drastically cutting to the bone interdic-
tion programs in order to support major increases in hard-core
drug addiction treatment programs.

The basis for this change in strategy has been the administra-
tion’s reliance on the 1994 RAND study, and therefore we need to
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make sure that in the light of new major trends and increase in
teenage drug use, that we continue to plan and place our resources
where we can get the best results.

I would also like to mention, in terms of cooperation between
both sides of the aisle, that this subcommittee has worked with the
Coast Guard in transit zone programs. We have gone into the tran-
sit zone area. We held a hearing in Puerto Rico. Over the past 2
years it has accomplished an awful lot of work in refocusing the
Nation on the importance of the drug war. Our first witness was
Nancy Reagan, and she kind of led this effort off, but we have come
a long way in getting our Nation refocused.

The Speaker of the House asked Denny Hastert and I to go to
South America to visit source country programs—Mexico, Panama,
Colombia, Bolivia, and Peru—to take a look at what was working
and not working and come back and make recommendations to the
Speaker. Denny Hastert has worked tirelessly in working with the
appropriators and putting the package together. In the last 3 or 4
days, we have been able to accomplish an awful lot in terms of not
only getting the drug czar his much needed staff, but to give him
the resources needed to do his job.

So it has been a bipartisan cooperative effort, and again, I be-
lieve that it is a major challenge that we face in terms of the future
of our country, in terms of the next generation. I don’t think there
is anything more important particularly when you combine crime
and drugs.

Now the issue today that we will be talking about initially, is
that apparently Admiral Kramek, the Interdiction Coordinator, at-
tempted to brief President Clinton’s drug czar, General McCaffrey,
on the IDA study in March 1996 with two of the study’s authors.
General McCaffrey, whom we have tried hard to support again, and
I have indicated our support for him through his complete tenure,
which is approximately the last 6 months, allegedly refused to hear
the briefing. This in combination with other events surrounding
}hatdrefusal has left many of us on the committee troubled and con-
used.

Cooperation is a two-way street, and we obviously need to see all
the data that comes in whether it agrees with our philoscphies in-
dividually or agrees with others’ philosophies. So I think it is very
important that we stay on track with all the information that is
available out there.

We expect to hear testimony bearing on the question of whether
the study, which appears to have been highly critical of President
Clinton’s drug control strategy, was intentionally delayed, altered,
or otherwise suppressed.

In essence the study’s conclusions are two: First, source country
and interdiction programs do work, although they were cut by the
present administration in 1993, 1994, and 1995; and second, the
RAND study justifying record level funding for drug treatment is
seriouﬁly flawed. We will hear expert testimony on the study today
as well.

It is not easy for those of us who have been working with, and
been very highly supportive of, both General McCaffrey and Admi-
ral Kramek to be asking some of these tough questions. On the
other hand, we feel it is our responsibility in terms of oversight re-
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sponsibility of our Nation’s drug war to make sure we have every-

thing on the table, everything we can possibly use in terms of

measuring resources, and in our judgment, again, this is our Na-

tion’s No. 1 problem, and we nee(g to make sure that whatever re-

(slources we have give us the best opportunity to win the war on
rugs.

So as the day progresses, we hope to discover the truth about
three things: First, whether the study exists, and in what form or
forms, since the public does have a right to know its conclusions;
second, whether it is, in fact, highly critical of the administration’s
strategies, specifically demonstrating the cost-effectiveness of inter-
diction, and documenting the failings of the RAND treatment
study; and third, whether the study has been altered, delayed or
suppressed in some way.

[The prepared statement of Hon. William H. Zeliff, Jr., follows:]



Opening Statement of Chairman Bill Zeliff
Hearing of the Subcommittee on National Security, International Affairs and Criminal Justice
“Review of Internal Administration Study Critical of Clinton Drug Policy,
and White House Suppression of Study”
October 1, 1996

We are holding these hearings today to review a study of drug policy, a study we believe to have
significant findings, prepared by an independent group, the Institute for Defense Analysis, at the
request of Secretary of Defense Perry in 1994.

The basic findings of the study were submitted to the Office of National Drug Control Policy in
early 1996 and while efforts were made to take some conclusions out of this study, the final draft
was created in May 1996. Admiral Kramek, the Interdiction Coordinator attempted to brief
President Clinton’s Drug Czar, General McCaffrey, on the study in March of 1996 with two of
the study’s authors. General McCaffrey, whom we have tried hard to support through his tenure,
allegedly refused to hear the briefing. This, in combination with other events surrounding that
refusal, has left many of us on the committee troubled.

We also expect to hear testimony bearing on the question of whether the study, which appears to
have been highly critical of President Clinton’s drug control strategy, was intentionally delayed,
altered, or otherwise suppressed. In essence, the study’s conclusions are two. First, source
country and interdiction programs work, although they were cut by the present administration in
1993, 1994 and 1995. Second, the RAND study justifying record-level funding for drug
treatment is seriously flawed. We will hear expert testimony on the study today as well.

It’s not easy for those us who have been highly supportive of Gen. McCaffrey and Admiral
Kramek to be here asking tough questions today. On the other hand, even in a political season--
perhaps, especially in a political season--we must be faithful at all times to the truth.

We hope to discover the truth about three things today:

First, whether this study exists and in what form or forms since the public has a right to know its
conclusions; Second, whether it is, in fact, highly critical of the administration strategy,
specifically demonstrating the cost-effectiveness of Interdiction and documenting the failings of
the RAND treatment study; and Third, whether the study has been altered, delayed or suppressed
in some other way.
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Mr. ZELIFF. 1 would like to turn to Mr. Cummings from Mary-
land for his opening statement.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

On the eve of the adjournment of 104th Congress in exactly 5
weeks before the election, we are participating in the 18th hearing
this subcommittee has held on the important issue of illegal drugs
in our Nation. Unfortunately, the very title of this hearing, “Review
of the Internal Administration’s Study Critical of Clinton Drug Pol-
icy and White House Suppression of Study,” suggests just another
partisan attack on the administration’s drug policy shortly before
the election.

Mr. Chairman, I believe that there are several important points
that need to be made. First, the subject of this hearing, a draft re-
port by the Institute for Defense Analyses on the cost-effectiveness
of interdiction programs, is just that. We are having a hearing on
a draft. The final report has yet to be issued. Both you and I know
that draft reports from many Government entities are frequently
subjected to reworking after the draft has been circulated for com-
ments.

The Office of National Drug Control Policy received a copy of this
draft report in May of this year. The ONDCP sent the draft to five
independent specialists to conduct peer review analysis. None, I re-
peat none, of the five reviewers were paid for their services. In a
further attempt to ensure a balanced review, the five reviewers
were anonymous so they could feel free to write what they thought
about the report without any chance of outside pressures exerting
influence over their findings. Almost all peer reviews conducted by
academic journals are anonymous.

What did the panel reviewers discover? One peer reviewer stated
that: Empirically the study is flawed by a failure to interpret a
number of data series correctly. Overall the panel was unanimous,
and I repeat unanimous, in its conclusion that the report is seri-
ously flawed and is in need of substantial rewrites before the study
can be published in final form. Remember, this is a draft study
that we are discussing here today, the same one that I just said
was unanimously determined to be flawed.

The panel of peer reviewers were not the only ones who had
problems with this draft study. Officials within IDA itself have ex-
pressed concern about the draft report. According to a July 10,
1996 IDA memorandum, serious questions were raised about the
validity of the draft report.

For the record, I would like to point out that IDA has made the
first three pages of this July 10, 1996, memorandum available to
both the majority and the minority. This memo from Ralph
Richanbach agrees that the methodology in this draft report is
flawed, but we are going to have a hearing today on a flawed draft.
He states: The only relevant issues are whether or not there are
price increases at the retail level and whether these price increases
can be correlated in time with specific interdiction events. Even if
this correlation can be found, additional work must be done to dem-
onstrate a causal relationship.

Mr. Richanbach goes on with a detailed analysis of the problems
in the study.
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Mr. Chairman, at this point I ask unanimous consent that the
July 10, 1996, memo from IDA be included in the hearing record.

Mr. ZELIFF. Without objection so ordered.

[The information referred to follows:]
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July 10. 1996

MEMORANDUM TO: Tom Christie
FROM: Paul H. Richanbach

SUBJECT: “An Empical Examination of Counterdrug Program Effectiveness”™ (IDA
Document D-1837) and Its Critics

Summary and Conclusions

This paper seeks to answer one basic question: Do domestic retail cocaine prices
move in response to specific source-zone interdiction campaigns? The authors believe they
do. The anonymous reviews (forwarded by John Carnevale of ONDCP) raise a number of
methodological issues that call into serivus question the validity of this conclusion.

The centerpiece of the DA analysis is a newly constructed series for the price of
cocaine This price series is flawed by the averaging of retail and wholesale prices. Tt must
be revised to include only retail (less than 5 grams?) prices. If the authors are corect that
the inclusion of wholesale prices has no effect on the resulting price series, then (a) the
results will still stand , and (b) this is a curiosity which should be relegated to a footnote or
appendix. The only relevant issues are whether or not there are price increases at the rewil
level, and whether these price increases can be correlated in time with specific interdiction
evenss. Even if this correlation can be [ound, additional work must be done to demonstrate
a causal relationship.

Several analytical excursions need to be eliminated from the paper. The construction
of demand elasticities is ahsolutely unnecessary. The mistakes and controversies
surrounding this part of the work are nothing but a distraction. If the authors wish to make
a contribution to this area of research, they should do so in another paper. The same holds
true of the projection of the price floor using an exponential decay function. It is both
nonsense and unnecessary. Take it up in another paper.

Both the authors and the reviewers fail, however, to ask a second basic question: If
s0, so what? Do transitory increases in price affect cocaine consumption in the long term
or the number of users (prevalence) in either the short or long term? It seems improbable.
Not only must the authors demonstrate that interdiction increases prices, but they must
further show that this has some permanent effect on prevalence and’or consumption.

Conclusion: Fix the price series. If the results are the same, claim the comrelation, but
be more modest about the causation and look for other supporting data. Eliminate all
unnecessary analyses—in particular demand elasticities, projections of the price floor, and
the claim that the difference between the projected and observed price floors is attributable
to the interdiction campaigns.



The Model

A clear failing of the IDA paper is the lack of a well-articulated modcl of the dynamics —
of the cocaine market. of how supply disruptions might work their way through this
market. and of the goals of an anti-drug policy. In fact, the model used by IDA has, inter
aha, the following (imphait and explicit) features, all of which must be satisfied in order for
therr argument and conclusion to hold:

1 Discrete interdiction operations in source-zone countries have a large and
immediate impact on the total supply of cocaine available for distribution 1n the marhet.

2 Because inventories of cocaine arc small relative to the size of the entire
market. these source-zone supply disruptions have a large and immediate impact on ¢xport
pnices (or on wmport prices 1n the U.S.).

3 The distribution channrels for cocaine in the United States are characterized by
mark-ups along the supply chain that are multiplicative, rather than additive; i.c., large
increases in cost at one level result in proportionally large increases at (all) subsequent
levels.

1 Significant increases in the retail price of cocaine are observed that correlate in
tme with discrete mterdiction operations, and for which there are no other known
explanations.

3 Significant increases in retail prices result in significant decreases in quantities
consumed and the number of people who use cocame (prevalence), in both the short and
long runs

6. Transitory price increases could be made permanent if the discrete events that
caused them (the interdiction operations) were themsclves made permanent, rather than
transitory

Detailed Comments

I The impact of source-zone interdiction enforcement on supply. This seems
highly plausible, but the authors offer no quantitative evidence of this assertion; e.g.,
estimates of cocaine exported from South America. Furthermore. no ¢ffort has been made
to hold the effects of source-zone interdiction campaigns constant for all other possible
explanations. For example, several reviewers agree that prices rose substantially in 1990.
They postulate that this was, at least in part. due to the successful law enforcement
campaign against the Medellin cartel (the result of which might have been a temporary
disruption in supplies) and the increased power of the Cali cartel after the fall of the
Medellin organization (which might have resulted in greater monopoly power and an ability
1o raise prices to extract greater profits), and to other law enforcement successes in Panama
and Mexico at about the same time.

AN

2. Inventories and export (import) prices. One of the reviewers indicates that J
this is an industry in which there are substantial inventories. If so. this would obviously
dampen the price impact of any supply disruption. If inventories are not large, then the



impact of supply disruptions would be felt more quickly. Which is it? This is an empirical
question. but if there is no consensus, then the issues as they appear in the literature must at
least be framed. and their implications assessed. Furthermore, the obvious place to look
for this price impact would be on expurt and import prices. Again, this is an empirical
question; reference must at least be made to the current amount and quality of data and level
of understanding of this issue.

3. Muark-ups. 1f the wheat in a $1.00 box of cereal costs 5 cents, and the price
of wheat doubles. the box of cereal will increase in price by about 5 cents. (The exact
amount depends primarily on the degree of competitiveness at all stages of the supply
chain. and on the competition between grain-based cereals and substitute products). The
IDA authors assume that the mark-ups in the cocaine trade are not additive, but
multiplicative. Thus, a 50 percent increase in the import price of cocaine will result in a 50
percent increase in the retail price. This may be right, but it would be unique, particularly
for a product market that appears to highly competitive. What does the literature have to
say about all this, and on what basis does the IDA analysis make similar or contrary
claims?

4. Retail price increases. Here the debate over the IDA analysis is confused by
the introduction of unnecessary —either overstated or just plain silly —arguments. The only
important issue is whether or not the price series constructed by the IDA authors is valid.

The reviewers are quite comrect to take the IDA analysis to task for failing to
distinguish between retail and wholesale prices in using the STRIDE data to construct their
price series (Figure 1, page 6). Because unit price decreases with the quantity purchased,
the use of quantities above normal retail transactions (5 grams according to one reviewer)
rmust have the effect of lowering the calculated prices. The introduction of non-retail price
data into the retail price calculations invalidates the entire series.

Furthermore. even if there is shown to be a correlation between price increases and
specific interdiction campaigns, causation has vet to be demonstrated. What role did other
events that occurred at these same periods in time have on the observed price movement?
How much of the 1990 price increase may be due to the bringing down of the Medellin
cartel. the expanded power of the Cali cartel, and other events in Panama and Mexico in
1990 (as the reviewers have suggested)? Were there other events in this and other years
that might have contributed to price increases? How much, if any of the correlation is
caused by source-zone interdiction, and how much is caused by other factors?

The first thing I learned in my first econometrics course is that correlation does not
imply causation  (The first thing I learned in my first statistics class was the golden rule of
statistics: “tell me what you want to prove and 1 will prove it for you.”) Economics
students are cautioned repeatedly not to go “data mining.” One must have a theoretical
basis, an underlying model. for trving to understand causal {inks, and it is that theoretical
construct or model that one tries to verify or reject with the available data and evidence.

Having said this, the basic method employed by IDA makes sense to me. If the
pattern of price increases holds true when the price series is properly constructed, then the’
IDA analysis may be very important.
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Tt is a distraction to invent new cconomic theory and assert unheard of cconomic
empriricism by declaring that the price floor for cocaine (after 1989) can be projected from
past prices on the basis of an exponcntial decay function.  And 1t 1S unnecessary, since the
Itterature will support using a price close to that which is needed to make the authors’
argument (The floor price. if it could be predicted, is a function of marginal cost and the
degree of monopoly power that can be exercised in the market.)

It is equally distracting to pick a fight about the effectivencss of domestic law
enforcement activities. To say these activities have had no effect on price is both wrong—
the offect is embedded in the cost of doing business. and therefore the price of the
product—and overstates the simpler, though still debatable point that these actvities (if
thought of as a long term. steady state level of activity) cannot explain sudden changes in
price. )

In particular, the reviewers are quite correct in noting that the IDA analysis offers no
evidence 1n support of the assertion that source-zone interdiction explains any of the
difference between the projecied price floor ($25) and the observed price floor (shghtly
more than $30)  If one believes that the observed price floor is higher than some other,
hypothesized price floor—a point I am unwilling to concede untl I see more convincing
evidence—then one might further hypothesize that the difference may be due to the effect
on the cost of business imposed by law enforcement activities. or it may be due to the
exercise of market power by oligopolists. Or it may be due to source-zone interdiction
campaigns. Who knows?

The IDA price series is in nominal, not real dollars. This must be corrected. Among
other things, the flat, dotted line price floor of about $50 would in fact be decreasing from
1989-1996 if the series were deflated.

5. Price increases, consumption, and prevalence. Significant price increases
will. everyone agrees, result in significant reductions in consumption. Whether the
demand elasticity for heavy users is -0.3, -0.5, or -1 is of litle consequence here. The IDA
attempt to construct demand elasticities is unnecessary. There is no reason not to use the
elasticities developed by others and available in the literature—especially since the
differences between them would have no appreciable effect on the outcome of the analysis.

Unfortunately many of the reviewers comments on the subject of price elasticities
seem valid. In particular, the IDA analysts show no apparent understanding of the
distinction between movement along a demand curve and the movement of a demand curve.
This 15 the identification problem raised by several reviewers; it is one of the first things
taught in cconometrics classes, and is thus the Kind of rookie mistake that unnecessarily
undermines the credibility of the rest of the analysis.

A final problem here is that because any price increases are transitory—1 continue to
discount the alleged affect on the price floor—the effects on consumption must also be
transitory (I suppose one could argue that temporarily high prices might prevent someone
from becoming a user, or might push someone over the edge to becoming a non-uscr, but
such effects must be quite small.) So what is the point of the interdiction campaigns?

Suppose that by temporarily increasing the price of cocaine. consumption is reduced
by half {e.g . the price doubles and the elasticity of demand is -0.5). T could easily posit a
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behavioral mode! that suggests the following: many heavy users. with very inelastic
demand. simply spend whatever income they have on as much cocaine as their money will
buy. There may be little or no decrease in the swnber of heavy users. If a notional casual
user consumes ‘1 gram per month. but cuts back to 12 gram per month due to the price
increase, the number of users still remains the same. How much better off are we if
consumption decreases but prevalence remains the same? What are our social goals? What
effect do various attempts at supply and demand reduction have on long term consumption
versus prevalence, and which is to be more valued? In short, what is the correct behavioral
model? Are there other reasons to engage in interdiction operations that have little to do
with their effect on prices; e.g., support for democratic institution-building in source
countries, or reinforcement of the social unacceptability of drug use among young people
and other potential users?

6. Aaking interdiction operations permanent. Perhaps the point is that these
transitory price increases need to be made permanent by making interdiction operations
permanent? If so, consider the implications of reversing this logic: if we are not prepared
to undertake interdiction operations that will make these price increases permanent, then
there is no value 1o conducting them in the first place. Unless their effects can be made
permanent, there is no discemible long run effect on consumption.

cc:  Bamy D. Crane
A. Rex Rivolo
Gary C. Comfort
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Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Finally, I am troubled by accusations from the majority that the
administration has somehow tried to bury this draft study. During
his last appearance before us, General McCaffrey, who, by the way,
I have utmost respect for, answered questions about the IDA report
and made it clear that, first, he believed the initial draft of this re-
port to be flawed; and, second, that neither he nor anyone else in
the administration wanted to suppress the report.

In a September 20, 1996, letter to Chairman Zeliff, General
McCaffrey sent the results of the peer review panel, making it
clear that if ONDCP had wanted to suppress this draft, he would
not have ordered peer review analyses.

Mr. Chairman, every one of us on this panel knows that General
McCaffrey’s integrity and reputation is above reproach. I am dis-
appointed that General McCaffrey has to appear before us today to
answer these unfounded charges of covering up the IDA draft re-
port. I know that General McCaffrey could be spending his time
more wisely, much more wisely, in confronting the drug problem.
In fact, he could be in my home city of Baltimore where the drug
problem is severe.

Mr. Chairman, I admire and applaud your commitment to fight-
ing this scourge of drug abuse in our Nation. I repeat my offer to
you to assist you in any way. However, finding a solution to the
drug problem must be bipartisan and free of election-year politick-
ing. People are dying. Interdiction is an important component to
ending the drug problem.

I am almost finished.

I do not oppose interdiction programs; however, we must not for-
get treatment and prevention. As General McCaffrey has stated on
numerous occasions, all three of these elements must work together
if we are to make real progress in ending the supply of illegal nar-
cotics in the United States.

In closing, let me welcome back General McCaffrey and Admiral
Kramek. I also look forward to hearing the testimony of our wit-
nesses today.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Elijah E. Cummings follows:]
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Statement of
Hon. Elijah E. Cammings

Subcommittee on National Security, International Affairs
and Criminal Justice
October 1, 1996

Thank you Mr, Chairman. On the eve of the adjournment of
the 104th Congress and exactly five weeks before the election, we are
participating in the 18th hearing this Subcommittee has held on the
important issue of illegal drugs in our nation. Unfortunately, the
very title of this hearing, “Review of Internal Administration Study
Critical of Clinton Drug Policy and White House Suppression of
Study,” suggests just another partisan attack on the

Administration’s drug policies shortly before the election.

Mr. Chairman, I believe there are several important points that
need to be made. First, the subject of this hearing, a draft report by
the Institute for Defense Analyses (IDA) on the cost-effectiveness of
interdiction programs, is just that -- a draft. The final report has yet
to be issued. Both you and I know that draft reports from many
government entities are frequently subjected to re-working after the

draft has been circulated for comments.
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The Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP) received
a copy of this draft report in May of this year. ONDCP sent the
draft to five independent specialists to conduct peer review analyses.
None of the five reviewers were paid for their services. In a further
attempt to ensure a balanced review, the five reviewers were
anonymous, so they could feel free to write what they thought about
the IDA report without any chance of outside pressures exerting
influence over their findings. Almost all peer reviews conducted by

academic journals are anonymous.

What did the panel of reviewers discover? One peer reviewer
stated that quote “Empirically, the study is flawed by a failure to
interpret a number of the data series correctly” end quote. Overall,
the panel was unanimous in its conclusion that the IDA report is
seriously flawed and is in need of substantial rewrites before the
study can be published in final form. Remember, this is a draft

study that we are discussing here today.
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The panel of peer reviewers were not the only ones who had
problems with this draft study. Officials within IDA itself have
expressed concern about the draft report. According to a July 10,
1996 IDA memorandum, serious questions were raised about the
validity of the draft report. For the record, I would like to point out
that IDA has made the first three pages of this July 10, 1996

memorandum available to both the Majority and Minority.

This memo, from Mr. Paul Richanbach, agrees that the
methodology in this draft report is flawed. He states quote “The
only relevant issues are whether or not there are price increases at
the retail level, and whether these price increases can be correlated
in time with specific interdiction events. Even if this correlation can
be found, additional work must be done to demonstrate a causal
relationship” end quote. Mr. Richanbach goes on with a detailed

analysis of the problems in the study.

Mr. Chairman, at this point, I ask unanimous consent that the

July 10, 1996 memo from IDA be included in the hearing record.
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Finally, I am troubled by accusations from the Majority that
the Administration has somehow tried to bury this draft study.
During his last appearance before us, General McCaffery answered
questions about the IDA report and made it clear that one, he
believed the initial draft of this report to be flawed and two, that
neither he nor anyone else in the Administration wanted to suppress
the report. In a September 20, 1996 letter to Chairman Zeliff,
General McCaffery sent the results of the peer review panel, making
it clear that if ONDCP had wanted to suppress this draft, he would

not have ordered the peer review analyses.

Mr. Chairman, every one of us on this panel knows that
General McCaffery’s integrity and reputation is above reproach. I
am disappointed that General McCaffery has to appear before us
today to answer these unfounded charges of covering-up the IDA
draft report. I know that General McCaffery could be spending his
time more wisely in confronting the drug problem. In fact, he could

be in my home city of Baltimore, where the drug problem is severe.
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Mr. Chairman, I admire and applaud your commitment to
fighting the scourge of drug abuse in our nation. I repeat my offer to
you to assist you in any way however, finding a solution to the drug
problem must be bi-partisan and free of election-year politicking.
Interdiction is an important component to ending the drug problem.
I do not oppose interdiction programs. However, we must not forget
treatment and prevention. As General McCaffery has stated on
numerous occasions, all three of these elements must work together if
we are to make real progress in ending the supply of illegal narcotics
in the United States.

In closing, let me welcome back General McCaffery and
Admiral Kramek. I also look forward to hearing the testimony of

our other witnesses.

Thank you Mr. Chairman.
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Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you Mr. Cummings, and I am well aware of
your commitment to this very important issue. I will just read the
last paragraph of that three pages you just inserted in the record.
Having said this, the basic method employed by IDA makes sense
to me. If the pattern of price increases holds true, and the price se-
ries is properly constructed, then the IDA analysis may be very im-
portant. But we will discuss this as we go through the hearing.

I would like to now turn to the chairman of our full committee,
Mr. Clinger from Pennsylvania, for his opening statement.

Mr. CLINGER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and I want
to thank you very profoundly for calling this important hearing,
and I want to tell you what I believe is important in all of this.
Two things are important: The process and substance.

On the process I have to tell you that whether or not the IDA,
Institute for Defense Analyses, study is the best study or worst
study done is not the issue. We are going to hear about the accu-
racy and findings of the report and whether or not it deserves to
be given credence or credibility.

But that really isn’t the issue. The issue is that it needs and de-
serves to be part of the debate, part of the discussion as we went
into the appropriations process this year. What matters is that it
was a year-long internal administration study that came to conclu-
sions that were, at the very least, uncomplimentary of the Clinton
drug strategy between 1993 and 1995, and the drug czar, we are
told, was unwilling, refused, to even take a briefing on the study.

Let me just indicate that to me it seems a very flawed process
that leads to having the top White House drug policy official, the
gentleman for whom we have all indicated we have enormous re-
spect, to, for whatever reason, whether from pressure from else-
where or whatever, to reject out of hand a study on the basis of
its conclusions without at least hearing from the distinguished and
eminent scientists and Ph.D.’s who wrote it.

Process point No. 2: There is a lot of talk going on around here
and elsewhere about cooperation now. I think we would all wel-
come and applaud cooperation and the fact we are told that the ad-
ministration wants to cooperate with Congress to restart—because
I think we would all agree that the war has been in limbo for some
time—to restart the effort to deal with drug menace in this coun-
try.

But I think we really have to make the record very straight. This
committee, this subcommittee, has held 19 hearings on drug policy
starting in March 1995, as Chairman Zeliff said with Nancy
Reagan, and this committee has been trying to engage the adminis-
tration on drug policy from the beginning. This President gave
seven major addresses in 1993 and 1994 and mentioned drugs zero
times. He gave more than 1,600 interviews and speeches in 1993
and mentioned drugs only 13 times. In 1994, he gave more than
1,700 interviews and speeches that mentioned drugs only 11 times.
This is not leadership, and this is not really giving the kind of at-
tention to an issue that is so deadly and so threatening to the
youth of this Nation.

We went through the whole appropriation process, and this, I
think, is what really ultimately is my bottom line and concerns me,
one in which the administration asked for record levels of spending
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on treatment programs and still has kept interdiction below its
1991 and 1992 levels. This study’s conclusions would have helped
immeasurably to advance that debate. At the very least, the conclu-
sions and the recommendations should have been part of that de-
bate. If they could be disproven or found not to be valid, that is
one thing; but the fact that they werent even considered weren’t
even on the table for discussion is a serious disappointment.

Members of this committee have met four or five times with Gen-
eral McCaffrey privately, and I must say, I am advised he never
once mentioned this study’s existence or its conclusions or its rec-
ommendations, which would have at least confirmed the need or at
least suggested the need to reverse the administration’s priorities.
This is not cooperation.

If we are going to have cooperation now, we are grateful for that;
but we have not had, in my view, cooperation in the past. We never
got a chance when it would have counted to debate this study’s
merits or discuss openly the seemingly misguided priorities of the
White House in 1993, 1994 and 1995, and we could have done so
effectively with this study on the public record.

I think the point is that this study, as in all studies that are
done with regard to this menace, needs to be a part of the public
record and part of public debate. The study would have bolstered
what the designated Interdiction Coordinator Admiral Kramek
wrote to former drug czar Lee Brown in December 1994. He stated
then that—I am quoting—“we must return to 1992-1993 levels of
effort” in interdiction. Yet no action was ever taken as a result of
that warning that Mr. Brown issued at that time. This White
House has effectively deprioritized interdiction in order to pump
billions into more treatment. We are not saying treatment doesn’t
need to be part of the mix, but I think that the imbalance between
the resources devoted to treatment and those devoted to interdic-
tion is seriously askew.

So the result, direct or indirect, of failed leadership and a failed
interdiction strategy has been a dramatic rise. We have seen the
evidence of that in the studies that are out most recently the
STRIDE data of last week, the dramatic rise in drug availability,
in purity, increased use, increased incidence of use, a drop in price
and frightening increase in use and drug abuse.

So again, Chairman Zeliff, I want to applaud you and the mem-
bers of your subcommittee who have been so persistent and tena-
cious in pursuing this issue when, frankly, we were not seeing the
kind of commitment and tenaciousness from the other end of Penn-
sylvania Avenue. You stepped out in front on this issue in a tire-
less effort to bring about change, and I commend you and all the
members of this subcommittee, Mr. Mica, Mr. Hastert, and others
who have taken such a great leadership role in this area.

Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you, Chairman Clinger.

[The prepared statement of Hon. William F. Clinger, Jr., follows:]
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Good morning. I want to thank the chairman for calling this
hearing, and I want to tell you what I believe is important in
all this. Two things are important -- process and substance.

On the process, I will tell you that whether the IDA study
is the best study ever done or the worst study ever done is
really not the issue. That debate strikes me as secondary. What
matters is that it was a year-long, internal Administration
study. It came to conclusions that were, at the very least,
uncomplimentary of the €Glinton Drug Stratedgy between 1993 and
1995. And the Drug Czar refused, we understand, to even take a
briefing on the study. Let me say that it is a flawed process
that leads the top White House drug policy official to reject out
of hand a study on the basis of its conclusions, without at least
hearing the PHDs who wrote it.

Process point number two. There is a lot of talk going
around about cooperation now, and how the Administration wants to
cooperate with Congress to restart the drug war. Well, let’s get
the record straight -~ This subcommittee held 19 hearings on drug
policy, starting in March of 1995 with Nancy Reagan, and this
committee has been trying to engage the Administration on drug
policy from the beginning. This president gave 7 major addresses
in 1993 and 1994, and mentioned drugs zero times. He gave more
than 1600 interviews and speeches in 1993, and mentioned drugs
only 13 times. 1In 1994, he gave more than 1700 interviews and
speeches and mentioned drugs only 11 times. That is not
leadership.

On this report, let me tell you what bothers me. The Drug
Czar refused a briefing on it in March of 1996. But Congress
never even got the chance to hear these conclusions -- and we
would not be here today, except for the courage of one of the 19
people who had one of the limited edition, control-numbered,
laser-tabbed copies. That is not how the process of cooperation
works.

We went through the whole appropriation process, one in
which the Administration asked for record levels of spending on
treatment programs, and still has kept interdiction below its
1991 and 1992 levels. This study’s conclusions would have helped
immeasurably to advance that debate. Not having them is a
disappointment.

We met 4 or 5 times with General McCaffrey privately, and he
never once mentioned this study’s existence or its conclusions --
which would have confirmed the need to reverse the
Administration’s priorities. That is not cooperation.

We never got a chance, when it would have counted, to debate
this study’s merits or discuss openly the seemingly misguided
priorities of the White House in 1993, 1994 and 1995, and we
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could have done so effectively with this study on the public
record. I need only remind this audience that Admiral Xramek
wrote a letter to the former Drug Czar in December 1994 stating,
in relevant part, and I quote “"we must return to 1992-1993 levels
of effort" in interdiction. That internal letter described the
fact that an agency head consensus believed we were on the cusp
of a national security issue in the Administration’s approach to
the drug war. Yet no such action was ever taken.

Only this year, without this study to back the effort up -or
any assistance from the White House, did the Republican Congress
get the drug war back on track. We have agreed to exceed the
President’s request for funds by more than $280 million. Only
now, in the eye of a presidential campaign have we gotten any
response.

That I think brings us here today. On the topic of drug
interdiction and the source country programs, I am sure we will
hear a lot today about what new initiatives the Administration
has underway. What we will not hear is the background for all
this new talk.

We will not hear that the Republicans in Congress, many of
them sitting right here, worked hard to exceed the President’s
request with $165 million for Defense Department participation in
Interdiction, $46 million for DEA including agents on the ground
in the source countries, $42 million to put 3 more P-3 aircraft
up, $28 million to enhance Customs efforts, and another 300 INS
officers on the border.

In essence, let’s get the facts. We have not had
cooperation until now, 1996, and it is a little bit late in the
game. The White House has not had a priority on interdicting
drugs prior to their getting to this country; and we have put $3
billion into treatment programs that have generated little if any
progress in the drug war. The opportunity cost has been a rise
in drug availability and purity, a drop in price, and a dramatic
increase in youth use. That cannot stand, and this is just the
latest chapter in the Administration’s attempt to explain away a
major policy failure. ’
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Mr. ZELIFF. Another gentleman that I have already mentioned
that has done heroic work in terms of appropriations committees,
working on behalf of the Speaker in terms of assisting the sub-
committee as we went to South America and tried to pull the pro-
grams together, Denny Hastert from Illinois.

Mr. HASTERT. I thank the chairman. It is interesting to come be-
fore this cornmittee today and ask some important questions about
our drug policy. I don’t view this—I am not a chairman of any com-
mittee or any subcommittee, but I have been around this place for
10 years, and I see one of the basic threats to our security and to
our children is drugs in this country.

I guess I wear a couple of different hats coming here. First of all,
I come in here as a father, a father that hopes my teenage sons
don’t get embroiled in any type of drug use, that they don’t have
to go through any types of programs.

I guess I come also into this committee room with the old aca-
demic hat of an economist. I am not an economist with a Ph.D., but
I did my major work in economics, and I taught economics in a
high school for 16 years, and one of the basic things we talked
about economics are where trends coordinate; where prices are
high, there must be reasons for high prices. When demand is low,
there must be reasons for that low demand. When things disrupt
the ordinary process of somebody coming from market to—or from
manufacturing to the final market, it was all kinds of things can
interfere.

And I think it is relevant, contrary to the gentleman from the
other side of the aisle, from Baltimore, I think, when you find those
disruptions and those parallels, there should be an honest attempt
to understand why they happen, not just to gloss them over or just
say, well, there is something wrong with the science.

en we talk about science in these tffpes of surveys, sometimes
Congress gets too embroiled in studies. It is right that we do stud-
ies, and it is right we understand why things happen and to go be-
yond just testimony or the talk that we have going between our-
selves and this—on this dais from time to time and the testimony
we get from expert witnesses, but to go out in the real world and
find out why things really happen.

So the other hat that I bring on in this thing is somebody who
has been asked by our leadership, and I am part of the leadership,
to try to help where we think there needs to be shoring up, espe-
cially in things like appropriations, and going out in the source
countries and seeing what happens, to see that there are real pro-
grams going on, and people are doing real things out there to stop;
‘because we can talk about abstract places, faraway places like the
jungles of Bolivia, or the Amazon Basin in Peru, or the jungles of
Colombia, or Panama or even Mexico. That is something that is be-
yond most of our experience. We don’t know what goes on there,
or the cultural situations there, or the reason the campasinos are
trying to make a living for their families or how they do that. We
don’t know the interaction of our DEA aients and military and
other ple who are trying to work with organizations on the

und in those countries. But when you are there and see it, you
fi;:rally see people risking their lives day in and day out on a for-
eign soil, and some of those being foreign nationals, to try to make
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life better in this country, then we owe those folks, and we owe
those people the ability to make sure that they can get their job
done and what the priorities of that job should be.

So when I go around, as I have been tasked to do, and talk to
the chairmen of various appropriation committees and saying, boy,
can we get some money into this bill so we can get the P3 on the
ground or off the ground or into these source countries, so that we
can see what the drug-flying drug trade is with down-looking
radar, or can we fix some spray planes in Colombia or in Mexico
so that we can deliver herbicides to this death threat, whether it
has poppy fields that create heroin or whether it is the cocaine
plant fields that deliver coca and crack to our streets and to our
children; and when I find a member or a chairman of my own party
of an appropriation committee that somewhat sanctimoniously
waves in my face a study done by the RAND Corp. a couple of
years ago saying that the RAND study shows that there is no link
at all between interdiction and most of the drugs in the street. For
that reason I am not going to put money in the Coast Guard or
interdiction because this study tells me something else, then we
find evidence that there is evidence to the contrary.

Contrary to my good friend from Baltimore, it is not a draft, it
is a final draft, and a final draft has been denied distribution be-
cause what apparently seems a political purpose, a political pur-
pose that is there to justify a policy by the White House long before
my friend General McCaffrey ever came to be the drug czar, but
to justify something that causes teenage drug use to double, that
causes 12th graders to use more drugs than we have ever had used
by this population, that is actually poisoning the youth of this
country.

Come on. We need to get down to all the reasons this happens,
and if we have good information that is done on some scientific
basis that we can use to justify putting funds into interdiction as
well as funds into the demand side, the treatment programs. that
we have—but again it shouldn’t be all one way or all the other.

The commonsense approach this Congress is trying to take in the
last 2 years is to find what are the reasons for things happening,
whether it is health care, Social Security, or Medicare, and then
when we find those reasons, let’s apply common sense to that rea-
son and make sure that we have things in place that make inter-
diction work. Things that hold down the cost of drugs or drive up
the cost of drugs and hold down demand so that at least maybe
150,000 or 200,000 of our kids can’t afford this, or it’s not within
their scope of recreational purposes, that kind of makes sense.

So let’s get the facts out. There is no place in this Congress or
on a bipartisan basis or in this country to tilt the story one way
or the other without really getting the facts.

So I welcome this hearing today. I hope we get down to the facts.
I can understand just some little things we are able to do. For in-
stance, we stress that we have worked hard to give this adminis-
tration what it has asked for and more. We put $165 million more
in counternarcotics than in the defense bill, and it just happened
because this administration wanted that to happen. We put $20
million more for DEA than the President’s requested in the first
place. Other people said we needed to have this. We put $75 mil-
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lion more in DEA agents for the source countries and more in vir-
tually every area that’s been highlighted.

So we, through the evidence that we found, have tried to help the
situation, and we have given the drug czar—General McCaffrey
will be here today—an extra $60 million in discretionary funds so
he can use that money to best decide how he can fight the drug
war without politics pulling on him from one side or the other.

Now we also need to find out what works and what doesn’t work;
where we need to put these resources, and where we don’t need to
put these resources. If we can’t have honest answers and people
bringing forth honest information, then shame on us and shame on
this Congress. And I yield back.

Mr. ZeLIFF. Thank you, Mr. Hastert. I would just like to quickly
echo one comment in terms of your opening statement. There was
a lot of conflicting evidence on source country programs when we
decided to make that trip down there. In a very short 6 days, we
were able to sort out a lot of that conflicting evidence, and working
with everybody’s involvement in the drug war, we came back with
many recommendations that we discussed with the drug czar and
both sides of the aisle in your efforts in even the last 3 or 4 days
in getting the funding that they need. I think very much there has
been a very strong bipartisan effort.

The gentleman from Florida, Mr. Mica.

Mr. Mica. I thank the chairman for calling this hearing’s and all
the hearings’ attention to this national problem that is destroying
our youth and many of the productive citizens of our country. I also
thank him for agreeing to my request for this hearing because 1
think it is important that this matter be investigated.

1 call for this hearing because of really two reasons. First, I was
dumbfounded when I learned that the first act of our drug czar
may, in fact, have been to bury a report that had critical informa-
tion, that was a conscientious report. Second, I was most concerned
when I learned that there was attempted intimidation of others to
keep this report from the Congress and the American people. Those
are the two reasons why I asked for this report.

I am not the only one that has called for an examination of what
this administration’s policy or lack of policy is. In fact, I think you
wrote to the President, Mr. Chairman, not too long ago, and you
quoted the Wall Street Journal where our FBI Director and DEA
Director said, “Last spring”—this is from that article—"“Last spring
Federal Bureau of Investigation Director Louis Freeh and DEA’s
Mr. Constantine wrote a scathing memo to Mr. Clinton warning
that the administration’s drug strategy was dangerously adrift”—
not my words, their words.

Then we have a report that, in fact, details of the failure of this
policy—let me tell you the rest of why I called for this hearing. 1
learned from a source close to the report of certain facts that were
brought to my attention. First of all, the damning conclusions of
this—and this is a nonpolitical-—it is not a Republican, it is not a
Democrat, it is a nonpolitical, and, in fact, it is an empirically rig-
orous assessment which was commissioned not by me, not by this
committee, but by those at the very top of the administration—was,
in fact, intentionally buried and may have been done so as the first
act of our new drug czar.
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The authors of the study presented their conclusions in person
to the new drug czar in the company of others—and we will hear
from some of those folks today—early this year. When the new
drug czar learned the conclusions, he instructed that the study be
quashed.

Incredibly, the report’s existence——and again I repeat what my
colleague just said, this is its final draft. I had—as a member of
this committee, I just got a copy of this, in fact got it from the press
before I got it officially, but this has been quashed since May of
this year, and actually from March when it was originally kept se-
cret.

What further concerns me is that the new drug czar thereafter
knowingly embraced the same treatment, reduced interdiction and
source country level prevention priorities in the President’s 1996
White House Drug Strategy that were set by President Clinton in
1993, 1994, 1995.

In summary, the White House knowingly quashed its own rigor-
ous but damaging study in an election year because that study
showed the failure of the Clinton policies in the prior 3 years. It
also showed detailed cost of that failure, and there was a quantifi-
able increase in the number of drug users and annual drug-related
deaths, and I think the evidence of that report is very clear.

What concerns me is not just that this report has been sup-
pressed and buried and now kept until maybe after the election,
but let me show you in my community what has been done. This
is the headline from the Orlando Sentinel, July 14, 1996: “Long
Out of Sight, Heroin is Back Killing Teens.”

I come from a very peaceful, suburban, prosperous area in
central Florida. That is what is going on. This is the headline in
my paper this past Sunday, a week ago Sunday: “Orlando Area
Teen Drug Use Soars.” As a parent, as a Member of Congress, as
a concerned American and someone who is not a Johnny-come-late-
ly on this, I asked for hearings. In fact, I had over 100 Members
bring a signed letter to the former chairman of this committee beg-
ging for a hearing about a policy we knew was sending the children
in this country down the tubes, and that hearing was denied, and
I was gaveled out of order in this very room because no one wanted
t«i pay attention fo that problem. So we have seen what has taken
place.

Now I am concerned about what I have heard that has taken
place in this study. We see the results in my neighborhood, not just
in Baltimore, but all across this land, and we need to make sure
that this whole drug abuse problem, that the attention given by
this administration and everyone in Congress is a priority.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman for your leadership.

Mr. ZeLIFF. Thank you Mr. Mica.

At this point I would like to welcome our first panel. These three
gentlemen authored the report we are discussing today. They come
from the Institute of Defense Analyses. Dr. Gary Comfort is the as-
sistant director of the operational evaluation division of IDA. Drs.
Rivolo and Crane are research staff members of the operational
evaluation division.

Thank you for being here, gentlemen. With that, I would ask you
to come forward. Please raise your right hand.
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[Witnesses sworn.]

Mr. ZELIFF. Let the record show that the question was answered
in the affirmative.

We would like, if you would, to, perhaps each of you, give your
opening statements, condense them. The balance of your opening
statement, written statement, can be accepted for the record, but
if you would kind of condense it and fit it into approximately 5
minutes or so.

Mr. COMFORT. Mr. Chairman, we did provide a statement to the
comn:iittee staff yesterday and requested that it be placed in the
record.

Mr. CLINGER. Pull that microphone a little closer to you.

STATEMENTS OF GARY C. COMFORT, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR,
OPERATIONAL EVALUATION DIVISION, INSTITUTE FOR DE-
FENSE ANALYSES; BARRY D. CRANE, RESEARCH STAFF MEM-
BER, OPERATIONAL EVALUATION DIVISION, INSTITUTE FOR
DEFENSE ANALYSES; AND A. REX RIVOLO, RESEARCH STAFF
MEMBER, OPERATIONAL EVALUATION DIVISION, INSTITUTE
FOR DEFENSE ANALYSES

Mr. CRANE. I am Mr. Barry Crane, project leader for the counter-
drug effort. To my right is Dr. Rex Rivolo, the principal analyst,
and to my left is Dr. Gary Comfort. We are pleased to have this
opportunity to clarify the content and status of our report.

The principle objective of our research has been to examine the
effectiveness of source-zone interdiction activities upon cocaine sup-
ply in the United States; based upon that examination, to suggest
strategies and operational activities to increase effectiveness.

We believe that the central finding of our report is that a well-
conceived source-zone action has directly resulted in significant in-
creases in the street price of cocaine in the United States, and,
through market impact, of price upon demand, and resulted in de-
creased consumption of cocaine. We have found that effective
source-zone activities can be conducted at a relatively modest fund-
ing level, and, therefore, that well-conceived source-zone operations
can be more cost-effective than has been previously acknowledged.

I don’t mean to imply that all operations are necessarily cost-ef-
fective. One can pursue ineffective strategies and tactics in the
source zone just like anywhere else. But our research indicates that
activities that significantly and unexpectedly disrupt the estab-
lished coca distribution channel will rapidly produce real effects on
the streets of the United States.

The major purpose of a draft document is the stimulation of dia-
log, the examination of hypotheses, and the receipt and consider-
ation of constructive criticisms. That process is ongoing. We believe
that the final report that will result from this process will incor-
porate a number of clarifications while retaining the findings we
believe are central to the research.
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We believe our research has been of assistance to those respon-
sible for planning and executing source-zone interdiction efforts,
and we expect the final report that results from the ongoing review
process will be a useful tool to motivate and assist the planning
and execution of additional cost-effective source-zone actions.

That is our opening statement, sir.

{The prepared statement of Mr. Crane follows:]
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The Institute for Defense Analyses operates a federally funded research and development
center established to assist the Office of the Secretary of Defense, the Joint Staff, the
Unified Commands, and Defense Agencies in addressing important national security
issues, particularly those requiring scientific and technical expertise. IDA takes great pride
in the high caliber and timeliness of its analyses, produced in an atmosphere that
encourages independent thinking and objective results.

The Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary of Defense for Special Operations and Low
Intensity Conflict oversees the Drug Enforcement Policy and Support (DEPS) program for
the Department of Defense. Under a task order from that office and related tasking, IDA
carries out a number of research activities addressing demand control programs and
interdiction activities supporting the Department of Defense and the U.S. Interdiction
Coordinator. These include assessment of military drug testing and control programs;
evaluation of the performance of the relocatable over-the-horizon radar network;
assessment of capabilities to monitor illegal air transport of drugs throughout the source
and transit zones; maritime and riverine interdiction performance; evaluation of proposed
technological improvements to enhance DoD counterdrug capabilities; and the provision of
quarterly performance evaluations to the Interagency Planning Conference. Dr. Barry
Crane serves as the project leader within IDA for these research activities.

As one element in support of the DEPS tasking, the study team authored a draft document
entitled “An Empirical Examination of Counterdrug Interdiction Program Effectiveness.”
In accordance with established long-standing procedure, a draft of this document was
provided to the task sponsor and other offices approved by the task sponsor in May 1996.
Consistent with the objectives of a draft document, this on-going process of review and
critique has produced thoughtful comments from a substantive number of reviewers, both
internal to IDA as well as from outside reviewers. We are now well along in the process of
carefully evaluating each of the many comments received. We anticipate that the final
report that will result from this review process will incorporate a pumber of substantive
clarifications while retaining the findings that we believe are central to our research. The
remainder of this statement will discuss the scope of our research work underlying the
subject study, the methodologies employed in that research, and the findings from that
research that we believe are the primary contributions of our work.

In execution of the task order, consistent with our operational orientation and experience,
we adopted an approach of examining the data describing actual operational experience with
drug trafficking and drug usage without requiring a priori theoretical models of how drug
trafficking and drug use should respond. Toward this end, the IDA study team collected
extensive data bases made available by DoD elements and the numerous other agencies
involved in combating drugs or in accumulating related data. Such data included known
and suspected drug trafficker routings and flight tracks from the source-zone countries
through the transit zone, drug price and purity data maintained by the Drug Enforcement
Administration, and surveys on drug use collected by Health and Human Services.
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Because these data bases contain large numbers of dispersed events, each of the data bases
is necessarily “noisy,” i.e., they contain many entries that are non-representative
“outliers.” We employed straightforward data processing and analysis methodologies in
the examination of these data bases in order to extract meaningful trends from noisy
statistics. In particular, we developed a cocaine street price index defined as the median
unit price for the pure cocaine content of all DEA transactions smaller than 10 kilograms.
This 1s not unlike the consumer price index computed from a representative “market basket”
and used to monitor the economy.

One of the major cocaine data bases is that maintained by the Drug Enforcement
Administration as the System to Retrieve Information from Drug Evidence (STRIDE)
program. The STRIDE data base includes the price and purity of many thousands of actual
or negotiated street buys by DEA agents. This data base comprises the “market basket”
from which our street price index is computed. After processing the STRIDE data base,
we noted that our cocaine street price index since 1985 is characterized by a smoothly
decreasing trend on which is superimposed a number of distinct, but short duration,
upward excursions or “bumps,” which seemed to beg for an explanation.

We noted that these perturbations corresponded in time with the initiation of several specific
source-zone interdiction activities. Consequently, we formed the hypothesis that well-
conceived supply disruption activities in the source-zone countries can produce sxgmf cant
excursions in the price and purity of cocaine in the U.S.

At the quarterly meeting of the Interagency Planning Conference in May 1995, we argued
that the air bridge between the growing regions in Peru and the processing in Colombia
was a weak link in the drug trafficking distribution network. At the August 1995 meeting,
we recommended strong action to sustain interdiction against the air bridge. We predicted
in open forum at the December 1995 meeting of the Interagency Planning Conference that
the shoot-down policy that had been initiated during 1995 by the government of Peru had
so disrupted the air bridge for coca product transport from Peru to Colombia that, when
STRIDE data for the ensuing period became available, our trend processing would reveal
an increase in the U.S. street prices for cocaine of 30 to 50 percent. When the STRIDE
data for the relevant period became available, our prediction was confirmed. This result
greatly increased our confidence that the correlations we had observed between source zone
events and street price index excursions were causally related.

In January 1996, we briefed Admiral Kramek, in his capacity as the U.S. Interdiction
Coordinator, regarding the consistent correlation we had observed between the
implementation of source-zone supply disruption activities and perturbations in the
STRIDE data, including the predicted response to the shoot-down policy. At this time, we
conveyed a sense of opportunity for capitalizing on this market disruption. Admiral
Kramek indicated that he believed our results were of significance and called a i
meeting of The Interdiction Committee (TIC) to be briefed on our findings. The TIC
members advised Admiral Kramek that we collect the next few months of STRIDE data for
further confirmation before sponsoring our results to the White House.

Our task sponsor, however, did arrange a staff level discussion with key staff from
ONDCP in late January 1996. Among other suggestions offered at that discussion, a key
ONDCP staff member questioned our assumed price-demand elasticity, ie., the
marketplace linkage between price changes and the consumption of drugs. Based on that
discussion, we appended the basic document to include our findings linking price index to
several data bases that are logically related to drug usage. These data bases included the
SmithKline-Beecham Clinical Labs data on random drug testing in the workplace; the
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Department of Health and Human Services Drug Warning Network (DAWN) data base on
emergency room treatments related to cocaine; and the Department of Justice Drug Usage
Forecasting (DUF) data base from quasi-random testing of arrestees in major cities. Again,
we employed straightforward analytical techniques to extract trend data with the maximum
possible resolution. We noted that perturbations in these drug usage indicators
corresponded in time with the perturbations in the STRIDE price data, i.e., when price
went up, the drug usage indicators went down, etc. From these comelated changes we
determined initial gstimates of the price elasticity of demand.

Throughout this research project, we kept the sponsoring office of our task order informed
of our emerging results. Our research showed significant effects on street prices directly
affecting cocaine usage as a result of several source zone initiatives that had been conducted
with relatively modest expenditures. Our sponsor recognized that this apparent cost-
effectiveness of source-zone activities conflicted with the findings of a previously
published study entitled “Controlling Cocaine” that found source zone activities were the
least cost-effective of the four cocaine control strategies considered. The most cost-
effective of those strategies, treatment of heavy users, was found to be some 23 times more
cost-effective than a source-zone interdiction strategy. Our task sponsor asked that we
expand our analysis efforts to explain the apparent large differences in our emerging
findings regarding the cost-effectiveness of source zone interdiction efforts and those
presented in Controliing Cocaine.

Consequently, we undertook a review of Controlling Cocaine. We found that, in our
opinion, Controlling Cocaine had underestimated the effects of major coca production
disruption in the source zone by using a measure of effectiveness that overly relied on
quantity of drugs seized. Since routine drug seizures in the source zone can be readily
compensated for by the drug traffickers via increased drug production, in the steady-state,
source-zone drug seizures are little more than a cost of doing business. We also found that
the demand model used in Controlling Cocaine failed to reproduce the actual demand data
for the years for which data were available from the National Household Survey on Drug
Abuse. Finally, we observed that the cost-effectiveness projected for the treatment strategy
in Controlling Cocaine was inconsistent with the data on treatment expenditures and the
resulting number of treatments actually experienced during 1992-1996.

We documented our analysis outlined above in a draft IDA document, An Empirical
Examination of Counterdrug Interdiction Program Effectiveness. As noted on the inside
cover of that document, an IDA document is used for the convenience of the sponsors or
the analysts to make available preliminary and tentative results of analyses. We believed,
and continue to believe, that our central findings are of significance and that the timely
discussion and understanding of those central findings can assist in motivating, guiding the
planning for, and evaluating the results of effective source zone operations. In our view,
the central findings of our research are the following:

* STRIDE data can be used to assess the effectiveness of source-zone
activities and to provide useful feedback to those executing such source-
zone interdiction operations.

* Well-conceived source-zone operations that significantly and
unexpectedly disrupt the normal drug trafficker processes for producing
and transporting coca products from the source-zone cause discemible
increases in the street price of cocaine in the U.S. and, through normal
market relationships between price and demand, thus reduce cocaine
consumption.
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Consequently, we believed the release to our task sponsor of a draft document was an
appropriate mechanism to make our research results available to the drug control
community in a timely manner while at the same time inviting and recognizing the need for
the review and critique of our draft by others. As discussed above, we believe that such a
review and comment process is proceeding and that the final report that will emerge from
this process will continue to support the central findings.

As the authors of this document, we are concerned that some of the findings contained in
our draft that we consider of lesser significance to our overall research may have been
presented in a manner that invites misinterpretation. Specifically, we have made no
assessment of the appropriate emphasis to be placed upon supply control programs versus
demand reduction programs. Since interdiction efforts are the focus of our research, we
have not examined either law enforcement or treatment programs to an appreciable extent,
and we have made no claims as to the value of those strategies within an overall drug
control program.

Our draft report does contain a figure that graphically depicts the cost-effectiveness of
specific supply control and demand reduction strategies. However, a full reading of the
text makes clear that the cost-effectiveness that is depicted for source country control “is
only directly applicable to the experience of 1995.” Further, the cost-effectiveness depicted
for treatment is not the result of an independent, in~-depth analysis by IDA of the costs and
effectiveness of treatment. As identified in the text of the document, the estimate of
treatment cost-effectiveness utilizes the data extracted from Controlling Cocaine, with the
exception that, rather than using the increased number of treatments projected in
Controlling Cocaine with an increasing expenditure for treatments, we instead used the
number of treatments and the expenditure for treatments as actually experienced in 1995.

‘We will endeavor to present our central findings and other findings with clarity in the final
report so as to reduce the potential for misinterpretation.
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Mr. ZeLiFr. Either of you gentlemen have opening statements?

Mr. COMFORT. No, we don’t, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. ZeLIFF. I guess one quick question I would have in just start-
ing, and I have been involved with a corporate career as well as
a small business, and as well as being in Congress here, and you
say this is a draft, and it is ongoing, and apparently this is not a
final draft?

Mr. CRANE. Let me clarify the way IDA manages its process. A
substantial document, as you see in the front cover of the report,
goes through a much more strenuous review process. The purpose
of our draft is to get out our initial findings for comment and re-
view to strengthen it. It is a very important aspect of the scientific
process to give and receive criticism. We asked for strong criticism,
and the purpose of that is to clear up misconceptions, errors in ex-
position or even faulty reasoning, but in this case we do need to
make some improvements in exposition.

Mzr. ZELIFF. I guess my problem here is how many drafts are you
into now? What number is this one?

Mr. CRANE. This is the only one marked “final.” It was intended
for distribution internal to the inner agency.

Mr. ZELIFF. How many drafts preceded the final?

Mr. CRANE. Just three, sir. If you look, this is what we call a
slant four, and this is the fourth draft. We did receive others.

Mr. ZELIFF. The idea is the Defense Department contracts you to
go out and do a study; you come back and present the results of
the study; then you get asked to keep changing it?

Mr. CrRANE. No, sir, we didn’t get asked to keep changing it. We
receive criticisms, we evaluate them, and continually improve the
report. The criticisms we received, for example, from ONDCP are
extremely valuable criticisms. They do not change the central the-
sis, but will greatly increase our ability to communicate those find-
ings effectively.

Mr. ZeLIFF. You haven’t changed the basic philosophy of the re-
port. The basic conclusions of the report still remain the same from
the beginning to the end?

Mr. CrANE. Yes, sir, for the most part that is true.

Mr. ZELIFF. For the most part. And you stand by your original
conclusions?

Mr. CRANE. The primary conclusions that the source-zone oper-
ations are highly effective, we stand by those.

Mr. ZeLIFF. And what about the RAND study?

Mr. CRANE. We believe that we had obtained substantial data.
We tried to understand certain aspects of the cocaine market. We
matched that data to the methodology of the RAND study, and the
conclusion we came to is that we could not follow the analysis of
that study because the data didn’t—contradicted RAND’s approach.

Mr. ZELIFF. Let me see if I hear you right. You couldn’t follow
the analysis of the study, so does that mean that the study was
flawed?

Mr. CRANE. There are like any other study——

Mr. ZELIFF. Let me be more specific. You couldn’t follow the anal-
ysis of the study, therefore—we are referring to the RAND study
of 1994, which basically has a heavy emphasis on treatment, and
thereby we made decisions to cut back interdiction. I am asking
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you is the study, in your judgment, flawed, the conclusions of that
RAND study of 1994?

Mr. CRANE. The conclusion that the source-zone—I will be spe-
cific here because there are many conclusions. The primary conclu-
sion, that source-zone interdiction activities were very ineffective—
that is, it would cost $783 million to change consumption 1 per-
cent—versus treatment, we found that not to be true.

Mr. ZELIFF. So, I guess the question is why I think it is impor-
tant, and why we value the importance of the work that you have
done here. If we are going through a false premise that treatment
of hard-core drug addicts is the key to the future of the drug war,
then we—and as a result of that false premise, we have cut back
in a major degree interdiction, source country programs as well as
transit zone programs, then we have got to make some adjustments
and change direction, I would think, or at least in balance; would
you agree with that?

Mr. CRANE. It is really the objective of our work to present the
analytical findings. There are certainly other reasons for treat-
ment, and I would defer that to those making decisions on how to
allocate resources and so on to those who make them. We present
§1111r findings that it is less cost-effective than previously had been

own,

Mr. ComFORT. Mr. Chairman, could I just suggest that the ma-
jority of our work is based upon the review of actual data. The ma-
jority of the RAND study is the presentation of models as to how
the system works. What our conclusion found was that in several
cases we were unable to match the actual data to the models of the
RAND study. You can look for a number of reasons to possibly ex-
plain those discrepancies, but we believe that the data are what
the data are.

Mr. ZeLIFF. I guess the last question, I will ask it a different
way. Was the RAND study model flawed, in your opinion?

Mr. CoMFORT. In selected cases it does not match the data, and
as a result, since we believe the data speak for themselves, we
have to say that in some cases, for example, in the question, which
I know is central to some of your thoughts, of the cost-effectiveness
of treatment being so much less than the cost-effectiveness of
source-zone interdiction, our data showed that source-zone interdic-
tion, when carried out from well-conceived operations, can be much
more cost-effective than had been modeled by the RAND study.

Our data took the RAND study’s numbers for treatment as pre-
sented in their document. We just substituted for the projected
number of treatments that would result from increasing the ex-
penditures before the actual data that was available to us for the
actual expenditures and treatments in 1995; and we found that led
to a much lesser cost-effectiveness than what RAND had modeled.
That does not in itself speak to the cost-effectiveness of treatment.
It just says that what we saw in the actual data did not fit the
RAND projections.

Mr. ZeLIFF. Obviously this is a sensitive subject because people
have strong feelings, and many decisions have been made as a re-
sult of the RAND study. Backing up from that, did you, as you pre-
sented your study, and you have gone through some drafts here,
you say three drafts, and you apparently had a final draft here yet
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to be disseminated, but has anybody tried to convince you to
change your thinking and take out the information on the treat-
ment and deemphasize that in any way?

Mr. CoMFORT. Mr. Chairman, I personally—I have kind of been
the inside author in that I stay in the office, and these other gen-
tlemen have been doing the interacting.

Mr. ZeLIFF. My time has run out. I would like to turn it over to
Mr. Hastert from Illinois. I am sorry, excuse me, my buddy from
Maryland.

Mr. CuMMINGS. I do exist. I am not a potted plant over here.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. ZELIFF. With all due respect, I apologize.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Do many of you all—there are several comments
about General McCaffrey and somebody suppressing this report
and all of this kind of thing. Did any of you all brief him, and who
would have said that, any of you all? You heard the testimony; did
you not?

Mr. CRANE. Yes, sir,

Neither of us briefed General McCaffrey.

Mr. CuMMINGS. None of you, OK.

Let me ask you something. There is an internal report, the IDA
report, and there are several things—it is very critical. Your own
internal report is very critical of this whole draft. How do you all
respond to what is said in that report?

Let me just point out one thing very quickly. On page 3 of this
analysis, it says, “the first thing I learned in my economics course
is that correlation does not imply causation”, and then it goes on.
How did you all respond to that?

Mr. RivoLo. Let me respond to that, Mr. Cummings. First of all,
I would like to point out that in addition to that one critique, we
had five others which say this a wonderful piece of work, publish
it.

Mr. CUMMINGS. May we have that, please?

Mr. RivoLo. Certainly, absolutely.

The arguments that are presented in this paper came after the
issues were raised at ONDCP, I believe, and we looked for an econ-
omist because the work really did not involve an economist, and
since we have a very good economist, we sent it to him for review.
He came back with that very scathing review.

We since then interacted for a very long time, for at least 2
weeks, almost on a daily basis, whereby we went item by item and
explained what was done. He has since modified his views, and if
you were to bring him up and ask him, you might get quite a dif-
ferent situation from that original review.

Notwithstanding what I just said, the basic criticism is that the
report does not address the scientific work in an economist’s point
of view. I am not an economist. I am a physicist. I look at the mar-
ket as a physical system. I could care less about economic models.
All I look for is cause and effect, if I can prove it. If I need some
economic piece of application theory or procedure, I go and look for
that.

We have looked at much of that. After looking at most of it, 1
decided that I did not need any of it to make the statement. And
I must say that the nature of this document, as was alluded to by
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my colleague, is really one to convey information without backup
evidence. We never—we never said that this document should be
a stand-alone, self-sufficient document. This document coalesces
about 2 years of work, very extensive work, into a few pages. You
cannot do everything. The reason was that we believed that the re-
sults were very important and should become part of the discussion
for the strategy.

I might, at this point, take the opportunity—I don’t have a fancy,
glossy figure, but I do have some data presentation which essen-
tially outlines our entire arguments, if the member could——

Mr. COUMMINGS. I would like to have that, but let me move on if
you don’t mind.

One of the things that has risen here lately—not lately, but in
my community—is crack cocaine. Crack cocaine is very cheap. Tell
me how that played into your report. I am just curious because
most—I won’t say most, but a lot of people, young people that are
addicted, are on crack cocaine. Tell me how that figured into all of
this.

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, sir. Crack cocaine is just another form of co-
caine except that it addresses the very bottom end of the distribu-
tion machinery in that it is sold in very small quantities at very
high prices, I might say. The price of crack is cheap because the
quantities are cheap, and you can afford to buy a single piece of
rock, which may contain as little as 20 milligrams. That is why it
is cheap.

Mr. CUMMINGS. On the other hand, it is a very addictive drug
and quickly addictive; is that correct?

Mr. RivoLo. I can’t address the addictive—— :

Mr. CUMMINGS. In answering my question, I think you have to
address that in some kind of way because although it is cheap,
there is-—a lot of it is needed, and I base that upon my neighbor-
hood in talking to people on crack cocaine. It is highly addictive,
and people—and based upon what you just said, it comes in small
quantities, and because it is so addictive, they need a lot of it. So
take it from there. I just want that to be a part of your statement.

Mr. RivorLo. That may very well be the case. However, in looking
at the industry and market as a whole, crack cocaine was folded
in with all other forms of cocaine. That was just a different delivery
system, and the reasons why crack cocaine appears can be ad-
dressed, and at some point if you wish me to, I can do that. But
the distinction between crack and other forms of cocaine, in my
opinion, is artificial, and as far as a monitor on the market, they
all should be lumped in together.

Mr. CuMMINGS. Would you comment on whether you briefed oth-
grzf gn the draft report? I think someone said this is the fourth

raft.

Mr. RIvoLo. Yes, sir.

I would like to point out that the first inklings of what we were
looking at happened very early in 1995—February or January. We
were starting to brief the interdiction community, that is the DEA,
U.S. military, Customs, those people, with this concept that there
may be a better way to monitor what their effectiveness is by look-
ing at market dynamics rather than seizures. It was very clear
from the beginning that seizures are irrelevant, useless indicators,
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and we can show you evidence why we believe that. Once this ma-
terial arose, we believe that the significance of it was worth distrib-
uting, and we distributed it. We talked to DEA and Customs exten-
sively. We made trips to South America. We talked a great deal to
agencies in Washington. We talked to CNC. We tried to promulgate
this information at that time very early on, about the same time.

At about the same time, there was a discussion that Peru was
about to implement a major new strategy. That strategy was one
that we had already identified as extremely, extremely effective, if
it was indeed implemented, and that if Peru proceeded with that
implementation, that within 6 months we should see street prices
rising significantly.

This piece of data which I distributed is essentially the evolution-
ary history of that statement. By September 1995, many individ-
uals besides us—and I might refer you to an article in the New
York Times dated September 15, 1995, in what officials described
as the most precipitous shift in almost 6 years, the wholesale price
of cocaine has increased nearly 50 percent since May, while retail
prices have gone up 30 percent.

We believed that way before that report came out. There were
other articles at the time. Various DEA police task forces across
the country were saying: What is going on here?

We knew fully well what was going on and we were trying to
promulgate it. Right about that time, the RAND reports were re-
leased and we diverted our attention from presenting this logic and
this methodology to essentially analyzing the RAND reports and
they were a large digression, which took a lot of time, Mr.
Cummings.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Just one more question, please, Mr. Chairman.

You just said something that really kind of struck me. I want to
make sure I understood you. You said the seizures were irrelevant
or are you saying that as a part of this report information about
seizures is irrelevant? I'm just curious.

I just want to make sure. Because this committee has spent a lot
of time on interdiction. I just want to make sure I understand what
you are saying. That’s all.

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, sir. The canonical measure of effectiveness has
always been seizure, the seizure rate. In looking at the technical
implications of that, we quickly see that seizures correlate with
availability. That is, when there are a lot of drugs on the market,
seizures are very high. When there is none, seizures are very low.
And, therefore, to try to measure success with something which
goes up and down with availability, is counter, and we dismissed
that very early on.

We came to the conclusion that the amount of material seized
does not affect the market, and when you back that up by other
studies, for instance, that production capacity is about 30 times the
current production, it tells you if the market has to expand by 30,
40 percent for seizures, it does so and it does so very quickly.

In fact, if we increased seizures, increase to the cost of operations
would be very small, because I might remind you that the cost of
production for cocaine is about $1 per gram. And if you double it
or triple it, it’s still fairly a small amount of money to lose if the
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final product sells for $15,000—$15 a gram, and ultimately on the
streets for $100 and $150.

So our analysis came to the conclusions, and we stand behind it
and we like to debate in the open, that seizures is a very poor indi-
cator, and one of the criticisms of the RAND report in our report
was that that was used as a gauge of the effectiveness of treatment
versus interdiction.

Mr. CoMFORT. Mr. Cummings, if I could point out regarding sei-
zures, that our study has primarily looked at what causes disrup-
tions to the ongoing price trends so that we have been interested
in what causes those price trends to change over fairly short
amounts of time. Clearly underlying the overall price trend, seizure
has its place. It certainly increases the cost of doing business to
those who are trafficking in drugs and certainly adds something to
their costs which wind up being some addition to the street prices.

Our point is that in the shorter term, with the more dramatic ef-
fects on pricing, we don't see that seizures make a big—is a good
indicator to tell you you are doing things correctly.

Mr. ZELIFF. The gentleman from Illinois, Mr. Hastert.

Mr. HASTERT. I thank the chairman.

Mr. Rivolo.

Rivolo; right?

Mr. RivoLo. Rivolo, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. Rivolo.

I want to very quickly take up two followups on the questions
from the gentleman from Maryland, if you could answer them. Let
me lay this out and you tell me whether it’s right or wrong.

To take the last question, that seizures in this country, whether
you are finding something in a false bottom of a semitrailer truck
or a camper that goes across I-80 and goes through Illinois in my
district, for instance, there is so much substance in the pipeline
that a seizure here and a seizure there really hasn’t affected what
the market price of that product is. Is that what you said?

Mr. RivoLo. I must clarify it. Seizures in the United States, once
the material has been run through the machinery, is very valuable.
And loss of that material costs the machinery a great deal of
money and, therefore, it’s felt.

However, it’s immediately replaced. There is no obstruction-—peo-
ple think that we can affect the supply. We cannot affect the sup-
ply. The supply is the—

er.?HASTERT. That is, seizures on the high sea or seizures in air-
plane?

Mr. RivoLo. Those are less valuable. They are much less valu-
able because the product doesn’t cost much, leaving Colombia at $1
a gram. If they lose a few tons, it is no big deal. They just replace
it. It is a nuisance cost of doing business, and they account for that
in their pricing structure.

lec.i HASTERT. Let me go back to the first question the gentleman
asked.

He asked you, basically, in my understanding, if there is a—not
the seizures but a disruption in the pipeline, if the shoot-down pol-
icy in Peru, for instance, or the situation where you interdicted a
large logistical node, at the San José del Guaviare in Colombia,
that made a difference and that type of strangling the pipeline
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showed empirical evidence at the end that the cost of that product
went very high as compared when there is no disruption in the
pipeline. The cost, as the gentleman said on the streets of Balti-
more for crack cocaine or any type of cocaine, is very cheap. Is that
correct?

Mr. RivoLo. What is very cheap? The——

Mr. HASTERT. If there is no disruption in the pipeline, the cost
0{1 tha})t product on the streets of Baltimore is cheap, relatively
cheap?

Mr. RivoLo. There is a very elaborate distribution chain at which
the value of the material increases rapidly by going through about
4 or 5 steps. At each step, the value increases.

Mr. HASTERT. I am talking street price. It is basically very sim-
ple.

Mr. Rivoro. OK.

Mr. HASTERT. If the street price in Baltimore is cheap, that
means there probably hasn’t been a disruption in the pipeline along
the way; is that correct?

Mr. Rivoro. That’s is correct. Basically——-

Mr. HASTERT. When there is a disruption in the pipeline, when
you squeeze down the ability of drugs to move out of Colombia or
you break down the transportation system between Peru and Co-
lombia, then eventually along the line it shows a rise in the price,
is that correct, on the street?

Mr. Rivoro. If the transportation pipeline is interdicted, not pok-
ing holes in it by seizing it, because that can easily be replaced,
if you interfere with the normal transportation or production mech-
anism, which is strongly dependent on one mode, you will imme-
diately have a shortage produced because it’s not a matter of re-
placing it.

Mr. HASTERT. I don't want too much information. I just want an
understanding here.

So basically you can stop the transportation, if you squeeze down
the pipeline, then you raise prices. And if prices are high on the
street, purity becomes low and sometimes the ability for people to
buy, especially for recreational use, is somewhat impaired; is that
correct? :

Mr. RivoLo. That is correct.

Mr. HasTERT. OK. So there is a relevance there. And that is basi-
cally the whole background for your study, is it not?

Mr. RivoLo. That is correct, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. All right.

Mr. Rivolo, let me ask you, you are the principal author of this
report; is that correct?

Mr. RivoLo. I am not the principal author, but I am the analyst.
I did the analytical part.

Mr. HASTERT. All right. You spent a year doing the analysis and
beginning back in December 1994; is that correct?

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. And the IDA has in the past, then, been critical
of the Defense Department, correct, in some cases, for instance, on
the B-2 bomber and the Osprey program?

Mr. RivoLO. There have been many times where IDA’s position
has conflicted with the sponsor, yes, sir.
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Mr. HAsTERT. All right. Now, I want to make a point. Your re-
port was sponsored by the IDA; right? That’'s who basically you
work for and put out the report.

Mr. Rivoro. The sponsor is the Secretary’s office, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. So actually the Secretary of Defense asked you to
do this study?

Mr. RivoLo. The Assistant Under Secretary for Drug Policy, yes,
sir.

Mr. HASTERT. Fine. Now, I want to take up two important issues
with you. I want to remind you that certainly you are under oath,
as you know, and sworn to tell the whole truth to this congres-
sional panel as you personally remember it, no matter how difficult
that may be to you.

Before I get into the substance of your report, the internal memo
surrounding that report and the conclusion of that report, which
suggests interdiction is cost-effective and that the administration’s
RAND study is unsound—let me start with a different matter. The
high volume—well, when you went to brief the head of ONDCP,
you said that you had never briefed the drug czar; is that correct?

Mr. Rivoro. That is correct.

Mr. CRANE. I answered that, sir.

Mr. HasTeERT. OK. But you were about to brief the drug czar; is
that correct?

Mr. RivoLo. We were asked by Admiral Kramek to take the
briefing or its important conclusions to the drug czar directly, yes,
sir.

Mr. HASTERT. So when you were about to brief the drug czar,
after some type of a meeting, you were told that the briefing was
no longer necessary; is that correct?

Mr. RivorLo. At the time of the briefing, we were brought to
ONDCP by Admiral Kramek, and I believe one or two other staff-
ers, and the intent was to brief the general.

Mr. HASTERT. Now the ONDCP, tell me where is that?

Mr. Rivoro. It’s up on 4th Street or 5th Street.

Mr. HASTERT. It’s part of the White House?

Mr. RivoLo. It's just very close to the White House.

Mr. HASTERT. All right.

Mr. RivoLo. We came in with a prepared briefing. We sat down.
General McCaffrey came in, asked to be prebriefed by Admiral
Kramek.

Mr. HASTERT. Right.

Mr. RivoLo. They went into a room. We were expecting it to be
about 5 minutes. It took about 30 minutes. They came out and Ad-
miral Kramek relayed to us that the general did not want to hear
our briefing and that in the following days’ presentation, which we
were to brief the interagency, that some discussion of supply and
demand should not take place.

Mr. HasTeERT. Now, let me get this straight, if you would indulge
me for a minute, Mr. Chairman.

When I was raising my young sons, who are now older, some-
times when I was telling them something, I found out that they put
their hands over their ears, that they didn’t want to hear it, with
the presumption if you didn’t hear it, you didn’t have to understand
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it and you didn’t have to behave. Was this somewhat what hap-
pened here?

Mr. Rivoro. I don’t want to speculate on what the motivation
was.

Mr. HASTERT. I understand.

Mr. RivorLo. 1 know what happened, and basically, he did not
want to listen to the work, for whatever reasons, and he left.

Mr. HASTERT. Now, let me ask you another question.

I understand—this was just relayed to us. You are the people
who were there. Now, you were standing basically outside the door
waiting to go in and do the briefing; is that correct?

Mr. RIvoLo. Yes, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. Did you overhear any of the conversation in the
other room?

Mr. RivoLo. No, sir. You couldn’t hear anything.

Mr. HASTERT. You couldn’t hear anything at all?

Mr. RivorLo. You heard elevated voices once or twice, but there
was no way you could understand.

Mr. HASTERT. Were they shouting?

Mr. RivoLo. Elevated.

Mr. HASTERT. Excitement?

Mr. RivorLo. I think the meeting was an excited one, but, we
were not in there.

Mr. HASTERT. Thank you.

I will yield back,

Mr. ZELIFF. The gentleman from Florida, Mr. Mica.

Mr. Mica. Mr. Rivolo, you went there, though, with the intent of
briefing the drug czar?

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, sir.

Mr. Mica. That was your purpose?

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, sir.

Mr. MicA. And you said you got into the room; you put your pa-
pers out and then you were asked to leave?

Mr. RivoLo. No, we never got into the room.

Mr. MicA. You never got into the room?

Mr. RivoLo. We were sitting in the waiting hall, waiting for Gen-
eral McCaffrey to come. He came in. He waved Admiral Kramek
in. Admiral Kramek came out and said he wants a prebriefing, give
me the slides. He took my slides. They went in and we sat outside
for the duration.

Mr. MicA. And it's your understanding—now, you were told to
stand or wait outside, and you said you heard elevated voices. Was
Kramek yelling at the drug czar?

Mr. Rivoro. I don’t know who was yelling to whom. You have to
ask the people in that room.

Mr. Mica. Was anyone else in the room?

Mr. RivoLo. I am confused on that issue because I was under the
impression that it was only Admiral Kramek, but my colleague is
very certain that there were other people in there, and you will
have to ask him. But I suspect that his memory on this issue is
much better than mine. I did not make much of—

Mr. MicA. The only one you remember then is Admiral Kramek?

Mr. RivoLO. Yes, sir.

Mr. MicA. But you think there were others?
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Mr. RivoLo. Yes.

Mr. MicA. After the meeting, did Admiral Kramek emerge and
did he apologize to you for the event and also did he indicate in
any way that the drug czar had rejected this study or the conclu-
sions?

Mr. Riveno. Yes, sir. Admiral Kramek came out. He said, I am
sorry, the general does not want to take your briefing at this time;
and we were surprised. We asked a question or two, like why;
what's wrong?

And basically, he relayed that he does not believe the conclusions
and he doesn’t like basically the comparison between interdiction
and treatment. And, therefore, until further notice, that’s the sta-
tus.

We then drove back——

Mr. Mica. Before you get to that, could I ask you: Did you hear
him say or indicate in any way to you that not a word of this is
to get out?

Mr. RivoLo. After the ride back to the Pentagon, where the
meeting was going on, the words that were given to us by Admiral
Kramek were, well, until further—and there was a long discussion
in between. That until further notice, not a word of this can get
out, yes, sir.

Mr. Mica. Now, is it your understanding that those were—was
that a directive by Admiral Kramek? Or was that something he
was passing on from the drug czar?

Mr. RivoLo. I am not sure it was a directive from anyone. I
mean, in principle, no one can stop us except the sponsor, and
much of this work was not done for Admiral Kramek. It was done
for Mr. Sheridan. However, Admiral Kramek essentially was trying
to make the best of the situation, and he said, there is—it was
never interpreted as a directive, but we certainly would follow his
desires. We have enormous respect for Admiral Kramek.

Mr. MicA. Was it motivated? Do you think Admiral Kramek was
the one that was—that wanted—didn’t want this information out?

Mr. RivoLo. No, I do not believe that.

Mr. MicA. So it had to be then—this may be your assumption,
but it had to be the drug czar was not pleased with the conclusion
that your report reached and took a different position and didn’t
wan‘g that information out; is that—would that be a fair assump-
tion?

Mr. RivoLo. That would be conjecture on my part, and that is
the conjecture that I held at the time.

Mr. Mica. Do you recall anyone telling you that the drug czar
physically pushed Admiral Kramek, or the word that I had was
that he pushed him against the wall? Did anyone say anything
about the conflict that took place in that room?

Mr. RivoLo. During the ride back, there were some discussions,
and I'm not quite sure who was in those discussions, but there
were some comments made about the managerial style of General
McCaffrey. Everyone knows him. But I would not comment to any
substance of anything relating to what went on in the room.

Ker. l%ICA. Was Mr. Boyer with you, an assistant to Admiral
amek?
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Mr. Rivoro. That’s one of the discrepancies that my colleague
and I have in that I was under the impression that he was not. He
is under the impression that he was. But I do remember that there
were several people in the staff car. Whether the——

Mr. MicA. Do you remember whether it was Admiral Kramek
that talked about the severity of the conflict in that discussion or
was it someone else?

Mr. RivoLo. 1 really don’t think Admiral Kramek would comment
on things like that. So whatever was said either was by implication
or by projection of personalities. I am not quite sure.

Mr. Mica. Did there come a time afterwards when you or one of
the other authors contacted someone else in the White House drug
czar’s office, perhaps maybe a week later, to seek permission to re-
lease this report to Members of Congress?

Mr. Rwivoro. It was not—if that happened, that happened
through the sponsor’s office.

Mr. CRANE. Let me comment.

Mr. Mica. Mr. Crane. -

Mr. CrRANE. As the project leader.

I sought clarification, after the day when we had the briefings,
and I asked the following questions of both sponsors: Do we have
any instructions at all to end any of the type of work on price and
demand? The answer was absolutely not. In fact, we have produced
other briefings. I gave a talk on the 7th and 8th of August using
that same data.

So I went to look at, did any of our documents that were pub-
lished in conference proceedings were they changed with respect to
this? I could find no evidence of it. So I have been able to find no
evidence of any, you know, taking out or censoring of our material
that I am aware of, sir.

Mr. Mica. Mr. Rivolo, again, was there a time shortly after this
incident when you or any of the other authors contacted the White
House drug czar’s office, sought permission to release the report to
Members of Congress?

Mr. Rivoro. Not to my knowledge, and not that I have done. My
only time in which that question was asked, it was asked of Admi-
ral Kramek. It was about a week, perhaps, after that event and
after we had our usual discussion about typical operations and
what was worked and what wasn’t. Barry asked the Admiral: “Sir,
are we in any way not to discuss any aspect of this?” And he was
very adamant about it. He says absolutely not. You guys are doing
great work. You continue to do and preach whatever you think is
correct. That was the only——

Mr. ZELIFF. The gentleman’s time has expired.

Mr. MicA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I will yield back.

Mr. ZELIFF. Dr. Rivolo, how did you feel when, you know, you
have been working on this report for how long?

Mr. RivorLo. About 18 months.

Mr. ZeLIFF. Eighteen months. So it’s a year and a half and you
were probably pretty excited that you had some good information
that would be well-received?



43

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, sir, because first of all, I did not expect to find
what I found, and I thought that the material was very, very time-
ly in light of what was going on inside.

Mr. ZELIFF. Because we were in the process of putting appropria-
tions bills together, working on the new strategy, the new drug
czar.

Mr. Rivoro. I was not so concerned with the appropriations. I
was concerned with the strategy in South America in implementing
basically the philosophy of PDD-14, where we were going to try to
interdict the machinery of cocaine production rather than trying
othei:' strategies, and we now had evidence that that strategy would
work.

Mr. ZeLiFF. How did you feel about not being able to present
your report? And how did you feel about the reactions that took
place and Admiral Kramek coming back and telling you that it’s
not going to see the light of day? Just describe your feelings.

Mr. Rivoro. I was very surprised, but I am very naive in this
game. I have been in the academic world-too long. I was very sur-
prised and I was angry. I was really angry, because it was not a
political statement in any sense.

All it was, here, look at this. We can actually make a connection
between what goes on in the interdiction role in South America and
the prices on the streets of L.A. and New York. That information
needs to be folded in somewhere. It’s not my job to do that unless
you ask, but this is important information.

Mr. ZELIFF. And if we take a look at what’s happened since 1992
in terms of the lack of support for interdiction, it probably says
that maybe we are on the wrong path?

Mr. Rivoro. Uhm—-

Mr. ZELIFF. Let me ask you a different question then.

If you see drug use among teenagers soaring, you see that we
have an epidemic, you have to go back and take a look at what was
working prior to 1992, and take a look at maybe revisiting that and
seeing if maybe we have to go back to something that was working;
relative to your report, does that commonsense wise say maybe we
ought to take another look?

Mr. RivoLo. I believe that the strategy to fight drugs has to be
very broad and incorporate many elements. I believe that the inter-
diction role, as always, has been dismissed, dismissed by the com-
munity at large, and we believe that at this point—1I did not believe
it 18 months ago—that interdiction has a role and, in fact, can be
a very effective role.

The rising trends in young people, I do have my own opinion on
that, hut whether they are linked or not, I don't know. We do know
that in the case of cocaine—and by the way, we have only studied
cocaine—that in the case of cocaine, prices hit a record low in late
1994, early 1995.

Mr. ZELIFF. So commonsense wise, the lower the price, the broad-
er the distribution, the more people that will try it?

Mr. RivoLo. Apparently the law of supply and demand is not
heeded to by much of the community. Many people who work in the
street do not believe that that law operates. We certainly do.

Mr. ZELIFF. Let me ask you so that I understand; do you believe
it operates?
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Mr. ZerLirr. OK.

And I guess, Dr. Crane, I looked at this letter from, I guess it
was basically from Mr. Boyer, from Admiral Kramek’s office to you,
Dr. Crane, and relative to changing some of the content of the re-
port, I will just read two paragraphs: “The draft paper on source
zone interdiction effectiveness is an excellent step toward quantify-
ing a very complex issue. A linkage between interdiction efforts
and cocaine price fluctuations is one that we have intuitively based
our supply reduction strategy upon, and it’s gratifying to see that
the impact can be quantified.”

Then in another paragraph: “The discussion of the cost-effective-
ness of treatment programs is of great value but not necessary to
the analysis of the intrinsic value of the interdiction programs and
possibly beyond the purview of USIC or DOD-related taskings for
IDA. Recommend this issue be removed from the paper and treated
separately or, at a minimum, placed in an appendix so that the
interdiction effectiveness discussion can proceed separately.” And
then a little handwritten note, “good work.”

Would you be willing to comment on that?

Mr, CrANE. Yes; we did, in a previous draft, get comments in a
previous draft from a different sponsor. However, this is prior to
any of these events.

Mr. ZELIFF. Prior to which events?

Mr. CRANE. Well, prior to the May 8 document. And he certainly
in no way tried—as you know, it’s in the document. He in no way
tried to—so I didn't interpret that as any restriction on whether we
should put it in or not, and it was one of the many types of letters
that we got giving us advice on what to put in the document or not.
But I will tell you that we made our own judgment on that. We
have very strict rules about independence and no one put us under
any pressure and we put in what we felt was appropriate for this
draft document.

Mr. ZELIFF. Let me ask Dr. Rivolo, were you asked to soften your
approach on treatment?

Mr. RivoLo. No.

Mr. ZeLiFF. Did you leave anything out relative to treatment?

Mr. RivoLo. And you must realize that my communication and
feedback is purely numeric and computer and numbers. Those dis-
cussions are handled by Dr. Crane.

Mr. ZELIFF. So you never talked to Mr. Sheridan?

Mr. RivoLo. We did talk to Mr. Sheridan and his staff many
times.

Mr. ZELIFF. And did they suggest you taking treatment out or
softening treatment?

Mr. RivorLo. 1 never recall any guidance one way or another,
Their guidance has always been, you do what you think is best and
make sure that it’s sound. That’s always been the direction.

Mr. ZeLIFF. What bothers me is this, the way we do these re-
ports, though, if you do all these drafts and you get all this guid-
ance, what happens to just doing the work? And then we either ac-
cept or reject it based on the quality of the report. Why do we have
to keep changing it so the people who are doing the report are
happy with the results? -
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Mr. RivorLo. Unfortunately, some of that goes on. Most of the
drafts are really for technical review. People complain about, well,
this is not clear, this needs to be amplified, this is incorrect.

Mr. ZELIFF. But did this go on in any of these drafts? Did we
alter ?it so that people would feel better about what they were
doing?

Mr. CRANE. Let me comment as the project leader, sir. It’s stand-
ard procedure to have open discussion with the sponsors and then
they express their concerns. They have always given us full free-
dom to—I shouldn’t say full freedom, but a substantial amount of
freedom to put in there what we felt was important, and in no
way—we always seek that information from them because we
might have overlooked something. And they were just one of many.

I would say I did not feel any pressure at all with respect to that.
We put in what we felt was appropriate for the draft for the inter-
agency to look at.

Mr. ZeLiFF. OK. I guess you said this came out before you start-
ed changing the reports, but when Boyer wrote you under Item E:
Recommend the leading or softening of any language that appears
to be either combative with or condescending of the RAND study,
was self-promoting of IDA, instead of taking a negative approach
toward the RAND analysis, take a positive approach toward source
country efforts and let the IDA analysis speak for itself.

That didn’t affect you in any way?

Mr. CRANE. Not that I recall, sir. I mean, we haven't made any
changes in the report yet. We are still evaluating all comments.

Mr. ZELIFF. How long does it take to get a report from all the
various drafts to a final completion? It has been 18 months and
then do we have 6 or 8 months, a couple of years? Then what hap-
pens to the effectiveness of the data?

Mr. CrRANE. I gave one report to the interagency which involved
this material at a classified level and compared it in December. We
really didn’t begin to write this report until, I would say, February,
March, April, and May. It isn't uncommon then, since it had a lot
of substance to it, to receive a lot of criticism and try to fix the re-
port and make a better product of it. So we are going through, in
my opinion, not only the normal cycle but a faster cycle than I am
accustomed to in a lot of our reports.

Mr. COMFORT. Mr. Chairman, if I could just say in that regard,
I believe we became aware of our own conclusions in the December
time period. We then put them into a briefing form to convey them
where we could. We then turned it into a report, a couple of inter-
nal drafts, a final draft that you have. We've received a number of
comments.

This is ground-breaking work. As a result, we expect it to be
somewhat controversial. We are in the process—well along in the
process—of reviewing the comments, assessing them and making
the changes.

We have been somewhat hampered, I will say, in that some of
the comments, some of the constructive comments, were presented
to us anonymously. We found from other critiques that we were
able to resolve what oftentimes were misunderstandings and
miscommunications by sitting down and talking to the people. We
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have been somewhat hampered and going slower in this because
we are not privy to who are the author’s of some of the comments.

Mr. ZELIFF. Why do you suppose this is taking place?

Mr. CoMFORT. I can only say that we were provided the com-
ments indirectly. Certainly, these reviewers were not anonymous to
ONDCP. They were only anonymous when they were presented to
us. It is standard practice that academic reviews for journals are
conducted by reviewers who are anonymous to the authors. This
was never intended, obviously from its tone, to be a paper for an
academic journal. So we would welcome a hearty and open discus-
sion with all of those who feel they have valid comments.

Mr. ZELIFF. Meanwhile, as Mr. Cummings says, kids are dying
on the streets of Baltimore and other countries around-—in other
States and countries around the world. It just seems to me that
something as vital as a report of this nature, if it’s accurate—and
again, at some point I guess we are going to have to determine
that. After we get through the methodology and all of that, do you
think there’s general agreement with your final analysis?

Mr. CoMroRT. I think that our finding that well-conceived,
source-zone operations do have direct effectiveness upon the prices
of cocaine in the streets of the United States and upon the purity
on the streets, I believe we continue to have strong support for
that. I would also——

Mr. ZELIFF. Would that also stand up?

Mr. COMFORT. I believe so.

I would also add the comment you just read from Captain Boyer
about his suggestion as to what to do with the RAND analysis and
the chart on cost-effectiveness of treatment. We hope in the tone
of how we presented the results in that paper, certainly in informal
communications which he may have, that we have consistently
viewed our work as a work on source-owned interdiction.

While we found these other things, we in no way were attacking
the effectiveness of treatment programs. We were merely pointing
out, as I mentioned earlier, that the projections of the cost-effec-
tiveness was inconsistent with the actual data that we could gath-
er.

We ourselves, as we indicated in the statement we provided for
the record, are concerned that some of the findings we presented
were done in a way that allowed easy misinterpretation. So it is
not at all an invalid criticism that we make a clear distinction in
our report so that people understand what we have studied exten-
sively and feel very comfortable with is the relationship of well-con-
ceived, source-zone operations with the marketplace.
© We would not try to suggest that the other things in our paper
are at the same level of importance to us or within the objective
of our study. i

Mr. ZELIFF. So just to finalize this, and then I will turn it over
to Mr. Hastert, but from 1992 on, we have done major cuts in
source-country programs as well as transit-zone programs. What 1
am understanding you to say is that based on your research, this
is the wrong direction and ought to be revisited?

Mr. CoMFORT. We believe, based on our research, that well-con-
ceived, source-zone operations are very effective. That does not
mean, as Dr. Crane said in his opening statement, that you can’t
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do foolish things throughout the program or things that aren’t as
effective as others. We think we have shown through our research
the types of operations that can be very cost-effective.

Mr. ZELIFF. Mr. Cummings from Maryland.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much.

You all—I think somebody asked you a little earlier, you all un-
derstand that you have been sworn here; is that right?

[All witnesses answer in the affirmative.]

Mr. CUMMINGS. And you all know what that means; is that
right?

[All witnesses answer in the affirmative.]

Mr. CUMMINGS. I am sure you have an appreciation for one’s in-
tegrity and reputation; do you not?

And I want to ask you some very, very pointed questions and I
want you to be very clear with me. General McCaffrey is a person
whom I respect tremendously. And some accusations have been
made from this bar, and I want to make sure that we are clear.
And as I look down the witness list, you are probably about the
only people who can answer the questions.

No. 1, have any of you all felt intimidated with regard to this
whole process, this report and getting it out and what have you?
Have any of you?

Mr. CRANE. Let me comment that at first we were a little—I
think felt a little bit upset that these important findings might not
be moving as quickly. Subsequent, when I went and checked for
what evidence that any of the reports were suppressed, were we
given any guidance not to continue the work, we have continued to
use this information with operational forces, as best we can, to im-
prove operations, and given numerous briefings since then. So at
first I think we might have felt that way, but today I am not in-
timidated by it, no, sir.

Mr. CUMMINGS. And to you directly, have you felt any intimida-
tion by General McCaffrey? That's what I am concerned ahout.
This man’s reputation is on the line. I am concerned about it.

Mr. CRANE. Sir, I think I just answered that question.

Mr. CuMMINGS. OK, fine.

Mr. COMFORT. Sir, let me say also I have certainly not met the
principals in general. As I indicated, I have been the inside author,
staying within my office bounds more or less. But as was pointed
out by the chairman, I believe the Institute for Defense Analyses
has a long history of producing reports where we speak what we
think is correct, whether they are proadministration or against
policies. Truthfully, in our view, whether it was pro or against or
how it would be interpreted, had and has nothing to do with the
way we report our research.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Yes, sir.

Mr. RivoLo. My personal view is that the word intimidation is
really not appropriate. There was a day, maybe 2 days, right after
that eventful attempt to brief, where I personally felt—if you want
to use the word——intimated.

Mr. CUMMINGS. I want you to use a word that is appropriate. We
have the press here that are getting ready to write stories, and
there has been an accusation that somebody felt intimated, and I
want to know the answer, yes or no.
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Mr. RivoLo. We felt that we could not speak freely for that 1
day. Admiral Kramek came back very quickly. We made it—we
asked the question very explicitly; are we being told not to do any-
thing? And we were told, absolutely not.

What I would like to point ocut is that in terms of feeling, and
this is long before General McCaffrey came in to that office, is that
we felt ignored; that we were not allowed to discuss findings.

But that single event on that 1 day only applied to that particu-
lar briefing, which apparently was objectionable.

Mr. CUMMINGS. And 1 think you used the word “conjecture” at
least two or three times during your testimony. And I am just won-
dering, did you get anything—that whatever feeling you got was
that from General McCaffrey? 1 mean. Is that of something gen-
erally from General McCaffrey?

Mr. Rivoro. No.

Mr. CuMMINGS. All right. Thank you.

Let me ask you another question. Do you know whether—do you
all have any direct evidence that General McCaffrey tried to quash
this report? That's another accusation that was made. And I think
since we are in the public domain we need to be real clear on that
with regard to a man’s reputation. I mean, we can go straight
across. I am just curious.

Mr. Rivoro. I have no direct evidence.

Mr. CRANE. I have no direct evidence.

Mr. CoMFORT. 1 have never met General McCaffrey and have no
evidence of that.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you.

There was one other thing that—there was a phrase used to bury
the report. Have you ever felt that you were—General McCaffrey
asked you to bury the report?

This is something that came from this bar. And I am just won-
dering, have any of you felt or do you have any direct evidence that
Genergl McCaffrey asked—implied or anything, that you bury the
report?

Mr. CraNE. I, myself, have no direct evidence of that.

Mr. RivoLo. No; the word “bury”, I used that word once—in fact,
I used it at the meeting—but only referring to the events of the
previous 6 months by ONDCP, not by General McCaffrey.

Mr. CUMMINGS. And you, sir?

Mr. CoMFORT. I stand by my answer. I have never met General
McCaffrey.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you. I just wanted to clear that up.

Let me go on to some other things that I am very interested in.
You talked about the whole question of General McCaffrey and the
initial-—the report that he read. Is that the same report we are
talking about today? In other words, the report that he read on the
day that this meeting occurred, is that the same report that we are
talking about today, the same draft?

Mr. CRANE. Let me comment.

Mr. CumMINGS. OK.

Mr. CRANE. We had a briefing to give him the material that was
classified. At the same time, Admiral Kramek gave him the copy
of the report you are discussing. What happened to those things,
you would have to ask them.
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Mr. CuMMINGS. OK. Now let me make it clear. The document
that you gave—I am sorry. I am glad you corrected me. The docu-
ment that you gave Kramek, first of all, was Kramek aware of all
the stuff in the document? Did you brief him?

Mr. CrRANE. Yes; we had briefed——there were two—there were
two pieces of material. One was a briefing report, secret, on oper-
ations. The other was the report that you are referring to in this
hearing, and both of those were left with General McCaffrey.

Mr. CuMMINGS. All right. It's this same document, this fourth
draft that we are talking about today; is that right?

Mr. CRaNE. No, sir. It was probably the third draft or something.
I am not sure it’s exactly the same.

Mr. CUMMINGS. So you don’t know whether the document—you
are saying you don’t know whether the document that we are deal-
ing with today, this draft, this fourth draft, is the document that
was presented that day to General McCaffrey? Am I right?

Mr. CRANE. I think there might have been a change in the pref-
ace or two, but it’s basically almost identical to the one that you
have before you.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Let me ask you this: In talking—I just want you
to comment on this. I am just curious. When I talk to the people—
I live in a drug-infested area, north of Madison Avenue in Balti-
more City. It is drug infested. And I have a chance to talk to a lot
of folk that are doing this kind of stuff, and trying to encourage
them to get off, get treatment, whatever.

The question—and when I ask them about prices, what they tell
me—I just want you to comment if you can. If you can't, that’s
fine—they tell me that if the price goes up, they just do more
crime. I mean, have you ever—I mean, did you all take that into
consideration?

In other words, if you have got an addict, the addicts have to
have drugs. So the question becomes—I mean, when we talk about
eﬁ'ect;veness, I am just curious, did you take that into consider-
ation?

You said you had your own personal opinions and all that kind
of stuff. And so I am just wondering about that. I mean, these are
the guys—these are the folk who are on the street every day, the
ones who break into houses and things, the women who sell their
bodies. And I am just wondering, does that have—I mean, did you
take any of that into consideration? )

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, we did. And, in fact, we have looked at the uni-
form crime statistics. We have looked at a huge number of data
sources.

Let me just give you a synopsis. When drug prices—when co-
caine, and again I address cocaine only, when cocaine prices re-
versed in 1989 and almost doubled, there was a drop in drug-relat-
ed homicides, a drop, a significant drop. OK? That has to do with
there’s less drugs available. There are less dealings going on and
the dealers do less shooting. That’s one that can be backed up by
the Justice Department statistics.

In terms of petty crime, money-raising crime, car thefts, that also
shows a drop, although it doesn’t appear to be correlated.

However, you can exclude any rise, any rise in those statistics,
linked to price rises. Now, again the only major price rise we have
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ever seen was in 1989 and 1990, and that is the data that we
looked at in detail. We are in the process of looking at more current
detail, but we have support from the Department of Justice ana-
lysts who ought to agree, although I have not seen any reports,
that certainly when it comes to drug-related homicides, 1989 was
a bucket. It was an all-time low.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Would you agree that the—may 1 just—chair-
man, may I just ask one more question?

Mr. ZELIFF. Go ahead.

Mr. CuMMINGS. Thank you. I think you have been kind of lenient
with the other side.

Mr. ZeLIFF. I have been very lenient with you, my friend.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Let me ask you this: When you look at—homi-
cides are very significant, don’t get me wrong. But it is the petty
crimes, it is the breaking into houses, breaking into cars, taking
car phones and things of that nature, sell them for $50 and what-
ever, I mean, that’s very—I mean, homicides are significant. But
I think the petty—when you are trying to get money to buy some
crack cocaine and get it quickly, it seems like that would have
more relevance than, say, the murders.

Mr. RivoLo. I know that is the accepted paradigm. We see no
evidence for it. And we also might point to previous research done
in the 1970’s relating crime to heroin use which came to the same
conclusions.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you.

Mr. ZELIFF. The gentleman’s time has expired.

Mr. Hastert.

Mr. HASTERT. I thank the chairman.

First, I want to get this clear, because I am completely amazed
from my friend from the other side of the aisle saying that through
his anecdotal research on the streets of Baltimore that he would
think that if you make great amounts of narcotics available you
will reduce the amount of crime. I am not sure how you figure that,
but if that’s the point that he is trying to make, I really have a
hard time understanding that.

But I want to ask you—because you haven't done anecdotal re-
search. You have done real research. You have set up cause-and-
effect type of situations. As a physicist, you can do that, I guess,
best.

I have to make some—I have always said that I have been appro-
priately apologetic for saying that I am an economist. I always re-
member one of my good friends who grew up with me in the corn-
fields of Illinois. He wanted to be an economist, but as a youth he
had his hand taken off by a cornpicker. The story was he could
never get accepted into the school of economics because most eco-
nomic sayings are, well, on the other hand, and he just didn’t qual-
ify.

So I understand the softness of economic theory and the models.
I have been involved in putting economic models together. And
they are just that, economic models. And there is—sometimes rela-
tion to reality, there’s not a lot there.

But in your study, you went through and tried to show a correla-
tion, that if you can stop the amount of drugs flowing through the
pipeline, through huge events such as the shoot-down policy in
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Peru or the shutting down of a huge drug lab in Colombia, that
there was actually a difference, there was an increase in price on
the streets and, as you said, according to my friend from Mary-
land’s question, that there was actually a decrease in crime.

Now, we spend $90 billion a year, $90 billion a year, not on inter-
diction, not on this, but from the crime aspect, victims of crime,
prosecuting criminals, all tied into drugs and those deaths of teen-
agers. The same teenagers that are on the streets of Baltimore who
get this stuff sometimes because the price is cheap and they can
afford to get it for a recreational drug, where they would never
have been able to buy it as a recreational drug prior if the price
was so high that they couldn’t afford it. It was before they get
hooked on this substance, before they go out committing crimes be-
cause they have to have it.

Now, let me ask you a question. Is it relevant that if there’s some
type of study that shows that you can squeeze down the pipeline
of drugs coming into this country and it makes a difference in the
price of narcotics, cocaine in this situation, the purity of cocaine in
this situation and the incidents of crime in this situation, and it
flies in the face of the so-called RAND study, that the administra-
tion has adhered to since 1993, that basically shows twice the num-
ber of drug use in this country since that period of time, that shows
our teenagers have gotten into marijuana and other drugs some-
times up to a 400 percent increase between certain age groups,
that’s a pretty relevant thing, is it not?

Mr. Rivoro. It’s extremely relevant if you believe those connec-
tions. Many of our colleagues in the economics community and the
social scientists do not believe it. They dismiss all of these points
of attachment, which we believe are now black and white.

Mr. HASTERT. Let me come out of the world of social science be-
cause I taught social science for a lot of years, more years than I
want to talk about. But social science, many people in the world
of social science will say, here is a problem, let’s do a study to show
why this problem exists. They don’t usually use a lot of empirical
evidence. They are not physicists like in your situation.

Now, let’s say here is what has happened since 1992: That this
administration has taken in—before General McCaffrey. I have to
tell my friend from Maryland, I have a great deal of respect for
General McCaffrey who came out as a four-star general, com-
manded the southern command, knows about drug interdiction.
But even before he became the drug czar, there was $500 million
that was taken out of interdiction. There was $200 million that
came out of the ability for us fo be able to even interdict, go out
and have the Coast Guard planes and the trains

Mr. ZELIFF. Will the gentleman yield for just a second?

Mr. HASTERT. Yes.

Mr. ZeLirr. How about just drastically cutting and gutting the
drug czar’s office so that whoever the drug czar is doesn’t have the
resources to do the work?

Mr. HASTERT. One of the things that I find somewhat repulsive,
and I think the gentleman from Maryland will probably agree with
me, is that when the White House said, well, we cut White House
staff, they did. They cut everybody in the drug office. So that was
how we could cut White House staff.
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But let me make an important point before my time is up. That
the Coast Guard had $400 million taken out of its budget. These
are the people who were successful before 1993 in stopping narcotic
air traffic and narcotic traffic coming through boats, through our
Mediterranean—Caribbean and in some cases, the Western, Near
Western Pacific—I am sorry Eastern Pacific, which is along our
Western coast and Mexico’s Western coast.

We had $300 million from 1993 to 1996 taken out of source-coun-
try interdiction, the very thing that I was saying that shows some
real correlations between the study you did and the study—and the
results of what happens on the street. And $1 billion of that
money, that savings, went into treatment.

Now, I don’t think there is anything wrong with treatment, but
I think you are putting the cart before the horse, quite frankly,
when you say we have to put $1 billion more in treatment, we are
going to take it out of drug interdiction and source-country actions
because we have lowered the price of drugs on the street and we
have got a lot more kids beirig hooked on drugs because of the low
prices and increased purity. Because of the drug actions that we
have had in this country over the last 4 years that we have to put
another billion dollars in interdiction—or in drug treatment, be-
cause we have a lot more kids hooked, I think really is a—turning
the world upside down or putting logic on its head, if you will.

What we have tried to do is take some of that money and put
at least $200 million more into the drug interdiction of the Coast
Guard. We have tried to give some of this money into General
McCaffrey. We have given him $60 million to use at his discretion.
We want to know how he is going to use it but—so that he can do
a better job.

So the signs that you have created and the study that you have
created that shows that there’s a correlation between shutting
down drug interdiction in foreign source countries, Bolivia, Peru,
Colombia, and what happens on the street, is pretty relevant, espe-
cially because if we have to spend an extra billion dollars in treat-
ment because of those kids that got hooked on the street because
you took that drug interdiction money away.

And when I go to the chairman, subcommittee chairman, on
Transportation and say we have to help the Coast Guard stop this
drug stuff, we have to squeeze down the pipeline, and he waves the
RAND study in my face, then we need to be able to counter that
study. And that’s exactly what we have done. And if we play igno-
rance and say, well, we can’t do this because we don’t see it, then
there’s something wrong in the system.

I can tell you, you can have all kinds of models to put in the
RAND study, but the RAND study doesn’t wash as far as I am con-
cerned. And the cause and effect that you have put together does
wash. There’s relevance and some kind of a correlation between
facts—factual information. That’s what we want to see.

And, you know, I don’t know. There's figurative language and
there’s literal language and as you—again, my good friend from
Maryland has said—somebody said in that car on the way to the
Pentagon, that General McCaffrey put somebody up against the
wall, that’s military language. I know that. It could be literally
against the wall. It could be figuratively up against the wall.
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And as a new drug czar, he may have reason to try to get his
feet on the ground and try to find out what's fact and what'’s fic-
tion. But in the long run, we need to be able to give the American
people the right information. We need to have Congress and all of
those people out there who are fighting that drug war to have the
right information so they can do the right things.

I think your study, in my opinion, as an economist who some-
gmes makes mistakes—it goes a long way toward that. I yield

ack.

Mr. ZELIFF. Gentleman from Florida, Mr. Mica.

Mr. Mica. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Rivolo, did you write a memo to certain individuals explain-
ing the White House mindset or the drug czar mindset against the
release of the report?

Mr. Rivoro. I wrote a memo to my boss at IDA, who appended
it to his own version, the memo that essentially came to the de-
fense of the criticism that came from ONDCP, and the memo es-
sentially said the work is sound, it needs to be debated in open
community, not by the experts of ONDCP, and the consequences of
this are important enough that you need to open up the machinery,
and I was very critical in my language.

Mr. Mica. Did you provide that memo to Deputy Assistant Sec-
retary of State Brian Sheridan?

Mr. RivoLo. The memo was delivered to Mr. Sheridan, that is
correct.

Mr. Mica. Do you have a copy of that memo? I have asked for
a copy of that memo, and I haven't gotten a copy of the memo.

Mr. Rivoro. I had a copy of the memo that actually went to Mr.
Newberry, who was in that office.

l\élr. Mica. Would you provide a copy of that memo to the commit-
tee?

Mr. RvoLo. I certainly can. But that memo to Mr. Newberry be-
hind it is a memo from me to Mr. Tom Christie, my direct super-
visor.

Mr. MicAa. When you read the memo from Barry Crane to Brian
Sheridan to Tom Christie seeking to get this report released and
disseminated given the urgency of the Nation’s drug problem, did
there come a time when you thought you should reveal this infor-
mation?

Mr. RivoLo. Reveal to whom?

Mr. MicA. Well, to anyone.

Mr. RivoLo. I believe that the information should have been
made public, yes. And I pushed that point of view very strongly to
Mr. Sheridan and his staff.

Mr. Mica. Well, do you also recall a memo written from within
the administration back in 1994-95 which was a direct indictment
of the RAND study promoting treatment, which was a study com-
missioned by the White House? Do you by chance have a copy of
that internal critique of the RAND study with you?

Mr. RivoLo. That was not a memo. It was a draft paper which
was done at the request of Mr. Sheridan. It was written by me, de-
livered to Mr. Sheridan not in a memo form, but as a draft docu-
ment. I have a computer version of that. It is all I can find.

Mr. Mica. Could you provide a copy of that?
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Mr. RivoLo. I certainly can.

Mr. MicA. Are you aware that Congress has never received those
documents from Sheridan, McCaffrey, Kramek, or any other office
from whom we have requested them?

Mr. RivoLo. No, I was not aware.

Mr. MicA. Let me ask you. Were you ever involved in a conversa-
tion with Barry Crane, and did he ever say to you that he was
afraid that someone was trying to bury this report?

Mr. RIvOLO. Shortly after the events of the briefing, which was,
as I said, lasted for about 2 days, Dr. Crane was upset and essen-
tially made the remark that this is the absolute wrong thing to do
because it will look like a coverup.

Mr. MicA. Dr. Crane, is that what you said?

Mr. CRANE. I don’t recall exactly that language.

Mr. MicA. Did you say, someone is trying to bury this report?

Mr. CrANE. I don’t recall that language. Let me say, though, I
was upset at that time. What I did was immediately seek clarifica-
tion, see if there was any evidence——

M;' Mica. Mr. Comfort, were you aware of any of this conversa-
tion?

Mr. COMFORT. Again, as I say, I wasn’t there. I would say that
when both of these briefers came back, they certainly were upset
at the time. I think they felt they had done good work. I believe
we had done good work. I would not at all be surprised, though I
do not recall any of that language, that that was their feeling at
the time.

Mr. Mica. Did you hear anyone say that McCaffrey had told
Kramek that: “not a word of this is to get out”?

Mr. COMFORT. Again, I could not recall any specific language at
the time, but I believe that kind of feeling, which clearly was con-
jecture since none of us were in the room, might well have been
spoken and might have expressed their feelings at the time.

Mr. Mica. You never heard that comment?

Mr. COMFORT. 1 can’t recall that I ever heard those specific
words. I will say, as Dr. Rivolo just mentioned, that I have heard
Dr. Crane in just standing around the coffee pot, so to speak, sug-
gest that he thought it was a mistake that our paper not be given
more open discussion because he was concerned that it would look
like somebody was trying to bury our paper.

Mr. MicA. So that was the comment that you made?

Mr. CoMrORT. I recall that sort of conversation.

Mr. Mica. Mr. Rivolo, General McCaffrey testified before me
when I asked him about this before that your report was: “utter
nonsense,” contained utter nonsense. Did you brief the General
prior to—at any time prior to the March meeting that you went to?

Mr. RivoLo. No, sir.

Mr. MICA. Are you aware that the general had a copy of the—
did he have a copy of the report?

Mr. RivoLo. He had a copy of the report and the annotated brief-
ing, yes, sir.

Mr. Mica. When was that given to him?

Mr. RivorLo. The day of the interagency meeting, which I believe
was May 7.

Mr. CRANE. May 8.
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Mr. RivoLo. May 8.

Mr. MicA. I am talking about in March, he told me when he got
the report, he thought it was utter nonsense.

Mr. CRANE. We didn’t give anything to him until May 8.

Mr. MicaA. Is there anything in the report either in the March or
May version that is utter nonsense?

Mr. RivoLo. No, sir.

Mr. Mica. Is there anything in this report in the March ver-
sion—and I don’t have a copy of it, but we will get it—or the May
version that is utter nonsense?

Mr. CRANE. In my opinion, no.

Mr. Mica. Dr. Comfort, is there anything in this report in any
version, March, May, June, July, any copy that hasn’t been re-
leased, that is utter nonsense, that you would term utter nonsense?

Mr. CoMmroRT. There is one figure that is subject to misinter-
pretation, but there is nothing that is utter nonsense.

Mr. MicA. Thank you.

I yield back.

Mr. ZELIFF. The gentleman from Pennsylvania.

Mr. Clinger.

Mr. CLINGER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Gentlemen, we thank you for your testimony here today.

I think that, as I represent a district that has probably more
Federal prisons than any other district in the country, Lewisburg,
Bradford, and Oliver, and as I meet with the wardens of those pris-
ons, the thing that comes through loud and clear is that the major
crime problem in this country is the drug problem; that 80 to 90
percent of the prisoners that were incarcerated now are there be-
cause of either direct or indirect drug connections, crimes commit-
ted because of drugs, crimes committed with drugs directly. It is
enormous.

I think we tend to underestimate the social cost of this problem,
and therefore that is why it becomes so absolutely critical that we
don’t waste resources, that we use the resources in a wise and sen-
sible and effective way to address the problem.

The graph would suggest that we are losing the war, that we are,
in fact, going backward. It becomes all the more imperative and ur-
gent that we have clear, precise, accurate information on which to
base judgments. That is our job up here, our job in this committee.

The job of the Government Reform and Oversight Committee is
to conduct oversight. That is an exercise that is often scoffed at, an
exercise that is perceived as political witch-hunting, as something
that you have to put up with in the legislative process, but it is
really just window dressing. I know no member of this committee
who views our role as just window dressing. We really view it as
something of vital importance, and I think nothing could emphasize
that more than the nature of this problem.

The reason we are here today, we feel very strongly that in order
to make sensible decisions and recommendations to our colleagues
on the results of oversight and what that oversight has produced,
we have to have accurate information. If we don’t have all of the
information, then that judgment and that recommendation is going
to be flawed, and in this case we clearly didn’t have all the infor-
mation at a time when it would have been very helpful to have
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that information, when we are really talking about where we put
our money. Where do we put the bucks? Where are they going to
be most effectively used? The policy has been to put that emphasis
on remediation and to put it on treatment, and rather than on
interdiction, on what appears to be flawed grounds that that was
a failed policy, that interdiction was not working. So, I guess the
concern we have is that we need to have that information.

Now we have seen too often here that this—that is why we need
to get to the bottom of, was this suppressed, was this deliberately
suppressed, was there a conscious effort to withhold this informa-
tion, because it would undercut a policy, or was there some other
reason why it was withheld? Maybe it is flawed. You gentlemen
stand behind it. You said there is certainly no nonsense to this re-
port; that is, it is scientifically strong, and you can back it up. So,
in that case we do have conflicting views as to where we ought to
be going with this thing. We can’t make a judgment unless we have
both those views before us. We did not have your view, we did not
have your studied scientific objective, we believe, in consideration
of this whole problem.

So, we have all—most recently we now have a claim of executive
privilege over documents that might be helpful to us in making
that assessment. I believe, Mr. Chairman, we had a memo from—
this was a letter to Mr. Quinn—or to Chairman Zeliff from Mr.
Quinn in which he claims executive privilege over a document that
might be very helpful to our examination.

So, I guess my question to you—a couple of questions, No. 1,
some confusion over what the status of this report is. We had a
March version, a May version, various other versions. Did you con-
sider this work product a final report?

Dr. Crane.

Mr. CrRANE. What I would like to do is go through the sequence
of how we produce a substantive report. At the stage of May 8, we
were going to have some comment from interagency. We were re-
leasing it from the inside route. That process went on—it went into
Government hands, and we know that the distribution was made.
What we would do is get these comments back—I have a very sub-
stantial comment file. We got the comments back, and we are ad-
dressing the criticisms.

Now those criticisms are very, very valuable to scientists because
they improve not only our ability to make our case, but they also
expose any weakness in our logic. Because this became quite a con-
troversial issue, on August 30, I received a list of distinguished
people from the National Research Council so that we could pro-
vide them to do much higher level review of not only our own docu-
ments, but also the ones that we have differences in findings. So
it is our intention to go through the formal review process to make
a report, and we are just going along in that process. And what’s
gappened here is we stumbled into the middle of the scientific de-

ate.

Mr. CLINGER. Let me interrupt you here. Just to reference a
memo that you did send to Brian Sheridan in July in which you
said that the failure to disseminate and use these new research re-
sults—which I assume is what we are talking about here—opti-
mally and employing and motivating the limited allied forces may
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put in jeopardy future source-zone performance against cocaine
production. So, you felt in July that this was a matter of some ur-
ency.

g Mr. CRANE. Let me say, to put in context, this report is 1 of
maybe 20 things we work on. My principal support to Admiral
Kramek and Brian Sheridan is to provide operational advice. This
report—I didn’t mention the word “report” in there at all other
than there were some criticisms of it. There is an ongoing oper-
ation, sir, right now that I needed to put certain types of this infor-
mation. I wanted to be absolutely sure. It had to get out, and, in
fact, all the recommendations in it have been complied with. We
have briefed the people at the conference in August, so I am satis-
fied that that has happened.

Mr. CLINGER. I have just one further question, Mr. Chairman, if
1 may.

Dr. Rivolo, you answered earlier, and I was not here when you
did answer, Congressman Cummings’ question that you didn’t have
any direct evidence that General McCaffrey was directing this re-
port be quashed. However, I think you intimated that the ONDCP
staff may have tried to influence this report in some way; that you
felt you had some intimations or suggestions that there may have
been staff influence. Could you elaborate? Do you have any specif-
ics?

Mr. Rivoro. Yes; as I said, there were many, many months be-
fore General McCaffrey actually took that office. We had findings,
and we were briefing the interagencies as early as March 1995,
that there was some significant connection between the interdiction
events and what was happening in the streets. We felt this was im-
portant and new because it contradicted the standard view of
things, and we tried to bring that into ONDCP, and we tried many
times. We had Mr. Sheridan attempt. We had his staff attempt. We
also, for many months, requested data, Department of Justice data,
Health and Human Services data, and all of that had to be ap-
proved through ONDCP. Those things didn’t happen. They hap-
pened extremely slowly or did not happen at all.

This was our view—I should say my view, I, maybe my colleague,
because I was working very closely with the people that handled
the data—that office was not interested in listening to what we had
to say. That was my perception, and I hold it to this day.

Mr. CLINGER. It went beyond just bureaucratic lethargy or the
bureaucratic slowdowns; it went beyond that?

Mr. Rivoro. Yes; that is my perception.

Mr. CLINGER. Thank you.

Mr. ZELIFF. I just had a quick question here. You all referred to
a secret report, a briefing, that was apparently given to certain
members of the administration as an addendum to one of the re-
ports that we have here; is that correct? We were wondering if we
could get a copy of that secret report.

Mr. CrRANE. Could you give us the date? You mean the day of this
report; is that what you are referring to?

Mr. ZELIFF. I believe, Dr. Crane, you referred to the secret re-
port. It is something you have and we don’t have, and if you could
give me the date, that is the one we want.
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Mr. CraNE. There was a secret report, the briefing materials that
we had, and we could provide that to you, sir.

Mr. ZeLirrF. Thank you, sir.

I guess the only last comment I would make is that the report
you all are working on took 18 months. It was presented initially
in March. It is now March, April, May, June, July, August; we are
in September, October. You know, it wasn’t buried, it wasn’t de-
layed, it wasn’t suppressed. I don’t know; what was it? When does
it get done, and at what point does it have any relevant value?
Again, General McCaffrey came in here and got sworn in in Feb-
ruary, and I attended that swearing-in ceremony, so we are not
criticizing him. We are criticizing bad data that he will basically
then use to come up with 1996 programs, 1997 appropriations. So
when, in the year 2000, when will this thing be done? And admit-
tedly it wasn’t buried or delayed.

Mr. CraNE. I want to again put into context that we do a lot of
work. We have limitations in accelerating that work. As you know,
the FFRDC’s are restricted from—I can’t hire more people because
of ceilings on us and so on,

To be fair, we have made many reports at the secret level about
this material to the interagency, and that is the proper forum. You
will see as you go back, this is just one little piece of it. The prin-
cipal communication that we make is to the forces, assessments of
how they perform, and we use this material where we could to im-
prove their performance, and those, I think, are all a matter for the
record and exist.

Mr. ZeLiFF. Dr. Crane, you don't feel it has been delayed?

Mr. CrRaANE. Now that I have a chance to look back on all of the
questions to make our case, I feel it certainly is appropriate that
we take a lot of caution. We——

Mr. ZeLiFF. You don’t feel it’s been delayed? This is normal?

Mr. CrANE. If we answer the things correctly, I don't feel that
report—it is only one of three or four.

Mr. COMFORT. Sir, having seen a lot of documents go forward,
certainly in our view when we sent forward a final draft document,
the document makes very clear on the inside cover that we issue
it as a document because it is preliminary and tentative analysis—
we felt at that time that that document was ready for open discus-
sion in the scientific community. We believe that since that time,
in working as best as we could to respond to valuable criticisms,
we are close to getting all of those understood and responded to.
It has been going slower than any of us would like it to happen,

Mr. ZELIFF. Dr. Rivolo.

Mr. RivoLo. I believe that any time a document comes out of IDA
and is controversial, it does take a long time.

Mr. ZELIFF. Seven months on top of 18 is not a big deal?

Mr. Rivoro. I think the document is irrelevant. I think the infor-
mation should have been disseminated for open discussion way be-
fore that; yes.

Mr. ZELIFF. So can I use the word “delayed”? What would you
use? I haven’t been around—-

Mr. RIvoLo. In a normal environment, the promulgation of infor-
mation is immediate. Someone says something. It is put on the
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table and debated. If it is junk, it is very quickly shown to be junk.
If it is substantial, it is very quickly shown to be so.

Mr. ZELIFF. What word would you use?

Mr. RivoLo. My word would be that the document itself is prob-
ably on course. That is a controversial document. It is not being de-
layed. The information has clearly been delayed.

Mr. ZELIFF. Information in a document has been delayed, but the
document itself is on course. That is good enough for Government
work.

Let me just ask you one comment, Dr. Crane. In your memo of
July—and I just refer to you, these findings—once again on page
3 down at the bottom—deserve attention at the highest levels. The
failure to advocate and support these findings potentially jeopard-
ize future effectiveness.

Mr. CRANE. Yes, sir; let me comment on that. As everyone who
knows me, and at the beginning of the air bridge operations, I cer-
tainly made similar-type arguments at the critical times of oper-
ations. And we have another operation, which I don’t want to get
into at the hearing here, but this is a critical operational time, and
I will tell you that after giving that document to Mr. Sheridan and
Admiral Kramek, that within a week or two action was taken, and
I did get a chance in an open session to brief the deputy director
of supply reduction at the interagency, and we went over a lot of
this information. So from my point of view, it achieved its purpose
as to advise Admiral Kramek to act, and, in fact, that happened.

Mr. ZELIFF. But the oversight committee doesn’t have a right to
participate in this process?

Mr. CRANE. Sir, I do not work for the oversight committee, and
you have to speak with Admiral Kramek about what information
he makes available to you.

Mr. ZELIFF. We will ask that later.

Mr. Cummings.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Mr. Chairman, I assume we are finished with
this round; is that it?

Very well. Let me ask you—yes, I do have questions. Tell me
something. It is my understanding that DOD sends your draft re-
port to the National Research Council for review. Has the National
Research Council reviewed your draft, and if so, can you provide
the subcommittee with a copy of that review?

Mr. CRANE. Let me comment on that. We are going through the
process to do that. I received a list of potential reviewers. They
took a brief look at it. We do not have any review from the NRC
in our hand. That is something that we will do as part of making
a paper out of it, an outside independent authority, and we are just
setting up that process now.

Mr. CuMMINGS. How long do you think that will take? The chair-
man, and rightfully so, is very concerned about this report getting
out, and I think everyone here shared that we want to see the final
report. When do you think all that will be complete? Is that the
last stage? Is there still more after that?

Mr. CRANE. No, I think we have a lot of comments to put in there
?nq clarifications, and we will certainly do that where there is con-
usion.
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Just giving a ballpark figure, I think in the next few months we
will have to go back and take a look at what manpower is available
and ongoing operations, and obviously there is a lot more priority
on this document than a week ago, so I will have to give that some
more thought.

Mr. CUMMINGS. A week ago it was not that much of a priority.

Mr. CraANE. I think there was some priority, but clearly we are
making information available—when this all broke loose, I was in
Panama. So that was my first priority, and to be honest with you,
I think to get this out I will certainly increase the priority in this
area.

Mr. CoMFORT. Mr. Cummings, I would like to point out that the
distribution of our draft reports belongs to our sponsors. We have
no problems with that draft final report being distributed if our
sponsor chooses to do that. We can crank out another report that
we believe is final quite rapidly.

We have pretty much gone through the forms as we understand
them. Because of all of the publicity this has received in the past
few weeks, and because we know there is—it’s new work, it is pio-
neering work, and it has received a lot of criticism, we think a re-
view by something like the National Research Council might be
worthwhile. If our sponsor wants to conduct that, and if he wants
us on our own to conduct that, we can certainly do that. But we
would, on our own, certainly not tell you that we can’t get the re-
port out before another 2 or 3 months.

Mr. CUMMINGS. So, therefore, we will probably have a report
within——

Mr. CoMFORT. I would feel comfortable that we could have a re-
port out to our sponsor in the next 3 to 4 weeks. How our sponsors
want to distribute that——

Mr. CUMMINGS. What do you think of the peer review comments
obtained by ONDCP? 1 am just curious, what did you think of
them?

Mr. Crane. I will first comment, I think, because this is new
work, this type of thing is not uncommon in my past experience to
have a lot of debates. We have a lot of data they have not seen.
They saw only 1 graph out of 10,000. We have a tremendous
amount of data. We really need to sit down and have an open
forum on this. But we have a lot of data we can put in there and
support our position.

I think it comes down to, from my understanding, a view of how
the system works versus the conventional view, and the data we
have, we just can’t make the two match up. The data says it is
working a different way, and we are physical scientists, and we
have to go with the data. We may know our prior assumptions
about how there was a retail wholesale market and know prior as-
sumptions about what type of model we first use and what we have
been reporting really is the raw data, not even a model result yet.

Mr. CoMFORT. I would also say, Mr. Cummings, it is clear to us
in hindsight that we, in several cases, were unsophisticated in our
choice of some terms that are well defined in the economics com-
munity. We used them to mean similar but not exactly the same
things, and we were taken severely to task for that.
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Mr. CuMMINGS. Somebody said that back there, when this report
was initially presented to Mr. McCaffrey, that you all thought some
other people were in the room. Who said that? I don’t remember.

Mr. Rivoro. I said that.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Who do you think was in the room? I am just cu-
rious. We may want to bring them up for questioning.

Mr. RivorLo. The person is Captain Boyer, if, in fact, he was
there. I was not sure, but conversation with my colleagues seems
to indicate that Captain Boyer may have been present in that
meeting.

Mr. CuMmMINGS. Can any of you explain if your pre-1990, 1989
dat% gv%re adjusted to take into account interdiction policies prior
to 19897

Mr. CRANE. We have since looked at that data. That was actually
a valuable criticism, and we were able to measure certain things
about operations that DEA ran against the Tranquilandia Com-
plex. We have taken care of that since we received criticism in that
area.

Mr. CUMMINGS. I am running out of time. I want to thank all for
sharing this information. I certainly look forward to reading the
final draft.

I think we are all concerned about what we are trying to address
here, and that is drug addiction and deaths and crime that come
from it. I wanted to take a moment to thank you all, and I really
appreciate your candor.

Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you, Mr. Cummings.

Mr. Hastert.

Mr, HASTERT. Let me just clarify one of the questions my good
friend from Maryland asked. Prior to 1989, 1986, 1987, cocaine was
really just coming on the scene, wasn’t it; wasn’t that something
relatively new replacing heroin?

Mr. RivoLo. No, sir. The cocaine epidemic peaked around 1986.
Demand has been declining ever since.

Mr. HASTERT. Let me ask you a question. Before you got here
and you knew you were going to come, Mr. Rivolo, are you aware
that meetings or conversations occurred throughout the past week-
end and even yesterday among those who testified today; are you
aware of those?

Mr. Rivoro. No, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. There were no meetings or anything that people
wanted to talk together and make sure that they got?

Mr. RivoLo. You mean within the company?

Mr. HASTERT. Yes.

Mr. RivoLo. There were meetings between the three of us.

Mr. HASTERT. Anybody else?

Mr. RivoLO. We also had a short meeting with the president—
president of the company, that is.

Mr. HASTERT. I would say that would be interesting.

So you know of no other meetings that took place this weekend?

Mr. Rivoro. No, sir. In fact, I was away on unrelated business
having to do with radars. I just came back on Sunday.

Mr. HASTERT. Thank you.

Let me also ask Mr. Crane. One of the questions here from my
friend from the other side of the aisle is that you never actually
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briefed General McCaffrey. You said, no, you never did talk to Gen-
eral McCaffrey, and as a matter of fact, you said you never met
General McCaffrey. Part of the reason is that you didn’t brief him
on the data that you went to brief him; is that correct?

Mr. CranNE. Dr. Comfort didn’t—just Dr. Rivolo and I attended
the meetings that day. Dr. Comfort did not attend.

Mr. HASTERT. But you attended the meeting, but you never were
there to finish the purpose for which it went; is that correct? That
was to brief General McCaffrey.

Mr. CRANE. The way it went that day——

Mr. HASTERT. I am asking, you went to brief him that day, Admi-
ral Kramek went in before you, took some of your information,
caﬁle o{x)xt and said the briefing would not be necessary. Is that basi-
cally it?

Mr. CrRANE. The words I recall is that he did not take the brief-
ing, which a standard thing that he wasn’t going to accept the
briefing from us, that is the way I took it.

Mr. HASTERT. You never did have a chance to brief him, so peo-
ple could ask questions like we ask today actually never took place?

Mr. CRANE. That is correct.

Mr. HasSTERT. Dr. Crane, is that correct?

Mr. CrRaNEg. That is correct.

Mr. HASTERT. I am going to go back and ask here-—there was a
draft paper on source-zone interdiction effectiveness, and is called
an excellent step toward quantifying a very complex issue. One of
the things it had, the empirical examination of counter-drug-inter-
diction program effectiveness. That was what is in your report, was
it not, the original draft?

Mr. CrRANE. I am not sure if I understand what your question
was, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. The information on the source-zone interdiction ef-
fectiveness was in your original draft, was it not, one of your origi-
nal drafts, Dr. Comfort?

Mr. CoMFORT. Yes, all of our drafts of this paper have always
contained the same basic information on source-zone effectiveness.

Mr. HASTERT. Was there or was there not a recommendation to
limiting or softening any language that appears to be either com-
bative or condescending to the RAND study or self-promoting of the
IDA study instead of taking a negative approach toward the RAND
analysis? Do you know if there was any suggestion to soften that
language or change that language?

Mr. CRANE. There were clearly recommendations where we might
have used phraseology in a previous study, and people make rec-
ommendations to us. I don’t believe we softened any of our find-
ings. We might have done a better job.

Mr. HASTERT. Where did that recommendation come from; do you
recall?

Mr. CrRANE. As [ recall the USIC might have made that rec-
ommendation, but I don’t have the paper, but his staff—however,
again, you can clearly see we didn’t change any of our conclusions
or anything like that.

Mr. HASTERT. Mr. Rivolo, do you recall any pressure to change
any language?
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Mr. RivoLo. No. The suggestion—let me relay events. When I
was asked to do the initial analysis of the RAND report, the first
RAND report, which was modeling the demand for cocaine, which
feeds the second report, which is the one that is always being dis-
cussed, when I made that analysis, I wrote up a very technical de-
tail of who did what and what was done wrong and what was done
right. That document was then turned over internally specifically
to Dr. Comfort, who ultimately wrote most of the document. He
acted as the redactor, as that word is used, and in the process it
was his feeling that my technical critique was much too critical for
open discussion. I agreed with it because that was never meant to
be a stand-alone document. The draft of that document was never
meant to go through the IDA process. It went directly to Mr. Sheri-
dan’s office. That document was then incorporated in large part in
an appendix of the document that we are now discussing. And the
discussion about the terms and the language was strictly internal,
mostly from Dr. Comfort.

Mr. HASTERT. Basically there were nine pages on the flaws and
treatment of the RAND study in your study, and somebody asked
to get it out; is that right, or is that wrong?

Mr. RivoLo. My—I don’t know. The answer is that what I did
was analyze the first paper, which did nothing addressing the effec-
tiveness of treatment. First paper is strictly modeling the demand
for cocaine. My analysis says there is a serious problem here. When
the actual document was written to incorporate the second docu-
ment of which Dr. Comfort did most of the work, there may have
been some discussion, and we were discussing it last night or this
morning, that perhaps at some point someone said, maybe you
shouldn’t be so critical of that.

Mr. HASTERT. Someone might have been?

Mr. CRANE. As the project leader, I made the following decisions.
I thought just putting out a very detailed critique of somebody
else’s work is probably not the best thing. What we waited for be-
fore we published the report is we had hard data from events that
we—I don’t want to say prediction here, but we pretty well ana-
lyzed that it was going to happen. It was much more important to
make our case from hard data. I made the decision myself not to
put out just a detailed critique because I didn’t think that was ap-
propriate.

Mr. HASTERT. Let me ask this one final question—my time is
running out—to all three of you. In your report, or draft, or final
draft, or anything that hasn’t been made public—and it does really
reflect on future policy of what we do in this country toward how
we treat the drug problem that we have—did you—do you stand by
the information and the cause-and-effect information that you have
published in this draft, or you put out in this draft. The fact is that
you can choke down in some type of a major event either in the
transportation pipeline for drugs or do away with major production
of those drugs in countries like Peru and Colombia, that you can
affect the cost of drugs in the market and the purity of drugs in
the market?

Mr. CRANE. Absolutely.

Mr. HASTERT. Thank you. I yield back.

Mr. ZELIFF. Mr. Mica.
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Mr. Mica. Thank you.

Dr. Crane, did you or Rex Rivolo receive a memo from Admiral
Kramek’s top assistant Gary Boyer in April of this year before the
May, quote, final draft was completed stating that you should re-
move the conclusions in your report that were critical of the admin-
istration’s heavy emphasis on drug treatment’s effectiveness; spe-
cifically that you should remove your criticism of the administra-
tion commission of the RAND study that promoted treatment?

Mr. CRANE. I received a memo, we had discussed about it, and
we didn’t obviously remove that material.

Mr. CoMFORT. Can I just comment. As Dr. Rivolo said, 1 served
as redactor for this final draft. I believe I was the person deciding
primarily how to say it—what words to put in. If such a memo ex-
isted, I was not aware of it. I certainly had my own concerns as
to how much emphasis we place on the RAND report because we
didn’t want our primary findings confused with our secondary find-
ings, but I felt no pressure.

Mr. MicA. Dr. Crane, are you aware of the existence of such a
memo?

Mr. CRANE. I recall a memo from Admiral Kramek’s office giving
some suggestive guidance.

Mr. MicA. Do you have a copy of that memo?

Mr. CRANE. I do not at this time have a copy of it.

Mr. MicA. Dr. Rivolo, are you aware of that memo?

Mr. Rivoro. Only through discussions with my colleagues. I have
never seen the memo.

Mr. MicA. I have a copy now which you provided me of this July
response to the drug czar’'s comments on your draft to Robert
Newberry, Office of Secretary of Defense. In this—in your defense,
while they are trying to study this report to death here, I want to
read from page 3. It says, “although it is true that many of the
data bases are very convoluted and contain many sources of pos-
sible confounding information, we have developed empirical evi-
dence, not modeled results, for negative correlation between price
and demand, measured both by prevalence and consumption in no
fewer than six totally independent data sets. These indicators in-
clude, one”—and these are six different—“the Drug Abuse Warning
Network, DAWN,”-—which we are all familiar with—“the Drug
Usage Forecast data base; the treatment episode data base; the
SmithKline Beacham Clinical Laboratories drug testing data base;
the Uniform Crime Reporting data base, the National Household
Survey on Drug Abuse data base.”

Would you say—and I am not a rocket scientist—I am not a sci-
entist, but what would you say, Dr. Rivolo, this is pretty good con-
firmation of your conclusions?

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, sir. In fact, when we first saw the first inkling
which came out of the DAWN data, the severe criticism that it was
a coincidence; the correlation was there, but it was just a coinci-
dence.

Mr. MicA. I see in the concluding remarks that were prepared
that you suggest that, first, the long-sought interchange meeting
with the drug czar’s office scientist be made to happen. Was there
a delay in those meetings?
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Mr. RivoLo. As I have alluded to before, that for many months
prior to the new czar taking his position, that we had made many,
many, attempts——

Mr. Mica. Repeated attempts that an open—this is another rec-
ommendation-—that an open conference on the issues be sponsored
jointly by the DOD and the drug czar’s office to be held in the very
near future. Was that done?

Mr. RivoLo. No, sir.

Mr. MicA. This is in July.

Third, that unbiased, competent authority such as the National
Research Council be jointly recruited to shed light on issues. Was
that done?

Mr. RivoLo. No, sir.

Mr. CRANE. We are in the process of doing that, to be fair. I do
have a list of NRC people.

Mr. Mica. That will come out in November/December when the
report comes out?

Mr. CraNE. It was—the NRC was pretty slow. It took several
months. We haven’t worked those issues out yet.

Mr. MicA. T have to study that some more.

Mr. Chairman, I have many additional questions, several pages,
and I would ask unanimous consent or consent permission that
they be submitted to these witnesses, and that they be allowed to
respond, and it be made part of the record.

Mr. ZeLIFF. Without objection, so ordered.

Mr. Clinger.

I guess I just have one or two here. And Dr. Rivolo, there is one
thing that is bothering me, and it keeps nagging at me a little bit.
Did I hear you say that you heard not a word of this is fo get out?

Mr. RivoLo. Yes, sir. Once the staff vehicle—right back to the
Pentagon. That was my understanding, that until further notice,
none of this was to get out, yes.

Mr. ZELIFF. That is not be suppressed or delayed or not be bur-
ied, just the word is——

Mr. RivoLo. It was not a directive, but it was said, and, in fact,
we canceled the briefing for the following day.

Mr. ZELIFF. I guess that my summation of this is that we are all
here, and my friend Mr. Cummings on many occasions has talked
about the drug situation in Baltimore. I represent New Hampshire.
We have done Operation Street Sweeper in Manchester. It has very
been effective. We are doing stuff in Nashua, in small towns. We
have been with the Coast Guard in transit zone. We have been in
source country programs.

We have worked very, very hard to put together the appropriate
response to the administration’s request. Admittedly, I think we
did everything and more Barry Mc(%aﬁ'rey, in terms of his office,
not only the staffing of his office, but the appropriate resources
that the administration feels they need.

Certainly in terms of cooperation, I think that we have been
there and done it, and my concern is I have three grandchildren
that I'm worried about. All of us have our kids that we are worried
about, and this is an epidemic. Drug use all ages, all drugs are out
of control, and particularly the most recent data that we had a
hearing on last week where teenage drug use is out of control.
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And I think that the only problem that I have with—or the major
problem that I have with this thing is this information was given
to us in a timely manner. If we could have effected some possible
changes in the 1996 report, we could have effected changes in the
1997 appropriations, and when kids are dying on the streets, we
don’t have a year to waste. So I think the responsibility somewhere
along the line has to be shared by all of us, all of us that allows
that to happen, you all for allowing that to happen.

We have had a good discussion here for 2 hours. Hopefully we
will hear some more with additional panels. I think it is an abso-
lute tragedy to allow another year to go by. If, in fact, your data
is good, hard research, and it is the right data, and it survives the
daylight of being the right data, then we should have had that in-
formation. We shouldn’t be messing around waiting for six more re-
visions so this gets the right words. I think everybody said look be-
yond the minor changes or whatever kind of changes you have been
making in all of these drafts; the substance of the report still
stands, and you are proud of it. Am I right in that, Dr. Crane? Am
I right?

Mr. CRANE. Yes, sir.

Mr. Zevirr. It is unfortunate we don’t have that data as an over-
sight subcommittee here, as we who are committed to the drug
czar's office and the President, to give them the resources they
need to fight the war on drugs. It is an issue that affects all Ameri-
cans. It is the most important serious issue that we face in this
country today. And you combine drugs and crime together, I don’t
know of anything more important that we need to fight. We need
all the information we can get to so we make the right decisions.

So on behalf of all of us—and I don’t think there is anybody here
that is not part of this—and those of us that couldn’t be here today,
we thank you for being here, and we may have not used the right
words somehow, but I think the consensus here is that we need the
information in that report as soon as we can get it. We need to be
able to evaluate it, and if it is correct, we need to make the appro-
priate changes in our strategy.

Thank you all very much for being here. We will take a 5-minute
recess while we await General McCaffrey and the next panel.

[Brief recess.]

Mr. ZELIFF. At this point I would like to welcome national drug
czar, Gen. Barry McCaffrey.

General, we thank you for being here today.

General MCCAFFREY. Good to be here today.

Mr. ZeELIFF. If you would please raise your right hand.

{Witness sworn.]

Mr. ZELIFF. Please be seated if you would.

I know you have had a chance to be watching some of this testi-
mony, but if you would give us the condensed version of your open-
ing statement, we would appreciate that, and obviously the balance
of your statement will be included in the record.
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STATEMENT OF GEN. BARRY McCAFFREY, DIRECTOR, OFFICE
OF NATIONAL DRUG CONTROL POLICY

General MCCAFFREY. Mr. Chairman, I thank you for the oppor-
tunity to come down here and discuss interdiction in general and
also respond to your concerns about the IDA study in question.

With your permission, I will submit for the record my prepared
comments, which include, I might add, all the briefing charts that
are over here. I say that because I think this is the best synopsis
not only of the IDA study, but also where we think Admiral
Kramek and I and the rest of the interagency working group,
where we are on the whole notion of interdiction.

Mr. ZELIFF. Without objection so ordered.

General McCAFFREY. If I may also begin by thanking the biparti-
san leadership of both the Senate and the House for what we be-
lieve to be the final action on the drug budgets. Now, we have
looked at the results, we think we have got not only what we asked
for, but more, and I think it will take us a couple of weeks to sort
it out. But if I may praise your leadership and others, Denny
Hastert, and Rob Portman, Steny Hoyer, and Mr. Rangel and the
many others in the House, and I call Senator Lott and Senator
Daschle and thank them for their support. I think you have given
us the tools to do our job, and indeed the 1996 budget which re-
stored full funding to the Office of National Drug Control Policy did
us a great service. We will put together the people, the men and
women we need to manage this absolutely essential responsibility.

Now let me—if I may, I am going to go very briefly and just
touch upon some elements of the argument that I would like you
to consider. First of all, what we have done in the 1997 budget, and
what I have done since I was sworn in on March 1, is to draft and
support the national drug strategy. I had to ask the President and
put it in front of the American people in Miami several months ago
as a product—it got in late. By law it was supposed to be jn on
February 1. The Senate was pretty gracious about giving me a lit-
tle latitude to work it over.

That is the National Drug Strategy, and I underscore it because
I came from 2 years running the interdiction process of the United
States in Southern Command. I have worked this issue since day
one of this administration, and indeed in my last responsibility as
a J-5 of the joint staff, worked it during President Bush’s last year
from the Pentagon, and when we wrote that drug strategy, we said
fundamentally there can be no magic solution. There is no silver
bullet, although there is absolutely one first priority, and that is
tc}; motivate Ameriea’s youth to reject illegal drugs and substance
abuse,

However, as you look at that strategy, you note that goals four
and five fundamentally relate to what we are talking about today.
It says we must—we owe the American people a defense of our air,
land and sea borders, and that defense is not just the Customs
Service, INS, Coast Guard, but an extended defense for it all the
way into Burma and south into the cocaine-producing countries.

Then goal No. 5, and it was written very deliberately this way,
we need to break foreign and domestic sources of drugs. In the end
game, the ultimate victory would be that there were no illegal
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grugs available, and we would have operated against demand to re-
uce it.

I tell you this because I want you to understand at the outset
that I am fundamentally in agreement with your own concerns ex-
pressed publicly and really the logic behind the IDA paper that
says interdiction is an essential aspect of reducing drug abuse in
America. I couldn’t agree more, and that is why the next graph
hopefully will be—I am going to skip by this and the next one. Just
be aware the charts are available if you want to direct questions
to Admiral Kramek or I. These are the transit zones for
counterdrug forces and the source zone counterforces.

I have spent the last 3 years of my life working on this problem.
I understand the interdiction and source country challenges. I have
listened to the people in the region. I have made the rounds of
every command and control facility from all the agencies here in
the United States. I got the picture. It needs to be improved, but
you ought to understand as you look at that that those are real
work by thousands of men and women, by 3,000 flights a year out
of the military, the CIA, Customs, Coast Guard, and others; that
this is a tremendous effort involving National Guard airmen who
are on the ground in Peru, Ecuador, Colombia, and almost in Ven-
ezuela; that it is a real effort, and we are very proud of it. It in-
volves Joint Interagency Task Force South in Panama, which
works for the Joint Interagency Task Force in Key West, FL, com-
manded by a Coast Guard standard, and we are doing pretty good.

Next graph: This is a tough one, but let me make sure you have
got the note of what I am saying. I don’t know what the truth is
on the last 5 years of politics, but I do know the truth on the raw
numbers on the drug budget, and that is the truth right there,
That is what President Bush and Clinton turned in over those
years. The requested budget and the enacted budget, I will tell you
what comes out to me without question. Congress cut President
Bush’s drug budget and then Clinton’s budget until this year, and
each year the President, whoever it was, then requested in the fol-
lowing year the same level of funding to which had been cut.

So both the executive branch and the Congress wound down the
combined funding to support interdiction and source country. You
have to turn that around.

Mr. ZELIFF. General, let me ask you a question. Could you have
one of your staffers just draw in roughly where—the funding that
we just gave you? Where would that be in that chart?

General MCCAFFREY. Well, unfortunately, I don’t have it on
there, but what you are going to see is, you did exactly what I
asked you to do and more. You have turned it around in this year’s
budget.

M%‘ ZELIFF. Let’s see if just to get—we just want to get a feeling
for where that would be.

General McCAFFREY. You funded us, I think, 15 points; 3-5, I
think is what you are going to find you did.

Mr. ZELIFF. Which is in excess of the request.

General MCCAFFREY. Absolutely.

Mr. ZELIFF. So it comes up where Mr. Mica is, for example, who
is drawing $200 million in addition to the request?

General MCCAFFREY. That’s it. You can’t—-—



69

Mr. ZELIFF. So we are heading in the right direction.

And for the record, I guess, if you would, Mr. Mica, if you
would—he is the greatest staffer in the world here. Just draw for
us—Ilet’s take 1992 for those that may not be able to see the chart.

General MCCAFFREY. If you would allow me, I would much rath-
er have Mr. Kinney do the drawing in. And I say that for a couple
of good reasons.

Mr. ZELIFF, Mr. Mica is very pleased.

General MCCAFFREY. Mr. Mica didn’t do very well in the third
grade on crayoning. I think he has got it too high.

But let me just say up front that this in the 1998 budget that
I am now writing will be our opportunity to demonstrate our com-
mitment to interdiction. So I thank you for it.

Mr. ZeLIFF, I would just like to make one point, because funding
is key here. If you could just show us 1992, with the marker, and
1993 and 1994 and 1995, 1996 and 1997, and let the record show
that this administration and other administrations, that the fund-
ing comes from Congress, and Congress funded, I believe, when we
took over control, we gave full support of President Clinton’s drug
war.

General McCAFFREY. You actually cut him by 1 percent each
year. It doesn’t show up. It’s too bad 1 didn’t do that in a better
way to demonstrate. You actually cut him 1 percent each year. But
you are correct, your funding support for the administration’s re-
quest, the last 2 years, have been good.

Mr. ZELIFF. I just wanted to make that as part of the record.

General MCCAFFREY. That’s good. That’s a good point.

Take that one down, if you will. Let me run through this, be-
cause I think they want to get to questions.

This chart here, like many data in the interdiction world, can be
interpreted a bunch of ways, some of them harmful. You are look-
ing at the worldwide production of cocaine. Some of these numbers
are soft, but I think they are good enough for us to discuss the
issue.

What you see here is that essentially somewhere between 800
and 1,000 tons is the production capacity of HEL annually, and
then out of that, the good guys of the world, whether it is Peruvian
cops, Bolivian UMOBAR, Colombians, or Detroit policemen, take
some of it. We get, sort of, a third of the cocaine every year.

The U.S. authorities, whether it starts with the Coast Guard or
back into the police forces of America, get another 100 tons plus.
It goes up; it goes down. This year, it’s up dramatically. We are
doing pretty good in the first quarter of this year.

Now, here is how I would not interpret that chart: I would not
interpret this to mean that, regardless of how much money you
gave us on interdiction and source country, it didn’t matter; it
didn’t make a difference. It seems to me there are a bunch of other
factors that you ought to ask me about that affect our ability to get
Peru, Bolivia, Colombia, Mexico, Burma, Afghanistan, to affect the
drug supply and drug smuggling.

What I would also tell you is that that is hundreds of metric tons
of cocaine. I put in my testimony, 450 metric tons in the last 4
years. It's 1,400 metric tons in the last 7 or 8 years that didn’t end
up in our schools and in our communities.
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I think we are going to be careful in our language. Listening to
the earlier testimony, I applaud U.S. law enforcement not only for
breaking gangs, for breaking infrastructure, but also for taking
kilograms of cocaine and heroin away from criminals. I think they
ought to keep at it. When they do it, they reduce the potential ad-
diction among young people in America.

Now, the next one—the three of them I didn’t show, if I may just
direct your attention, Mr. Chairman, and your colleagues’ and
those in the audience, because I passed these out, here are three
pages of the great review of the IDA draft study. I am not going
to put them up on briefing charts. You have them available. You
are welcome to look at them and make of it what you would.

I would also hold up, just so you are aware I know about it, here
is the document that I got in May. I actually didn’t read it on that
day. I read it about 2 weeks ago. And it is a draft document, un-
classified, very complex work, by three brilliant men from a famous
analytical institution in America, a nonprofit that comes out, calls
the shots as best they can.

Now, my guess is—and what happened that day, essentially, 1
had Admiral Kramek, a close friend who I have worked with for
years, came in with one of his officers and with—I think I had
some of my people there; at a minimum, one. We get briefed on
several issues. One of them was me briefing them on Mexico.

We talked about the interdiction conference. We talked about—
Bob Kramek was about to start a big operation off Puerto Rico, Vir-
gin Islands, he wanted to educate me on. Then finally, he and Cap-
tain Boyer briefed me in some detail about the IDA study. It was
my view then that this was a loser of a proposition.

I said, along with Mr. Hastert, I taught economics for 3 years
and I have an advantage over the analysts because I know I don’t
understand economics. I would like to have this study sent out to
experts to see why what they are saying makes no sense to me as
the soldier responsible for the interdiction campaign. Essentially
they are telling me that, if you pour more resources into interdic-
tion, that you will get this mathematical relationship reducing drug
use,

What I was prepared to assert, and still do, is that if we had
smart operations down there that followed the drug criminals to
riverine coastal delivery, because every time you do something
smart, they react, that it could be a valuable adjunct to our na-
tional drug policy. I say, get it out, send it out for study, and let’s
see how it stands up.

Neither—in my judgment, none of us intended to repress or
delay or whatever, and, indeed, we went on, as you remember, to
turn in a major request for additional funds, a $250 million supple-
mental, which included a lot of interdiction money. It also included
a 43-percent increase in the 1997 budget for source-country pro-
grams. It included a 25-percent increase in funding for the south-
west border, and it included a 9.3-percent increase in overall inter-
diction money.

So it was hardly the case that I saw a study whose magnificent
logic so overwhelmed me that I persisted in not supporting inter-
diction. I am a prime advocate of that as one contribution to this
drug strategy.
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So the bottom line is, I think we have been unfair to IDA and
to these three analysts by dragging them out in public on what
should be a scientific debate over the validity of their work.

Now, I feel the same way about the RAND study. When it came
out a year ago, it produced tremendous exchanges. It did influence
thinking, and I am sure the IDA study will do the same thing, and
we welcome it when they finally have it done.

On that note, Mr. Chairman, I am glad to be here and look for-
ward to responding to your questions.

[The prepared statement of General McCaffrey follows:]
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Barry R, McCaffrey
Director
Office of National Drug Control Policy
Executive Office of the President

Committee o0 Government Reform and Oversight
Subcommittee on National Security, International Affairs, and Criminal Justice
U.S. House of Representatives

October 1, 1996

1 want to thank the Subcommittee for the opportunity to testify today about the role of
interdiction in the National Drug Control Sirategy. Interdiction is a key part of our strategy. We
welcome the opportunity to highlight the important role interdiction plays in & balanced
approach to reduce drug use and its consequences in America.

Interdiction: an integral part of the drug control strategy

It is important to note at the outset that interdiction is an important component of our
integrated, systems approach to drug control, as set forth in the 7996 National Drug Control
Sirategy. Interdiction is a vital complement to & balanced strategy that seeks to: motivate our
youth to reject illegal drugs and substance sbuse; to increasc the safety of America’s citizens by
substantially reducing drug-related crime and violence; and to reduce the health, welfare, and
crime costs resulting from illegal drugs. The /996 Sirategy has five goals, two of which focus
on interdiction.

GOAL4: Shield America’s air, land, and sea frontlers from the drag threat.

Objective 1: Tdentify and implement options, including science and technology options,
1o improve the effectivencss of law enforcement to stop the flow of drugs into the United
States, especially along the Southwest Border.

Qbicctive 2: Lead efforts to develop stronger biluteral and multilateral intelligence
sharing to thwart the use of international commercial air, maritime, and land cargo
shipments for smuggling.
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Objective3: Conduct flexible interdiction in the tranait zone to ensure effective use of
maritime and aerial interdiction capabilities.

GOAL 5 Break foreign and domestic drug sources of supply.

Qhjective 1: Destroy major trafficking organizations by arresting, convicting, and
incarcersting their leaders and top associates, and seizing their drugs and assets.

Cbiective 2: Reduce the foreign availability of drugs through eradication and other
programs that reduce drug crop cultivation and through enforcement efforts to attack
chemical, money laundering and transportation networks that support trafficking
organizations.

QObjective 3: Reduce all domestic drug production and availability and continue to target
for investigation and prosecution those who illegally divert pharmaceuticals and listed
chemicals.

Objsctive 4: Increase the political will of countries to cooperate with the United States
on drug control efforts through aggressive diplomacy, certification and carefully targeted
foreign assistance.

Objective 5: Strengthen host nation institutions so that they can conduct more effective
drug control efforts on their own and withstand the threat that narcotics trafficking poses
to sovereignty, democracy and free-market economies. In the source countries,
aggressively support the full range of host nation interdiction efforts by providing
training and operational support.

Objective 6: Make grester use of multilateral organizations to share the burdens and
costs of international narcotics control 0 complement the efforts of the United States and
to institute programs where the United States has limited or no access.

2
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The Administration requested $15.1 billion to implement the /996 Strategy in FY97, $1.4
billion of which will go towards interdiction cfforts. Combined with what we spend on source
nation support, the amount we spend on preventing illegal drugs reaching our country is $1.8
billion. This is considerably more than the amount spent in the peak “cocaine epidemic” years
of 1982-86, when we estimated the nation had 5.7 million cocaine users; today that sumber is
approximately 1.5 million. The percentage of the total drug control budget spent on interdiction
has remained steady since 1995, while the percentage spent on demand reduction has actually
declined. There is no question that interdiction is an important component of the strategy. Our
challenge is to get the most out of these dollars,

Presidential review of cocaine interdiction effort

After he took office in 1993, the President directed a review of our intemational drug
control efforts in the Western Hemisphere. The result of that seven-month review, completed in
November 1993, is referred to as the "source nation” strategy. It is a three-pronged effort to:
(1) create and strengthen host nation institutions to give them the wherewithal to fight narco-
traffickers with their own forces and resources; (2) target the leadership of the powerful drug
cartels; and (3) implement & gradual shift of emphasis in interdiction from the transit zone to the
source nations in the Andean Region. This was the right policy decision at the time and it
remaing an effective strategy today.

Sowrce Country Efforts

Prior to assuming my poxition st ONDCP, | was ths joint military commander
responsible for and the principal architoct of the Andean Ridge strategy. We devisod
interagency operations to implement the drug interdiction strategy. Grees Clover was a superbly
executed military operation which focused on disrupting the Peru/Colombia air bridge.
Subsequently, Operation Laser Strike expanded the focus to include operations aimed at
disrupting the riverine and coastat criminal drug smuggling. These operations achieved
enormous tactical successes because of the professionalism and courage of the U.S. military
elements which deployed to support allied police and military forces. The cooperative efforts of

3
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the U.S, country teams, the DEA, the U.S. Customs Service, the CIA, and our magnificent U.S.
Coast Guard were fundamental to these gnins. Perhaps the most important outcome was the

Despite interdiction funding below that requested, we have, over the past years, begun to
see the initial signa of success with our source nation strategy. That source country strategy, of
course, cannot be fislly effective without the cooperation and commitment of host nations. In
Peru we have seen & full-acale commitment to interdiction which resulted in the destruction of
over 20 narco-trafficking sircrafl in the past two years, many with intelligence ar tracking
assistance from the U. S. military forces coordinated by JIATF-South at Howard Air Force Base
in Panama.

In Colombia, the Colombian Air Force has forced down and/or destroyed on the ground
approximately 25 trafficker aircraff. Colombian law enforcement agencies have also seized
almost sixty suspected narco-trafficking sircraft. The Colombian Police and Armed Forces have
been superb partners in the past year despite enormous casualties and sacrifice.

Throughout the region, in the past year we have greatly increased our support to host
nation interdiction efforts. On any particular day there are about 20 U.S. Coast Guard, Customs,
and DOD sircraft involved in source country counterdrug operations. Approximately 300
additional military personnel are deployed in South America supporting Operation Laser Strike.
These military personncl operate Ground Based Radar sites in remote Andean locations, fiy
detection and monitoring aircraft, and provide operational and intelligence support to our allies
participating in this regional operation. Our AWACS, P3R's, SIGINT (Signals Intcliigence),
PHOTINT (Photographic Intefligence), and FLIR (Forward Looking Infrared Radar) aircraft afl
operate in complets prior coordination with regional governments and military authorities.

The results of this multinational, cooperative effort have yielded stunning tactical results.
The so-called “air bridge” between Pery and Colombia saw a greater than 50 percent temporary
reduction of flights as aircraft were intercepted and, in some cases, shot down. The cost of
4
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shipment increased fivefold as pilots demanded more money as their personal risk increased
dramatically, Movement was reducod so drastically that theve was a glut of coca base on ths
market and the price of the product being shipped fell by S0 percent overall and by as much as
80 percent in some areas.

Qur challenges now are to: further restrict the movement of'illegal drugs by air between
Bolivia, Peru, and Colombis; block drug traffickers from developing alternate ground, river, and
maritime routes; and to assist our South American partrers in building the air and military
capabilities necessary to defend their sovereign air, land, and sea space from incursion by
international criminal drug organizations.

Condueti ter interdicti ons in tt .

In the transit zone, we continue to operate against well-funded, well-equipped, and
increasingly sophisticated adversaries. Over the years we have maintained a robust capability in
the transit zone through the cooperative efforts of the U.S. Armed Porces, the Coast Guard,
Customs, the CIA, DEA, and allied nations. We orchestrate operations that are based on
“cued” intelligence. We develop collaborative intelligence on drug smuggling activities which
alerts us to probable drug movements and enables us to target specific ships, aircraft, and
containers. Our tactical succcascs are forcing this criminal empire to move smaller shipments
with greater cunning by ncw pattcrns.

g IraIICKen sniitcd routes and pecome more sgphisticated.
Seventy percent of the cocaine entering the United States comes across the Southwest
Border; DEA estimates that the remainder comes through the Caribbean. Following our brilliant
air and sea intordiction successes int the 1980s in the western Caribbean, criminal traffickers
changed their modes of operations. They used to be able to fly twin-engine civil aviation aircraft
from Colombia to small islands in the Bshamas and thea air drop drugs into either Florida or our
coastal waters for subsequent pick-up by fast boats. Their success was predicated on the “big
sky”™ or “big ocean” theory and on our inadequate detection and monitoring capabilities. In
response Lo this challenge, we developed extensive detsction and monitoring capabilities to sort
5
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legitimate air and maritime traffic from illicit drug traffic. As our interdiction organizations and
strategies became more effuctive, drug traffickers changed their routes and modes of
transportation in response. The contributions of the ROTHR (Relocatable Over the Horizon
Radars) elemants in Texas and Virginia have Yeen vital, ag have been the U.S, Air Force Ground
Rased Radars in Colombia, Ecuador, and Peru. We need an additional ROTHR unit in Puerto
Rico to complete the long range net. In addition, we rely heavily on the success of the CBRN
{Caribbean Basin Radar Network).

We have, as a result of the combined efforts of the Armed Forces, Coast Guard, Customs,
DEA, and cooperating govemnments in Central American and the Caribbean, mostly sealed the
western Caribbean approach to drug aircraft and now face a new and perhaps even more
complex problem. Cocaine traffickers are challenging our interdiction agencies by approaching
the United States indiractly through the eastern Caribbean, and then into Puerto Rico, the Virgin
Tslands, the Mexico land route, and the eastermn Pacific, or by hiding their drugs in commercial
sea cargo shipments.

Puerto Rico is a natural point of entry because of its central location amkist major lines
of communication in the Caribbean and the absence of customs inspections of what is, for all
practical purposes, domestic cargo traffic between the island and the continental United States
(CONUS). As a result of this increased drug trafficking activity, approximately seven tons of
cocaine are smuggled each monih into Puerto Rico, 80 percent of it destined for CONUS.
Colombian drug traffickers find willing accomplices in the 200,000-300,000 illcgal Dominican
aliens residing in Puerto Rico. These traffickers charge only 20 percent of the cocaine they
smuggle in payment, compared {o the 50 percant often demanded by Mexican traffickers.

The consequences of this drug trafficking have been devastating to Puerto Rico. Cocaine
sold in Puerto Rico is cheaper than anywhere else in the United States. Violent gangs control
almost 1,000 drug distribution points throughout the island and victimize more than 300 public
housing aress. The mean age of gang mombers is 1417 years. Puerto Rico has & higher per
capita murder rate than any other statc or torritory in the United States, and money laundering is

6
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big business there. Officially declared transactions by Dominican: couriers in Puerto Rico in
1993 totaled $1.2 billion — 17 percent of the Dominican GNP,

To meet this chalienge in the castern Caribbeen, the Customs Service recently began
Openstion Gatewsy, an interagency operation which features expanded maritime and air
enforcement, heightened cargo examinations, and more frequent small veasel searches. The
program is designed 1o close the U.S. back door to illicit drug smuggling. We also continue to
conduct superb multinational counterdrug operations in the eastern Caribbean through agencies
such as the Coast Guard and JIATF-Egst.

ONDCP recently established the Puerto Rica/U.S, Virgin istands High Intensity Drug
Trafficking Area (HIDTA) to confioat the threat posed by intemational drug trafficking. The
HIDTA program has formed 10 task forces and a supporting intelligence coordination center,
The effort involves 26 agencies and over 600 Federal, State and local personnel who work to
combat drug trafficking and related crimes (¢.g. money lsundering). The goal is to significandy
disrupt drug trafficking and transshipment.

Although this HIDTA effort has only been in operation for eight months, soversl initial
successes indicate that this interdiction effort will make 2 measurable impact on drug trafficking
in the region. During FY56, this HIDTA reporied that HIDTA participants arrested 417
individuals, confiscated 14,500 kg of cocaine, 11 kg of heroin, and 13,598 Ib of marijuana, and
seized $8 million in assets and currency. The leadership of Govemnor Roaclld and his senior
prosecutors, law enforcement officials, and the National Guard have been instrumental to our
growing successes. We have much more to do and will need more resources in coming years.

Southweat Berder

Along the critical Southwest Border, we have boefed up our presence to confront the
growing challenge of increased overland shipment. We have hardened physical barriers, such as
with Operation Gatekeeper in San Diego. We are adding over 1500 personnel in the Border
Patrol, Customs, DEA, FBI and the Depariment of Justice. We will continue to bolster our joint

7
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interdiction efforts along the Southwest Border. We will continue to work with Mexico to retum
the rule of law to our common border, To that end, we would hope to ses the Border Patrol
double by the year 2000.

The U.S. Armed Forces provides enormous support to this effort. More than 3,500
National Guard personnel are committed on a given day Last year more than 10,000 active duty
military personnel also joined in thig interagency effort.

Our interdiction e ing off

1 would fike to briefly review some of the results of our interdiction efforts.

. Drug cartel leaders have been effectively targeted.
In the past yesr, the top seven leaders of the Cali cartel have been arrested in Colombia.
Six remain incarcersted; one was killed by Colombian police resisting arrest after he
escaped from prison, Jose Castrillon Henao, a major Punamanian cocaine trafficker, was
arrested this summer and awxits trial in Panama. These arrests were the result of
exhaustive, cooperative investigations conducted by multiple U.S. and Colombian
agencies. Drug trafficking organizations are feeling the effocts of the loss of this
{eadership. Thess successes also underscore that our international counterdrug programs
represent an across-the-spectrum attack on drug trafficking operations. We are not only
going after the leadership of these organizations, but we are hitting them where it burts —
attacking their profits. We arc going after narco-kingpins in the source countries, in the
transit zone, and here at home.

. International drug trafficking organizations are being broken up in the U.S.
A recent succassfiyl multi-agency case that was headed by the DEA and the FBI along
with the Criminal Division of the Justice Department, and included 52 state and local
police departments and other Federal agencies. This Southwest Border Initistive called
Operation Zorro 11, clearly illustrated the direct relationship of the intemational drug
cartels in our violent domestic crime problem. In the Los Angeles High Intensity Drug
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Trafficking Area, the Southern California Drug Task Force and 36 police departments
synchronized their efforts as s team of task forces to focus on this complex operstion
centered in their area. In May of this year, the eight month investigation culminated in
156 arrests, the seizure of almost 56,000 kilograms of cocaine, and over $17 million.

U.S.-backed Colombinn interdiction and eradicatioa efforts are succeeding.

In Colombia this summer, in conjunction with Operation Laser Strike, the Colombian
Army and National Police began aggressive operations in the coca and opium growing
and produciion regions aimed at reducing cultivation, processing, and the introduction of
precursor chemicals to the areas. Initial Colombian reporis indicated over 150 cocaine
labs destroyed and the almost total temporary disruption of the supply of precursor
chemicals to the region. Press reports also indicated the exodus of many out of work
cocaine laborers from cocaine producing regions and other signs of significant
disruptions in the cocaine economy. The most significant indication that the cocaine
industry in Colombia has been hurt is the large scale protests of cocaine workers. In
some areas, as many as 20,000 protestors have been reported in the streets.
Unfortunately, these efforts have also gencrated violent responses from narco-guerrillas.
In the past month, rebels from the Revolutlonary Armed Forces of Colombia (FARC)
have conducted sophisticated and deadly assaults on military bases, police units, and
infrastructure in the Guaviars Province in response to the eradication campaign.

The Colombian Armed Forces and National Police have clearly demonstrated their
commitment to protecting their nation and its democratic institutions from the corrupting
influence of narco-traffickers. We have been consistently impressed by this commitment
and by the honesty of the Colombian Armed Forces, the National Police, and its director,
General Serrano.  These organizations deserve our coatinued support.
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IDA Draft Study

During the 19 September 1996 hearing before this Subcommittee on heroin, concems
were raised regarding a draft study conducted by the Institute for Defense Analysia (IDA) for the
Department of Defense as part of its ongoing review of drug interdiction efforts. This draft
study, “An Empirical Examination of Counterdrug Interdiction Program Effectiveness,” is s
work in prograss to analyze the cost effectiveness of U.S. international interdiction afforts.

During a briefing for ONDCP staff on the draft study by the authors, serious concerns
were raised regarding the methodology used. ONDCP expressed strong doubts and
recommended that IDA involve an economist in the analytical process. in addition ONDCP
widely distributed the draft document to major research institutions for their comments on how
the analysis might be improved. This is the same open peer review process employed by most
academic journals prior to publication. Upon receipt of the draft study in May, ONDCP sent the
paper to noted reseurchers in the field for a peer review at John F. Kennedy School of
Covernment, Harvard University/BOTECH, Camegie-Mellon Institute, University of Pittsburgh;
University of Maryland/Rand Corporation, and Evidence Based Research,

The peer reviewers individually reached the same conclusions that the draft study:
(1) contains serious methodological flaws; (2) reflects 8 poor understanding and uge of drug-
related data; (3) demonstrates an inadequate review of the literature; and (4) ignores the impact
of the increased sentences for drug-related crime, and other law enforcement measures reflacted
in the various omnibus Federal crime and drug legislation over the past decade. 1t is worth
noting several comments in particular:

. The principal concaptuad problem of the study lies in the claim thet the retail price of
cocuine would, in the absence of effective interdiction programs, have fallen 10 825 per
pure gram. This ignores all the other Jactars, perticularly other federal and siate
enforcement programs that influence the price of cocaine und leads to a dramatic
oversiatement of the cust-effectiveness of interdiction. (University of Maryland)

10
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. ...the study Is flawed by a failure io interpret a number of data series correctly... The
misinterpretation of the DAWN and DUF series leads to baffling analyses... (University
of Maryland)

. The study shows strikingly little familiarity with the relevamt analytic lterature.
(University of Maryland)

. If I had been asked to review the IDA study for a journal, my recommendation iv the
editor would have been somewhere between “Refect” and “Revise and resubmit with no
promise of publication,” but leaming toward a flat rejection. (Harvard University)

» Some of the number-crunching is interesting, but the conceptual flaws are 100 deep lo be
remedied in any straightforward way; they'd have 1o start from scratch and write a
different paper. Moreover, the authors fail to display the familiarity with the background
on drug-market economics that would be needed to get the study right. (Harvard
University)

» It is clearly fundamentally flowed in its approach and conclusions and reads as if the

authors were naither well versed m the drug policy literature nor in the siamdard social
sciences, particularly economics. (Camegie-Mellon Institute)

It turns out that IDA conducted its own internal review of the draft study afler receiving
the peer reviews conducted for ONDCP. IDA concludes that:

. Several anabical excursions need io be eliminated from the paper.
. Fix the price series. [f the result are the scame, claim the corvelation, bui be more modest

about the causation and look for other supporting data. Eliminate all wnnecessary
analyses...

1
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. This ['The impact of source-zone interdiction enforcement on supply] seems highly
plausible, but the authors offer no quantitative evidence of this assertion...

. Here [Retail price increases) the debate over the IDA analysis is confused by the
introduction of unnecessary -- either overstated or just plain silly — arguments.

. A clear failing of the IDA paper is the lack of a well-articulated model of the dymamics of
the cocaine markel, of how supply disruptions might work their way through this market,
and of the goals of an anti-drug policy.

TDA’s internal review finds much of the peer review conducted for ONDCP to be right
on point:

. w.the reviewers are quite correct in noting that the 1A aralysis offers no evidence in
suppori of the assertion ihat source-zane interdiction explains any of the difference
between the project price floor (325) and the observed prics floor (slightly mare than
$50).

And IDA’s internal review finds that the drafi study’s authors lack an adequate economic
analysis of the issue:

» The first thing I learned in myp first economerrics course is thai correlation does not imply
causation.

. o the IDA analysis show no apparent understanding of the distinclion betwesn movoment
glong o demand curve and the movement of a demand curve. ...t is one of the first thingy
taught in econometrics classes, and is thus the kind of rookie mistake that unnecessarily
undermines the credidilily of the rest of the analysis.

Rather than having “suppressed” the IDA draft study ONDCP has shared the report
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widely to provide feedback on the draft, and to ensure that it was subjected to the kind of peer
review necessary for an analysis to have credibility. 1DA is a good analytical institution snd the
authors well intentioned. It is unfortunate that the frank scholary discourse which is routinely
generated during the preparation of a complex study such as this has been publicized befors the
researchers were able to take critical peer reviews into account to improve their work.

We need your pariaexship and support

U Interdiction works,
Our comprehensive interdiction efforts are effective. Interdiction clearly works. Itisan
important element of a comprehensive balanced counterdrug strategy. In the past four
years, L $ agencies alone have seized 475 metric tons of cocaine. These seizures are
expensive to the traffickers. Qur successes hurt them. The sobering news is that only
about a third of the cocaine in the pipe-line is selzed by international law enforcement,
This has been the consistent trend for the past several years. We also face other emerping
challenges. According to Interpol, global production potentiat of hervin reached a record
high last year of 450 metric tans; however, only 37 tons were seized worldwide in 1995,
The U.S. demand for heroin is currently about 10 tons, approximstely two percent of the
global production potential.

J Our strategy is sound.
1t is critical to implement the /996 National Drug Control Strategy with ita balanced
approach to the supply and demand aspects of the problem, The FY97 counterdruy
budget increases our interdiction resources by 7.3 percent, and increases our international
programs by 25.4 percent. These increases provide for meaningful reinforcement of our
agencics and burcaus serving on the Southwest Border and will sirengthen our already
effactive efforts in South Americs and in the Caribbean,
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We should be optimistic,

ONDCP is optimistic about our interdiction posture. The Federal effort is better
organized. Federal, State and local enforcement cooperation has never been better. Our
agents and officials have been learning by doing. As a nation, we are finally paying
adequate attention to the problems created by the illegal drug trade along our Southwest
Border. Our Allies, in particular Peru and Mexico, are clearly dedicated to protecting
their people and democratic institutions from ihis terrible criminal threat.

We should aiso be realistic.

We should also be realistic about the magnitude of the challenge of shielding our air,

land, and sea frontiers from the drug threat. Drug traffickers will probe any weakness
along our 5,525 mile-long borders with Canada or our 1,933 milc-long border with
Mexico. They will seek to Introduce drugs over our 12,000 miles of coastline. They
will consider using our 13,228 airports and hiding couriers among the more than 60
million air passengers that enter the U.S. cach year. They will attempt to hide drugs
in the more than 400 million tons of imports that cnter the U.S. through our 50 busiest
scaports cach year ~— the cocaine they traffic represents less than one millionth of that
volume. They will aiso seck to use the nine million containers that enter the US. to
hide their drugs.

Demand reduction as a pariner of inteydiction,

We cannot protect the American people by relying principaily on interdiction to solve

the drug problem, We must coordinate our demand reduction cfforts with domestic law
enforcement, international cooperation, and interdiction cfforts. We must take the profit out
of narcotics trafficking through asset forfeiture and attacks ont money laundering. We must
confront domestic and forcign corruption caused by drug money. We must reduce the cost of
drug abuse to Americs. This Is why the first priority goal of the Drug Strategy will
remain: 1o motivate America’s youth 1o reject illegal drugs and substance abuse.

14
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We have scc enormous success in persuading Americans to roject drugs. Overall
drug abuse in America is down by SO percent in the last 15 years. While the number of
cocaine uscrs in America has dropped by 75 percent, the amount of cocaine produced
worldwide and entering America has remained relatively constant. Thercfors we continue to
800 great tragedies of addicts using more cocaine with its terrible personal and social
eonsoquences. ‘The good news is that there just isn’t that largoe a market in the pumber of
cocaine ysers agymore. Tha bad news is that a significant aumber of Americans remain
chronically addicted to cocaine and heroin, and many are incarcerated for reasons related to

drugs.

If we can motivate America’s youth to reject cocaine and other drugs, our interdiction
programs will be cnhanced, Fewer drg smugglers will be willing to run the interdiction
gauntiet for a reduced payoff. Every shipment we scize will hurt the smugglers that much

moye.

We Neod Yoar Help
The National Drug Control Strategy is not & partisan plan. It needs your bipartisan
support to enable the nation to sustain a concerted effort against illegal drugs and their

consequences.

The Strategy relies on partnerahips betwoen the United States and our allies, among
various Federal agencies, and between State and local agencies and the Federal government. For
the Strategy to succeed, we must achieve a partnership among the Congress, the Executive
Branch, and the American people. Together we can protect our chikiren.

There are no quick fixes to this problem. ONDCP looks forward to working with
Congress 1o develop comprehensive, long range plans to deal with drug abuse. We need to
develop a five-year budget, and a ten-year strategy to both sustain and expand our successes.
Most importantly, we need to work together.

15
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1t is an honor for me to continue to serve the United States national security intarests as
the Director of the Office of National Drug Control Policy. 1 have been wounded in combat
three times serving America in three conflict situations. During my 36 years in yniform, 1 have
not encountered a greater threat to the health-of the American people than that posed by illegal
drugs. 1 ask for your support and wisdom.

16
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Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you, General McCaffrey.

Let me just start out on page 313 of your National Drug Control
Strategy. I just refer you to the interdiction section, which I guess
shows a high of $2 billion plus in 1991; $1.960 million in 1992;
$1.511 million in 1993; $1.311 million in 1994; $1.280 million in
1995; $1.339 million in 1996. I guess my concern, as I did my wrap-
up comments of the last panel, I am just worried that we may have
lost a year here.

As we are questioning whether we are doing the right thing, are
we doing the right mix? Are we putting the right resources in the
right areas? Are we putting too much reliance on treatment of
hard-core addicts and not enough on source-country programs?

If I take you down to the lower piece in the international, in
1991, it’s $633 million; in 1992, $660 million; in 1993, $523 million;
1994, $329 million; 1995, $295 million. And so I guess my concern
here, is that as we are in the process of putting the 1996 plan to-
gether and we are looking at the appropriations for 1997—I am
Just worried that someone in your position, and certainly in our po-
sition because we want the same information, we want to know,
are we right about trying to push and beef up a little bit on inter-
diction?

Certainly our trip verified the fact that, with a little bit more,
we could do so much more. And I think you agreed with that when
we came back. So I just think it is valuable information that we
have been denied if, in fact, we were denied it.

I would like to have the recorder, or reporter, play back one
phrase or two from the previous panel and then have you respond
to that, the part that not a word of this is to get out.

General MCCAFFREY. I would be glad to accept whatever your
characterization was.

Mr. ZeLIFF. I would like her to play it. Just let her play it back.
It is the Clinger statement. I thought you had talked to her.

General MCCAFFREY. Mr. Chairman, I would be glad to accept
whatever you tell me.

Mr. ZeLiFr. What I would like to do—I guess you switched re-
porters in the meantime. So can you get that statement?

We will move on from that then, if you could pull that together.

I think what, general, was said, is that not a word of this is to
get out. Apparently there was some rather heated discussion be-
tween you and Admiral Kramek relative to either whether you
wanted to see the rest of this report or whether you did want to
hear the report, whether you didn’t want to hear the report.

Can you just bring us up to date as to how you remember that
whole situation as it took place? And just help us a little bit. Guide
us through the process.

General MCCAFFREY. Yes, sir, I would be glad to.

The—I don’t believe there’s any truth that any language was
used: Not a word of this to get out. I think, indeed, it was supposed
to get out to be widely reviewed by other scientific authorities.

I believe the report had been going on long before I got there. 1
believe the report first came up to ONDCP sometime in January.
I don’t know how I would characterize how it was received. I think
it had been going on earlier in the preceding year.

Mr. ZELIFF. We were told, I guess, it was March.
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General MCCAFFREY. March of?

Mr. ZELiFF. This year.

General McCAFFREY. Well, now, the first time it came up to
ONDCP was January, several months before I was sworn in. Then
the first time I heard it was when Admiral Kramek and Boyer
briefed me on it.

Mr. ZELIFF. Then did you hear the whole report?

General MCCAFFREY. Well, the whole report—I got a briefing out
of Boyer and Kramek.

Mr. ZELIFF. Did you get a briefing? OK.

General MCCAFFREY. A pretty good briefing. They are smart
guys. They know all about the business. They laid out the thinking.

I didn’t like it. It seemed to me then and now that it was too
much of a stretch to go from Laser Strike, which I was running,
and Green Clover, to driving up prices of cocaine and demand
down. So I said, that doesn’t make any sense.

In addition, I was aware that there really hadn’t been any
change in price of cocaine in America. Use—price wasn’t up; de-
mand wasn’t down. So I said, “You are giving us way too much
credit.”

What we can do in interdiction on the Air Bridge, and were doing
quite successfully, is, we can make them react to us, go to a dif-
ferent form of smuggling, penetrate their systems with our intel-
ligence while they do it, and drive up the tactical cost of delivery.
That’s what I thought we were doing.

Mr. ZELIFF. So you feel that that whole report was, to use the
words that were given to you, utter nonsense, garbage, inappropri-
ate?

General McCAFFREY. Well, I wish I had used more moderate lan-
guage. I retract that. I think these are bright guys. It has value
to hear other viewpoints. It certainly didn’t ring too well with the
scientific community when they saw it.

Mr. ZELIFF. Let me ask you this: Do you agree with the sub-
stance of the report?

General MCCAFFREY. No, not at all.

Mr. ZELIFF. Nothing in the report at all?

General MCCAFFREY. No, no. Wait. I think what I would agree
with is that good interdiction pays off and that if you can get be-
yond Air Bridge operations, and Gen. Wes Clark now is moving
into riverine coastal, and if we can get more effective support for
Peruvian police and army, and if we can do alternative develop-
ment better, then we will make a substantial contribution, and
that will eventually affect drug use in America.

Mr. ZELIFF. Well, how would you describe the interdiction efforts
that were taking place prior to 1993, up through 1992? Say, just
for the 3 or 4 years, were they effective?

General MCCAFFREY. Oh, yes. No, I think there was some bril-
liant work done by President Bush and the administration in re-
sponding to the initial threat, which was essentially drugs coming
from Peru and Bolivia to Colombia and then directly into south
Florida, Louisiana, and Texas. They got their act organized. They
put a lot of machinery out in the Caribbean, and it worked.
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Mr. ZeLiFF. Did we learn anything from the fact when we
stopped it and gutted that program—did we learn anything from
the fact that it may have been premature?

General MCCAFFREY. Well, of course, we always do. But I guess
what I tell you is, the threat changed. There was no drop in cocaine
coming into America at all. It just moved through Mexico, and it
lge&t coming, and purity and availability and price got worse, not

etter.

Now, having said that, I do not mean to imply it was useless. It
wasn’'t useless. One thing it did was, it kept democratic govern-
ments in office in Latin America. Second, it stripped off hundreds
of tons of cocaine. Third, there was a principle involved that we
owe the American people a defense of our children.

So it was a brilliant effort. It caused them to respond, and now
we have got to respond to their new patterns of smuggling and
criminal behavior.

Mr. ZELiFF. Mr. Cummings.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

General McCaffrey, welcome.

I was just looking at some testimony that you gave back on Sep-
tember 19 during a hearing entitled, “Heroin, a Re-emerging
Threat.” Do you remember that before this committee? You may
not remember.

General MCCAFFREY. Yes, heroin, yes.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Heroin, that’s right.

General MCCAFFREY. Absolutely.

Mr. CUMMINGS. And during that, on page 87, lines 2009, you
commented on this—all of what we are talking about today, this re-
port, I think, as a response to one of Mr. Mica’s questions. And you
said, in part, “But the studies”—and I am quoting: “But the studies
seem to imply that the interdiction campaign that I had run had
achieved phenomenal successes in driving up the price of heroin
and cocaine and reducing consumption. Personally, I found those
conclusions utter nonsense, and so I asked them to be submitted
in more of a scientific analytical process, which is what I think is
happening now.”

Is that—would that be accurate? Do you recall that?

General MCCAFFREY. Yes, I think that’s a fair statement.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Is that the same thing you are saying today?

General MCCAFFREY. Yes, sir.

You know, Mr. Constantine, whose judgment I rely on a lot as
a straight-talking cop, we didn’t think the price of cocaine was
going up in America because of our very successful interdiction op-
erations. What we thought we were doing, we were killing crimi-
nals; we, the Peruvian Air Force, and the Colombians; we were
doing great eradication work, and we were putting up a spirited de-
fense which was causing them to change to a less effective smug-
gling system by river and by coastal freighter. And that’s what
they are trying to do right now.

Mr. CUMMINGS. You—in answering the chairman’s questions a
few minutes ago, you talked about this report, and I think you ba-
sically were saying that you felt like it was an honest effort.

I am going to quote again from that September 19 hearing tran-
script, and at page 87, lines—starting at line—I will start at line
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2021. I just wonder if you recall this testimony back on September
19. Mr. Mica asked you a question.

This was critical of the first 2 years of the administration, and,
in fact, did you try—you don’t think you then tried to repress mak-
ing that report public?

And this is your response at line 2027: “No, I don’t think so. I
think our attempt ought to be to apply cold, hard logic, and I inter-
preted that study to be honest as more—I interpreted that study
to be an apology for increased machinery out in the Caribbean as
opposed to confronting the drug issue.”

Do you recall saying that?

General McCAFFREY. Yes, I do. And let me put it in context. The
last thing I want to do, as a fellow who believes in interdiction, is
to go out in the street with a study that is immediately subject to
attack as being a rented piece of paper that’s supporting my posi-
tion.

Now, I don’t think that’s what IDA was doing, but that was my
concern, that I appear with a piece of paper that wouldnt with-
stand scrutiny, and that’s the way I still feel about it.

Mr. COMMINGS. General McCaffrey, there were some statements
that have been from this bar—and I call it a bar; I guess it’s just

" a table—about you. And I want to—since you didnt have a chance
to defend yourself, I just want you to respond.

Once again, for the record, did you ever instruct Admiral Kramek
or anyone to bury the draft interdiction report by the IDA?

General MCCAFFREY. No.

Mr. CuUMMINGS. You never did?

General MCCAFFREY. No. 2

Mr. CUMMINGS. And you understand that you are sworn to tell
the truth?

General MCCAFFREY. I certainly do.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Now, do you personally have any evidence that
the price of cocaine on-American streets is skyrocketing because of
your efforts during your tenure——

General MCCAFFREY. No.

Mr. CUMMINGS [continuing]. To stop it?

General MCCAFFREY. No. Too bad. It hasn’t. That does not imply
that our efforts did not provide a tremendous boost to the
counterdrug effort. It just didn't—what it did affect was the price
of moving the drug. It killed some criminals and put a bunch of
them in jail. It locked up most of the Cali Drug Cartel. It started
a tremendous eradication program in Colombia, and it was a sub-
stantial contribution, at the risk of life, of a bunch of Air Force,
Army, Navy, Coast Guard, agency, and other personnel. That’s
what we were doing.

Mr. CuMMINGS. Did you ever intimidate—to your knowledge,
issue any kind of instructions that might be viewed as intimidation
with regard to this report to anyone?

General MCCAFFREY. Admiral Kramek is pretty hard to intimi-
date. I don’t think so.

Mr. CUMMINGS. As a matter of fact, back on September 19, you
sait(‘i) that you had the utmost respect for Admiral Kramek, did you
not?
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General MCCAFFREY. I think he is one of the finest people I have
met in Government service and frequently the voice of reason in
this whole process over the last 3 years that I have been working
with him.

Mr. CUMMINGS. As a matter of fact, I direct your attention to our
September 19, 1996, transcript from that September 19 hearing,
and in response to one of Mr. Mica’s questions, you, in commenting
on Bob Kramek, you said: “Mr. Congressman, I don't—and 1,” at
2684, line 2684: “Mr. Congressman, I don’t know. I believe Bob
Kramek, who is probably one of the smartest, most able people in
Washington, DC, I deal with, I believe he did, as the interdiction
coordinator.”

Do you still believe—I guess the part of that that I am most con-
cerned about is the whole thing that you believe in his integrity
and his brilliance. Is that right?

General MCCAFFREY. Absolutely.

Mr. CUMMINGS. And you still hold that opinion?

General MCCAFFREY. Yes; when we had—when we had the no-
tion of an interdiction coordinator and a commandant of the Coast
Guard was selected, there was a collective sigh of relief all over the
system, because we trust the Coast Guard and we respected Admi-
ral Kramek.

Mr. CUMMINGS. One last question, I think. General McCaffrey,
can you please tell the subcommittee what the administration’s po-
sition on interdiction is? Does not the administration believe that
interdiction is an important component in stopping the use of ille-
gal drugs in the United States?

General MCCAFFREY. It is a vital component, and indeed it prob-
ably deserves even more resources in the years to come if we can
intelligently apply them to the task and understand that these are
tactical efforts that must be part of a coherent national strategy.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much.

Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you, Mr. Cummings.

Mr. Clinger.

Mr. CLINGER. General McCaffrey, we had testimony earlier this
morning that would appear to be in conflict with some of the state-
ments that you have made here this afternoon. I just want to try
and clarify those inconsistencies and, if there are, give you an op-
portunity at least to respond.

General MCCAFFREY. Certainly.

Mr. CLINGER. We had an indication—you indicated that your

briefing on this report was basically by Admiral Kramek, and 1
guess he was the one whom you discussed this with.
. The question I have is: Did you, as has been indicated, refuse a
briefing by the authors of the report after knowing of the conclu-
sions of the study? In other words, you apparently had been briefed
on the conclusions. The suggestion is that you were unwilling to
meet with the people who actually wrote the report. In other
words, you were getting a secondhand impression of the report. Did
you refuse to meet with them?

General MCCAFFREY. Yes, sir.

Well, let me just tell you that Captain Boyer talked through the
briefing, using slides. Kramek and 1 had a discussion of it, and I
think I used words to the effect that I didn’t have time to wallow
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around in another hour of it; get it out for scientific review. I sort
of think that’s what I said. ]

Mr. CLINGER. Which implied, then, that you didn’t have the time
to really meet with the—or discuss the matter with the authors of
the report?

General MCCAFFREY. That’s correct. _

Mr. CLINGER. Finally, I think this—you have been asked this a
couple of ways, but the exact words, we understood, and I don’t
think you have been asked this, did you ever say to Admiral
Kramek expressly, as others have testified, under oath this morn-
ing, that, quote, not a word of this study is to get out?

General McCAFFREY. That would imply that I had never existed
in Washington, DC, Mr. Clinger. I don’t know of a report that
doesn’t get out.

Mr. CLINGER. That is true.

General McCAFFREY. I sent the report out all over the country,
to Harvard, Maryland, RAND Corp.

Mr. CLINGER. So you are saying, basically, no, you never said
that? Is that right?

General MCcCAFFREY. That’s correct.

Mr. CLINGER. Now, obviously, my main interest in this is from
the vantage point of the chairman of the full committee having to
do with oversight of the Government as a whole. And would you
agree that this report, and the form it was presented, would have
been appropriate for the Congress, this committee or the Congress,
to have in making deliberations in terms of resource allocation on
the war on drugs?

I mean, it presented a conflicting point of view to the report that
was relied upon by the administration in making the request, as
I understand it, for resources. But I think that—would you agree
that we should have had access to a contrary suggestion that the
resource allocation was skewed, that, in fact, the emphasis was
being given to the wrong side of the equation? -

General MCCAFFREY. Mr. Clinger, I would agree with one thing.
There is nothing in ONDCP, now or in the future, to which I will
not give Congress ready access. There is no information that you
shouldn’t have access to.

The real question——

Mr. CLINGER. But we can only get it if we know that it exists.

General MCCAFFREY. Well, the real question is, should I give you
something, a work in progress, a draft report that I hear for 10
minutes and to which I do not agree? As one of the experts on
interdiction, even though I support interdiction, should I have sent
this over saying, I don’t agree with this thing, it’s out for scientific
review, but I wanted you to get it right away?

I don’t know. I will do whatever is in Congress’ best interest. But
the quick answer is, no. I don’t agree with the report then. And
when I finally get it, I will take it into account, and if I don’t agree
with it, you will get to express your views to me since you own the
purse strings.

Mr. CLINGER. So your view, then, is, it could only be made avail-
able to us, even though it was going to come after the fact in terms
of the use we might make of it, if it was in a final report and had
been studied—again, it had been studied for a year and a half.
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General MCCAFFREY. Yes.

Mr. Clinger, I don’t know that anybody would ever keep this
from you anyway. It is an unclassified study, and, you know, I
would—our doors are open to you and your committee, and your
staffers could go look at anything we are doing, because I also
learn a lot from dealing with you all.

So I don’t—I don’t have a bit of problem with you having access
to any documents over here, but I don’t agree with this one, yet.

Mr. CLINGER. You can understand there’s a bit of skepticism on
our part here, because when you came into the office, you indicated
you were going to produce a new drug strategy within 6 months.
This report was available to you shortly after you came in. It, in
fact, does basically repudiate or at least seriously question the pre-
vious three drug strategies that have been pursued by this admin-
istration.

So you can understand our skepticism that perhaps the motiva-
tion for this was, in fact, to substantiate what was going on, and
which you ultimately did, and was undercutting what the adminis-
tration had been pursuing for the previous 3 years, which appar-
ently it was a failed policy.

General McCAFrFrREY. Well, Mr. Clinger, this report, if I com-
pletely agreed with it, would have been a wonderful bouquet for me
personally to add to that strategy. This does not refute the strat-
egy; it supports it. I think it’s a weak read, so I am a little careful
about going out and waving that document and saying, for that
reason, give me goal 4 and $5.

Mr. CLINGER. It does, however, take on head-on the RAND study.
I mean, it really is very critical and very condemnatory, if you will,
of the RAND study.

General MCcCAFFREY. Yes, sir.

Mr. CLINGER. You sort of reject—think the RAND study was ac-
curate in all respects and this was not?

General MCCAFFREY. Wait a minute. I haven’t talked about the
RAND study. I don’t really, to be honest, think that’s an enormous
contribution to the policy process either. What I believe is that you
must, as a first priority, have young Americans reject illegal drugs.

Second, you have got to go to the addicted population, 3.6 million
of whom are in the criminal justice system, and provide effective
treatment. And then, in addition, you have got to go out and defend
Alrlnerica’s air, land, and sea frontiers and work with our democratic
allies.

So I am fully supportive of this balanced strategy. And the
RAND study—and again, I say this as an undergraduate engineer,
not physicist—didn’t lend itself to that dialog either. It implied you
could ignore interdiction and go work the treatment. I don’t think
that’s sensible, either.

Mr. CLINGER. Let me just say, in conclusion, you have talked
about cooperation, and I think there has been very good coopera-
tion between your office and this subcommittee over the last 2
years, under Chairman Zeliff's leadership and so forth. My concern
and my disappointment was that this appeared to me, at least, and
I think to others, that there was an element of suppression here
which would belie the stated goals of cooperation.
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I think if we don’t have access to all of the information that we
need to make these kinds of judgments, then that is not coopera-
tion. So to that extent, I would express my disappointment that
that cooperation, in my view, broke down on this issue.

General MCCAFFREY. Well, I respect your viewpoint. I am sen-
sitive to it, and I will try and work harder to maintain your con-
fidence.

Mr. ZELIFF. Mr. Hastert.

Mr. HASTERT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Let me just set the record straight, general. Your first meeting
with me was, I think, in March or late February of last year. Real-
ly, it was an inspiration for me to get involved in this whole drug
interdiction process. And I have had a lot of hats in this Congress
as chief deputy whip and lining up votes and doing health care,
and sometimes I didn’t need an extra job, but I took that on be-
cause I thought you were very sincere in our discussion. It was at
a breakfast that Mr. Zeliff hosted, if I remember right.

Now, one of the things that, after our discussion and after a sub-
sequent trip—I guess I would be what Mr. Mica might call a John-
ny-come-lately to this issue, but I did get involved, at the Speaker’s
request, because we wanted to do the right thing. A lot of the
trends that we were talking about were certainly trends that were
set long before you became the drug czar, so to speak. As a matter
of fact, you were doing duty down in South Nam and the Southern
Command and, I think, doing some excellent work.

But one of the things that I tried to do, after the trip, after my
discussion with people like the President of Peru and folks that we
have on the ground in Bolivia and our folks in DEA and other in-
telligence areas in Colombia and working with people in—talking
to people in Panama, and then also the Government of Mexico, 1
really started to understand the real frustrations, that this isn’t an
easy process, it’s a process that’s pockmarked with politics, inter-
national politics as well as internal politics.

And one of the things, when you talked to me, being able to go
out and bolster the appropriation process, the job that the Speaker
asked me to do, I took a lot of your information. I think in most
cases we were pretty successful.

But one of the frustrations I had, when I went to a subcommittee
chairman on Appropriations, he sanctimoniously waved the RAND
study in my face and says, well, you guys are all wrong about
interdiction. It doesn’t make any difference at all. We need to put
the money some place else, so we are going to gut the Coast Guard.
That was wrong.

I was looking for something, and I guess sometimes we all look
for something to bolster our views on what is right and what is
wrong, to counter the RAND study, quite frankly. When I saw this,
I was interested—most interested.

Would you give the general a copy of this? This was something
that was just handed out, something I looked at before. The people
tilat wrote this weren't economists. The gentleman who wrote
this—-

General McCAFFREY. Like you and 1.

Mr. HASTERT. What?

General MCCAFFREY. They were not economists like you and L.
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Mr. HASTERT. Were not economists, was not an economist, did
not have the degrees that you or I might have in economics.

But the gentleman is known as a physicist, and I guess a physi-
cist looks at cause and effect and tree—apples falling out of trees
and things like that. This shows cause and effect, and it’s very
striking, I think.

General MCCAFFREY. See, I wouldn’t agree that it shows cause
and effect at all. This shows correlation. That’s different.

Mr. HASTERT. Let's agree that we don’t disagree.

General MCCAFFREY. But I mean, it’'s important to understand
that, you know, that there’s a—it’s just like the relationship be-
tween smoking marijuana and cocaine addiction. There’s a tremen-
dous statistical correlation but no necessary causal relationship.

Mr. HASTERT. Anyway, what happened in this is that price went
up and purity—price went down and purity went up, you know,
and the whole correlation in that. So if you want to use the word
“correlation,” it happened. Now, that’s significant.

But the real concern that I have—and the record of the prede-
cessor that you had was quite different from when I sat on this
panel in this committee 10 years ago and worked with Admiral
Yost in the Coast Guard and worked with a drug czar under an-
other administration that made a difference. I mean, those efforts
really started to choke down—you were a part of that—choke
down-—they were successful in interdiction and did start to drive
down the use of drugs in this country.

One of the reasons, I think—I don’t have any empirical evidence
to show that, but drug abuse was cut down during those early—
late years in the eighties and early years in the nineties. And all
of a sudden, when there was $500 million that were transferred out
of interdiction, before you ever became—had the job you did, and
it was supposed to be a real shift between interdiction in source
country, and the shift never happened, those dollars never went in.
We then saw the results of a huge increase in drug use, especially
among teenagers.

General McCAFFREY. Now, to be fair though, sir, there has not
been a huge increase in drug use, nor did any of these drive up the
seizure rates of cocaine over the years.

See, that’s the problem. The increase among teenage drug use,
which is almost completely marijuana and other products, not co-
caine, not heroin, did not respond to any of this interdiction effort.
I say that just as a scientific observer and a participant in the proc-
ess.

Mr. HASTERT. Well, our sources say there was heroin and heroin
is coming back. But the other part of it wag———-

General MCCAFFREY. Right.

Mr. HASTERT [continuing]. That the statement on heroin was
that people were using needles.

General MCCAFFREY. No; I agree. I just meant that chart on co-
caine, we got almost the same amount year after year. That’s frus-
trating to those of us who were working the interdiction commu-
nity, and we are going to work it smarter in the next several years.
But year after year, we got—the cocaine coming into America
stayed about the same, and thank God the number of people using
it dropped dramatically, 75 percent in the last 15 years.
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They are sticking about 300 tons up their nose still, or using
crack products. We didn’t affect drug abuse in America through the
interdiction campaign. That doesn’t mean it wasn’t a tremendously
valuable effort.

Mr. HASTERT. Well, I mean, we have evidence—we can talk
about evidence and empirical evidence going back and forth, but
there are things that show that in 1993 drug abuse did start to go
up; emergency rooms did take in more.

General MCCAFFREY. Emergency rooms doesn’t relate to drug
use.

Mr. HASTERT. It does when you start to take kids who are—use
drugs and are OD because the purity of drugs is a lot higher than
they thought it was.

So I don’t want to argue back and forth. My point is that, from
this point forward, we need to work together.

General MCCAFFREY. Yes.

Mr. HASTERT. I think many of us have taken.a good first step.
I worked diligently to make sure that your requests, a kind of a
‘unique situation that I had, were filled, and that, in fact, you have
another $60 million at your discretion, because I think you need
some money at your discretion.

I would certainly be interested, as soon as you have been able
‘to swallow everything and digest it, where that money is going to
go and how you think that discretionary fund should be spent.

So there is, in my view, cause and effect. I think we need to put
our money in good causes. We need to spend it intelligently. As a
matter of fact, when we use that word, sometimes I think maybe
intelligence, -there’s not enough intelligence, and the more money
we put in intelligence, to know where that money—where that
product comes from, how it’s moved through the channel and being
able to intercept it is tied to intelligence. We probably don't put
enough emphasis on that.

General MCCAFFREY. [ agree.

Mr. HASTERT. And how we can best set up a strategy so when
that we come into 1998—and I understand you were caught in the
switches of the 1997 budget, and I sympathize with the situation.
You came in, a lot of transition going on, and the House and, in
some cases, the Senate, they had already put their appropriations
to bed before you ever got a chance to get involved. We have turned
that around. I think you have gotten everything——almost every-
thing that you have needed to do, including your staff, that you
needed to do.

Now, we want to see how best we can fight this. I think interdic-
tion is a very important part of this thing.

General MCCAFFREY. I agree.

Mr. HasTERT. I think source country is a very important part of
this. Now, I may be proved wrong, and we can throw statistics
around to prove it. I think this is a starting point that we need to
work together. I think it's unfortunate that this happens, a mis-
understanding of what you said, what the feelings are and why
things were suppressed or why things weren't suppressed. But 1
think from this point on, we need to work together. I think we need
to get serious about doing that. And I can tell you, as long as I am
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around here, and I can affect some of this legislation, I am there
to bat for you.

General MCCAFFREY. Yes, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. We have got to have the right information. We
have got to be able to listen to all things and hopefully build upon
what knowledge we have.

And I have always been uncomfortable with the RAND situation
because, as you said, you can put all kinds of economic models to-
gether, but models don’t always tell what the effects are properly.
And to rely on one study, which really makes policy, has driven the
policy of the previous drug czar, to say that’s right and something
else doesn’t belong in the mix, I think, is wrong. I hope we can
work together to rectify that.

General MCCAFFREY. I would welcome that.

Mr. ZELIFF. If the gentleman would yield for just a quick minute?

Mr. HASTERT. Yes.

Mr. ZELIFF. For the last 2 years, long before you arrived on the
scene, we have been critical on this subcommittee of the lack of
interdiction efforts, the major cuts in interdiction, the major cuts
in source-country programs. We came back—after going down and
taking a look at it firsthand, we were then totally convinced that
the policy was wrong. We came back and tried to influence changes
with you, but I think the strategy was already set. And that’s no
fault of yours. It was moving before you even got there.

In spite of that, we gave you the resources. We fought like the
devil to make sure that your office was funded, you will remember
that, so that you could start putting together the right policies.

So I would like to say to you, this subcommittee here is greatly
concerned about the fact that we are using bad data, RAND data,
to drive the treatment—the $2.9 billion, I believe, of treatment
moneys that we now have in the 1997 appropriations bill, and we
were fighting to patch up and boost up moneys for the Coast Guard
in other areas.

Let me just ask you this question: You know, are we on the right
track? Are you in agreement? Are you willing to sit down with this
subcommittee?

Are we willing to start—if IDA doesn’t work, then what other in-
formation is out there? You know, we don’t want to reject informa-
tion for the sake of rejecting it, but maybe we need to get informa-
tion that people believe in. Maybe we ought to check with an inde-
pendent source whether IDA knows what they are talking about.

But the bottom line here is that we have got kids dying on the
streets and we need to somehow figure out what is the right bal-
ance. And again, it’s a five-legged stool; it’s education, prevention,
treatment, interdiction, and source-country programs. If you pull
one leg of the stool, then the stool caves in.

Comments?

General MCCAFFREY. Well, I think the way you put that concept
together, I support what you said. You talked about the balanced
strategy. I couldn’t agree more.

The one caution I would add, sir, if I may, is that my criticism
of the RAND Corp. study’s impact on policy analysis did not mean
to imply that I don’t absolutely believe that we must provide effec-
tive treatment programs for those who are addicted. If we want to



105

stop crime and violence in America, we have got to do things like
break the cycle, the drug courts.

We have got to go to Baltimore, Miami, rural Iowa, San Diego,
and get those who are addicted, the 2.1 million Americans who
consume 80 percent of the drugs in America, and two-thirds of
them are involved in the criminal justice system in a given year,
we simply must pay the costs to provide drug treatment and follow-
on care. As a taxpayer, it makes sense.

Mr. ZELIFF. But we have to also look at the effectiveness of those
drug treatment programs.

General MCCAFFREY. Absolutely. I agree.

Mr. ZELIFF. So far, we are not seeming to make a dent in it, de-
spite the fact that we have invested major resources.

Mr. HasTeERT. Will the gentleman yield back?

Mr. ZELIFF. And the chart is right here on page 15.

Mr. HASTERT. Just very briefly though, on that statement that
you make, I think you have to treat those people who are drug ad-
dicts and who are hooked, but we need to be able to take that mar-
ginal stuff off the street, where a kid wants to experiment, and it’s
cheap, and it’s there, and why not try it?

General MCCAFFREY. Absolutely.

Mr. HASTERT. If we could remove that—because those are the
kids in my district, in Aurora, IL, and Elgin, IL. We have some of
the biggest drug kingpins right there. It is close to Chicago, and
the heat is not out there. And in Northern Illinois University, De
Kalb, kids who can be delivered easy from Chicago or Aurora or
Elgin, and they are the ones who are experimenting, and if it’s
there, and it’s cheap and it'’s available, they are the ones who are
experimental, recreational users, if you will, if that’s such a thing.
But they get hooked. Let’s stop that from happening.

General MCCAFFREY. Mr. Hastert, you are exactly right. That's
why interdiction, whether or not it changes the price or the purity,
is so vital to America, because if we take 100 tons out of the school
systems and the cities, less kids are going to fool around with
drugs. And there’s an algorithm there, known but to God, in which
some number get addicted.

So I couldn’t agree with your point more. I think you are entirely
correct. That’s law enforcement as well as interdiction.

Mr. ZELIFF. I am going to throw in one quick comment, because
I was trying to finish this. But if you look at this chart here, this
is the number of people being treated. It is going down. This is the
number—the costs, inflation adjusted, of the moneys and resources
going into treatment. So the amount of money that we put into
treatment is not necessarily working, and so that’s got to be looked
at as well.

General MCCAFFREY. Yes, sir.

Mr. ZELIFF. Mr. Mica from Florida.

Mr. Mica. General, you have been involved in this drug war for
some time, and I, too, have been involved in it. I came as a staffer
in the Senate in 1980, with Senator Hawkins, when our State,
Florida, was ravaged by a drug war on our streets, literally.

As a staffer, I helped write some of the legislation that we work
under now, the certification language I drafted that came up with
putting some of the resources into interdiction in source countries,
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trying to make sure that we approach this problem from an edu-
cation, treatment, interdiction, and enforcement standpoint.

When I came to Congress, I was still concerned about it, and not
many people were talking about it in 1992 or 1993, and I will be
glad to get the record and show you the statements I made trying
to get even one hearing in this committee.

And when you were—well, your predecessor, I wasnt very
pleased with his performance or the administration’s policy, be-
cause it didn’t take much—I don’t have a science degree, I am not
an economist or whatever background you have, but——

General MCCAFFREY. Sir, could you pull that microphone over?
I am having trouble.

Mr. Mica. I looked at the results, and when you see that we cut
interdiction through the RAND study, or through whatever study,
we put our resources on treatment, sort of treating just the wound-
ed in the battle, a tremendous emphasis on that and away from
some of the other emphasis that I felt were necessary, including
some in transit zone and even more in source countries, and they
weren't done under the last Congress or under this administration.

Then I think when you were appointed, I was one of the first to
offer my assistance on this panel to get you whatever resources.

We went to South America. Some of us spent time away from our
families. It was not one of these trips where everybody takes their
spouse along. We went into the jungles. We talked to DEA agents
on the ground. We tried to learn what was happening, and then we
came back.

We got the Speaker to provide some leadership. Mr. Hastert
joined us, and it became a project of this new Congress.

I am telling you that because then, in working the last few weeks
to get the legislation through, to put the funds in here, to restore
these things that had been cut out, and some of the emphasis that
had been cut out, I heard from people around you that there was
a report that wasn’t coming out. I heard that the report had been
presented some time ago and wasn’t coming out and was getting,
for lack of a better term, buried. I wasn’t a happy person.

I asked you about some of those questions I had, and I felt this
deserved a hearing because this is a critical report. And even
today, you said, “I don’t agree with this study yet,” I think was
your comment just a few minutes ago. I tried to take it down.

Well, we are trying to make decisions at a time when there are
very limited resources here. We are up to hock to our eyeballs, and
we are trying to decide between programs of importance to the
country, without driving it further into debt. So our purpose is to
get the best information, for you to share that information with us,
and that we have that in a timely fashion to make those decisions
on behalf of the citizens we represent.

You could almost predict the headlines that I held up here today,
basically because we have stopped interdiction, because we stopped
some of the source-country programs, because we haven’t put a
proper emphasis on all of the areas necessary.

Also, most importantly, we haven’t provided the leadership from
the White House. Your predecessor didn’t provide the leadership.
The highest chief health officer of this country didn’t provide the
leadership and made a joke out of legalization. And I submit even
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the President, in his statements on MTV and saying that he would
have inhaled if he had it to do over again, doesn’t meet goal 1: Mo-
tivate America’s youth to reject illegal drugs and substance abuse.

So that’s my comment.

My question—and I am not going to get into who said what to
whom; some of that has been charged already. My question is: Do
you believe that we can work together, that we can find some solu-
tions, that your office can be open with this committee and our sub-
committee and see if we can’t work together just to put our limited
resources most effectively where they can do the best job?

General McCAFFREY. [ would welcome that opportunity. I would
indeed.

Mr. MicA. Finally, I think it’s important that as we develop this
drug strategy and also direct the limited resources of this Congress
and the American people, we do it in the most effective manner.

Do you have further recommendations, and in what order of se-
quence will they be provided to this Congress and the subcommit-
tee so we can pick up from where we have left off in providing you
the assets that you need to do the job?

General MCCAFFREY. Mr. Congressman, I need to write an intel-
ligent 1998 budget request in full cooperation with the 14 other
Cabinet officers who were involved in this. That is step No. 1. Then
I need to devise a 5-year budget concept, then submit it to the
President, the Cabinet, and get it down here and see what you all
think about it.

If T don’t do that, we will never break out of the kind of ex-
changes we are now having, and that is what I dedicate myself to
doing between now and next summer.

Mr. Mica. I thank you. And I think my time has expired.

General MCCAFFREY. Mr. Chairman, I should—as you know, the
1998 law establishing my position states that I am a political offi-
cer. I have been a soldier since I was 17 years old. I took this job,
and I am honored to be part of it.

And having said that, you should be aware that I have been
working with this President for the last 3 years and with the team
of Janet Reno, Donna Shalala, Bill Perry, the CIA, and others, and
Admiral Kramek, and Tom Constantine, and Louis Freeh. And you
should understand, and I don’t say this in rebuttal to Mr. Mica, but
merely to put on the table my absolute respect for their cooperative
leadership and my belief that they are committed to a nondrug,
nonstoned America.

Mr. ZELIFF. General, I can appreciate that, and I certainly would
agree to some degree. I am just concerned—we are concerned about
some information here that’s been under oath that is a bit in con-
flict, and we are going to have to discuss that.

And I think the other piece that I would just—there is a letter
apparently written in the Wall Street Journal. There was a letter
from Administrator Louis Freeh from the FBI and Tom Con-
stantine, who also, both of those gentlemen I have tremendous re-
spect for, talking about a National Drug Strategy adrift.

Are you aware of that letter, and could you kind of describe what
the contents of that letter would be?

General MCCAFFREY. I have no knowledge at all about the letter
except what I read in the press, the scuttlebutt.
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Mr. ZeLIFF. We have asked the President for a copy of it, and we
have been told that he wrote Executive privilege.

General MCCAFFREY. It is not part of my watch, and I don’t have
any involvement in it.

Mr. ZELIFF. Relative to the degree of what is happening in the
drug war today in America, I would just like to read to you from
some of the testimony we have had in our previous hearings, and
this relates to drug emergencies at record level.

As indicated earlier, another critical negative impact of drugs is,
alarming new data on drug-related emergencies, increasing drug-
related medical emergencies, first became obvious in 1993 when
the Drug Abuse Warning Network, DAWN, collected data from
emergency rooms around the country and released it in December
1994. That data showed an 8 percent increase in drug-related
emergency cases between 1992 and 1993, with 45 percent being
heroin overdoses. It is not just marijuana. Cocaine was also at an
all-time high, having more than doubled since 1988. Marijuana
emergencies increased 22 percent between 1992 and 1993.

On top of this, marijuana- or hashish-related emergencies rose 39
percent from 1993 to 1994, and total drug-related emergency cases
rose 10 percent between 1993 and 1994. Heroin-related emer-
gencies increased between 1994 and 1995 by 19 percent. We believe
very strongly that we have an epidemic and a crisis.

Would you care to comment?

General MCCAFFREY. Quite clearly, in particular, heroin, with its
very high purity and increasing availability, worldwide production
having doubled in the last 10 years, it is going to represent a very
fundamental threat to our population.

The data to which you refer, though, to put it in context, are, in
general, driven by aging cohorts of addicts, and when they get sick,
they come in off the streets to emergency rooms. That is not com-
pletely true, because there is an increase among youngsters also
and new heroin users, but, in general, that is the 30-year-old to 40-
year-old who is now dying because he is using, he or she is using,
crack or heroin. That is who is coming in the hospitals.

Mr. ZELIFF. One last quick question here. You are familiar, I be-
lieve, with the April 11, 1996 letter from Mr. Boyer, and this is to
Dr. Barry Crane. And just two comments.

The draft paper on source-zone interdiction effectiveness is an ex-

cellent step toward quantifying this. It is gratifying to see that the
impact can be quantified.
* Then on the second page: Recommend deleting or softening any
language that appears to be either combative with or condescend-
ing to the RAND study or IDA. Instead, take a positive approach
toward source-zone efforts and let the IDA speak for itself.

Then last, the discussion of the cost-effectiveness of treatment
programs is a great value but not necessary to the interdiction pro-
grams and possibly beyond the purview of USIC. IDA recommends
this issue be removed from the paper and treated separately in an
appendix. And then, written on the bottom, “good work.”

What I am hearing you say is that you don’t believe it is good
work and that you disagree with any or most of the findings.
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General MCCAFFREY. What you said was, you talked about, I
read Boyer’s memo, I read through it in the last 2 or 3 days. It is
a pretty balanced memo. It lays out his concerns about the study.

I think he correctly, to be honest, made the point that in their
analysis they wanted to support interdiction as having value to the
U.S. Drug Strategy, and don’t contaminate it by going after the
RAND study, and don't talk about its contributions in the interdic-
tion’s campaign to what I think is a dubious proposition, that inter-
diction, in the short run, would drive up costs, drive down use.

I don’t believe it. That is not what we are seeing on the streets.
And since I like the IDA attempt, they ought to focus, in my view—
I haven’t told them this; I am not telling them this—they ought to
focus on why your dollars that you are giving me this year for
interdiction payoff.

They ought to go find the payoffs, and it will be there. It will be
there in the increased retail costs. We are seeing thousands of
campesinos leave the coca fields in Peru and head into Lima. There
are payoffs to interdiction.

I just personally think it is nonsense to say I am going to go
down to Baltimore and find the crack prices are up and use is
down. If we get better interdiction and we start taking away two-
thirds of it instead of a third of it, I would suspect my conclusions
are incorrect. They are welcome to study anything they want.

Mr. ZELIFF. My hope would be that if someone comes to see me
and has some answers on interdiction, I think we all have to be
willilng to have an open mind, and I believe you said that you
would.

Just one last comment that is really troubling me. I have gotten
back from the recorder here—do you have a copy of the cable?

I believe Dr. Rivolo had indicated that going back, or I guess
while he was there, Admiral Kramek came out and told him cer-
tain things: That this was not to see the light of the day. And in
the staff vehicle on the ride back to the Pentagon, it was his under-
standing that, until further notice, none of this was to get out.

My problem here is that they have apparently gone from a meet-
ing and have come back with some rather dramatic differences of
opinion as to what happened. You have been pretty direct. But,
again, would you refer to this one statement from the recorder; and
second, who was in the room? Was it Captain Boyer and Admiral
Kramek, General McCaffrey? And did General McCaffrey go out to
meet with those folks, or is it all part of their imagination?

I guess that is the concern that I have here as I leave this room,
that we haven’t resolved apparently a major controversy of who
heard what, and I think it only has to do with, are we willing to
have an open mind, and are we willing to move forward?

General MCCAFFREY. Of course, I am not a politician. I am a sol-
dier now serving the Drug Policy Office. I am sympathetic to these
people leaving—I didn’t go out and talk to them. They didn't brief
me. They are good people. They come from a reputable institute.
They are going to have a study that contributes to the understand-
ing of the problem, but they probably left disappointed.

I didn’t like the study. I thought it was incorrect. I am an expert
on drug interdiction, but at some point their study will help form
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our thinking, and I absolutely commit myself to several viewpoints
and welcoming the direct involvement of Congress in this process.

Mr. ZELIFF. I think at this point we—I would like to say what
others have said in the past, you are our great hope. I have said
that to you directly, and I have said it to you publicly. I have made
a major commitment. I am leaving Congress, but I came back today
gor this hearing. I am totally committed to what we are trying to

0.

It goes way beyond personalities. No one single person has all of
the answers, and I think you would be the first to admit that.
While we have great respect for you, we are going to do everything
we can to make sure we are on track and that we don’t allow poli-
tics to derail this effort, because if we do, then you are getting into
my grandchildren and kids, and 1, like my good friend from Balti-
more, I don’t think we are going to allow it to happen.

Again, you are our great hope, and we are there. We have shown
as recently as in the last 3 days—strategic resources that you need
to do your job, but we have to somehow be willing to open up and
be willing to take information as it comes along, and reverse strate-
gies if we have to do that, and let the chips fall where they may.

Mr. Mica.

Mr. MicA. Mr. Chairman, since you opened this up, just one last
question for the general for the record.

General, did you—

Mr. ZELIFF. I didn’t open up for more questions. If you would like
to make a statement, that is pretty fair.

Mr. Mica. 1 just wonder if the general could respond if he did,
in fact, say to Admiral Kramek or to anyone else, that not a word
of this report is to get out?

General MCCAFFREY. No. And, in fact, I sent the report out all
over the country for review by scientific
Mr. MicA. That was sometime later.

General McCAFFREY. No, I don’t think so.

Mr. Mica. You did not say to anyone, “Not a word of this to any-
one’———

General MCCAFFREY. No.

Mr. ZELIFF. OK.

Mr. Cummings.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Just a brief statement, general.

I guess you already know this, but you have, in my opinion, the
most important job in this country. I just want to take a moment
to thank you. I have not known you long, but I am very, very im-
pressed. Your integrity speaks volumes. And I just want to encour-
age you to stay on your path. As a matter of fact, the very budget
that this committee has supported you shows that we do support
you and what you are trying to do.

Finally, let me say this, that the thing I guess I like about what
you are trying to do is, you are trying to hit this problem from sev-
eral different areas. And I believe very strongly in interdiction, I
really do, but I also believe very strongly in people who are ad-
dicted and trying to make them well.

We have got—my office has gotten hundreds of calls over the
course of this hearing saying, just speak up for us, we are trying
to get well, so we don’t have to—so there won’t be a problem, so
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for them, for all of them. I speak for them, and I thank you for tak-
ing them into consideration so they can get better. We only have
one life to live, and I guess that is, this is it. So I really appreciate
it for them.

Mr. ZELIFF. OK. .

Mr. Cummings, Mr. Mica, Mr. Hastert, Mr. Clinger, and on be-
half of myself, general, thank you very much. We appreciate very
much your testimony here today, and we wish you good luck in
what is a very tough assignment, probably the toughest in the
United States.

I ask unanimous consent to submit all questions into the record.

Without objection, so ordered.

We will move to the next panel.

1 would like to welcome Adm. Robert Kramek, the Commandant
of the U.S. Coast Guard, U.S. Interdiction Coordinator.

We appreciate your patience. It has been a rather long 2 or 3
hours, I believe.

If you would stand and raise your right hand.

[Witness sworn.]

Mr. ZeLiFF. If you could summarize perhaps your statement, and
we will obviously accept it.

STATEMENT OF ADM. ROBERT E. KRAMEK, COMMANDANT, U.S.
COAST GUARD, U.S. INTERDICTION COORDINATOR

Admiral KRAMEK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and distinguished
members of the subcommittee. I certainly welcome the opportunity
to discuss our interdiction program and any questions you might
have concerning the report by the Institute for Defense Analysis.

As Interdiction Coordinator, my responsibility is oversight and
coordination of interdiction efforts in the Western Hemisphere. I
have been involved with these counternarcotics operations for over
21 years.

When I first started in 1975, I was on a Coast Guard cutter, Gal-
veston, conducting Operation Buccaneer in the Caribbean and the
Bahamas. Much has changed in the last 21 years. Blatant landings
of marijuana and cocaine on our shores are not an everyday event.

In 1990 to 1992, I lead the effort in the transit zone, not only
for the Coast Guard, but at that time I was both Dr. Bennett’s
Interdiction Coordinator in the area and then Governor Martinez,
two previous Drug Czars before General McCaffrey. In 1994, I was
appointed by the President to be the Interdiction Coordinator, then
report to the third Drug Czar, Dr. Brown. I am very honored now
to be able to serve General McCaffrey in the same capacity.

Also in 1994, Presidential Decision Directive 14 was promulgated
zv}&ich did a number of things that are pertinent to our discussion
oday.

First, they appointed me as the Interdiction Coordinator, and
“coordinate” was the word used, not in command and control of all
the operations, but to coordinate the entire effort interdicting drugs
into the Western Hemisphere up to our shoreline.

I was also to see if all of the agencies involved in this endeavor

to carry out the strategy at that time had sufficient resources to
do the job.
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I was also tasked with making sure that they were deploying the
resources they had properly and in the most efficient manner.

And my fourth major task was to see if the strategy was working
and, if it wasn’t, to recommend any changes to that strategy.

I have done all four of those things for the last 2 years. As you
know, I have stood before this committee on one occasion before
and met with you on many occasions.

I am delighted now that we have a 1996 strategy. I am also de-
lighted that I was able to get all of the commanders and all the
agencies responsible for this effort that I described to you together
on at least five occasions in the last 2 years and get all of their
requirements for what needs to be done to make our strategy work.

The results of those requirements have been incorporated in the
1996 Strategy and were incorporated in the President’s supple-
mental budget to Congress in April 1996, this year, requesting re-
sources of about $250 million to further progress our interests,
mostly in the interdiction efforts.

I know it has been a long history of funding. I am delighted this
weekend that it appears that in the omnibus appropriations bill
that closed out this session of Congress, that much of those funds
have been provided.

My staff is still analyzing all of that to determine exactly in what
pot the moneys were provided, but it certainly looks like most of
the things that the President has asked the Congress for in support
of the 1996 strategy, as presented by General McCaffrey, will now
be provided commencing today, October 1. This is very, very impor-
tant, because right now there are major operations under way.

The newest.one, which commenced this morning, is to close off
all drug routes to and from Puerto Rico and the Virgin Islands, this
operation, called Frontier Shield, commenced at 10 a.m. this morn-
ing. Also, Laser Strike is under way, as you know, and Operation
Gateway by Customs. Steel Web is planned, and other major oper-
ations, anticipating that those funds would be provided and also
carried through next year in next year’s budget.

I think that over the last 2 years the administration has greatly
changed its policy in putting together the 1996 strategy and has
moved in a direction that has been greatly assisted by the findings
of this particular committee as well as Senator Hatch’s committee
in the Senate, on bringing the drug problem to a great national de-
bate again and making sure that we attack the problem.

Now, I will say that there is no panacea, no silver bullet. We all
know that. The source-nation strategy, for example, is not the com-
plete answer to interdiction, and interdiction is not the complete
answer to drug control. Our control strategy provides a balanced
approach, as General McCaffrey presented it.

As Interdiction Coordinator, I was cautiously optimistic about the
preliminary findings of the IDA report. My staff reviewed the first
draft of this study in April. They identified some problem areas.
They communicated those to the contractors in a letter which has
been sent to you in your request for information. Others I see have
made similar comments, and although I haven’t seen them all, I
am told IDA has produced additional drafts. The draft I commented
on at that time was draft No. 2.
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I considered at that time for it to be a work in progress. I did
brief, in May, General McCaffrey on that particular work in
progress. I took IDA with me to that briefing in hopes that they
may be able to give a full briefing. The briefing that I gave was
sufficient for the drug czar at that time, and it was a work in
progress. It had not been vetted by peer review. Previous to that,
I had taken it to the Interdiction Committee; TIC is the acronym
for that.

TIC advises me as the U.S. Interdiction Coordinator. It consists
of the Commissioner of Customs, the Administrator of DEA, the
Bureau of Narcotics and Law Enforcement, the J-3 at the Penta-
gon on the Joint Staff, the Head of the Border Patrol at INS, and
others as well. This review was given to TIC almost 2 months ago,
and that was based on draft No. 1. They advised that the data was
insufficient, it needed peer review, it needed more data points, and
we needed to tell IDA to continue on with their study, which is
what we did.

I would also like to tell you that before I answer any questions
that you may have, that IDA does a lot for the U.S. Interdiction
Coordinator which has not been reported here. This particular re-
port in question is one small piece of their work. Most of their work
is classified.

Barry Crane and others have probably told you that recently
they have been to Panama and all over the place. What they do for
me is, they provide me with information on where the smugglers
are going, where the maritime tracks are, where the air tracks are,
what is happening in the air bridge, hundreds and hundreds and
hundreds of pieces of information of tracking data.

The commanders use that information, which is all classified, it
is all based on intelligence, it is all based on sensor information,
to determine where we should put our emphasis on interdiction,
and that has been very, very successful.

All of their data is immediately turned over to the commanders
and used—and it is probably one of the most successful things and
gieces of intelligence we have used for interdiction in the last 5 or

years.

I would be delighted at future hearings in closed session, because
it is all classified, to show you how we use the predominance of
data that is provided almost on a weekly basis by IDA.

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my oral statement, and I would be
very happy to answer any questions that you have at this time.

Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you, admiral.

[The prepared statement of Admiral Kramek follows:]
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Good morning, Mr. Chairman and distinguished members of the subcommittee. |
welcome the opportunity to discuss our interdiction program and the study being
conducted by the Institute for Defense Analyses, entitled “An Empirical Examination of

Counterdrug Interdiction Program Effectiveness.”

As U. S. Interdiction Coordinator, my responsibility is oversight and coordination
of interdiction efforts in the Western Hemisphere. From that perspective, I am keenly
interested in any analysis of the effectiveness of interdiction programs and will limit my
comments to this area. I believe that our counterdrug program must be a balanced
approach, including strong components of prevention, treatment, law enforcement,
interdiction, and international programs. The loss of appropriate emphasis on any one of
these components would seriously impact our overall effort. Our National Drug Control
Strategy represents this kind of a comprehensive approach and interdiction is a single,

vital component of the whole.

We have come a long way from the days of the mid-eighties when drug traffickers
delivered their cargo directly to the beaches of Florida, and escalating drug-related
violence forced the problem into national prominence. But there is still much ground to
cover. I would like to briefly talk about how our approach to protecting our borders from
the scourge of illegal drugs has evolved over the years and how it must continue to evolve

to counter the ever-changing threat.
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Interdiction successes have forced drug traffickers to change their routes and
become more sophisticated in their operations, increasing both their transportation costs
and their risk of apprehension. Traffickers once were able to fly their drugs directly from
Colombia to small islands in the Bahamas and then on to air drop sites in Florida and our
coastal waters. In response we developed interdiction capabilities in the Caribbean.
Through the combined efforts of the Coast Guard, Customs, DEA, DOD, and cooperating
governments in the Caribbean, we have forced narco-trafficking aircraft away from the
direct Central Caribbean approach to the United States. As a result of this success we
have seen a shift in trafficker patterns. The new challenge comes from traffickers who
approach the United States indirectly through the Eastern Caribbean, the Mexico/Central
America corridor, and the Eastern Pacific; or by hiding their drugs in commercial cargo
shipments. Most recently we have even seen the desperate measure of an attempted non-
stop drug flight from Colombia to Canada. Through the combined and coordinated
efforts of U. S. and Canadian agencies that flight ended in the seizure of 510 kilos of

cocaine, one aircraft, three vehicles, two boats, and the arrest of six drug smugglers.

We must maintain pressure on drug shipping routes to reduce the supply of drugs
in our country and signal our political will. In 1994 we began a shift of emphasis among
interdiction priorities from the transit zone to the source countries where drugs are
produced. At this moment there are over 300 U. S. military and law enforcement
personnel deployed to South America participating in Operation Laser Strike, supporting
our allies with counterdrug training, intelligence collection, and sophisticated detection

and monitoring equipment. The benefits of this presence can be seen in the destruction of
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cocaine labs, the seizure of drugs ready for smuggling, as well as the chemicals used to

produce them, the eradication of coca crops, and in the arrest of drug cartel leaders.

Our source country strategy is starting to work but it is not a panacea. We must
and will maintain pressure on established transit routes and on new routes as they emerge.
To increase the cost-effectiveness of transit zone interdiction we have increased our
reliance on intelligence cueing. This allows us to conserve resources by focusing on
known or probable smuggling events. The interdiction process is much more efficient
when we can focus on a specific flight, a specific fishing boat, or a specific shipping
container. As we apply pressure on established smuggling routes new routes will emerge
and smugglers will attempt to reopen old routes. Here again, effective intelligence will

help us to stay one step ahead of the challenge.

I must stress again that just as our source nation strategy is not the complete
answer to interdiction, interdiction is not the complete answer to drug control. Our
National Drug Control Strategy provides a multi-pronged, balanced approach that will
reduce the demand for and supply of illegal drugs. When there is no longer a demand for
illegal drugs it will no longer be profitable to smuggle them across our borders. The
reduction of demand is a long term process that must be given time to become effective.
While this process unfolds we must continue to shield our borders and send an

unmistakable signal of our determination through a robust and flexible program of

interdiction.
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As the Interdiction Coordinator I am made cautiously optimistic by the
preliminary ﬁndipgs of the IDA report which show that historically, specific major
interdiction events have been closely correlated to shifts in domestic drug prices,
diminished drug purity, and decreased drug use in the United States. At the same time,
however, I feel we must subject IDA’s findings to the same critical review that any other
scientific report would receive prior to acceptance. My staff reviewed the first draft of
this study in April. They identified some problem areas, and they communicated those to
the contractor. Others have made similar comments, and, although I haven’t seen them, [
am told that IDA has produced additional drafis that have refined the research. I consider

this to be a work in progress, and I look forward to seeing the results of the final product.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my prepared remarks. Thank you for the
opportunity to appear before this distinguished committee. I would be happy to answer

any questions you may have.
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Mr. ZeLirr. 1 would like to start out by saying that I have a
great deal of respect for you and the uniform you wear, and I think
you are probably one the finest people in our military. I don’t pass
that on lightly, but I appreciate the hard work that you do, and you
have been very responsive to this subcommittee.

I think you can understand why we are a little concerned when
we have conflicting testimony under oath. It is not a big deal if we
can just kind of solve it and talk about interdiction, talk about
some of the other great things that you are doing, things that you
initiated today. But it does bother me a lot when we have people
like IDA, that are well-respected within the Pentagon, that do
studies for you and others, and we can’t seem to get whatever real-
ly happened there out.

This is a report that took 18 months to develop. It has now taken
7 months since then, and is still not final. I can’t believe the proc-
ess that we go through when we keep sending it back and changing
it, and, you know, according to, I guess, the way you want it to
come out.

I don’t know, but you have heard the testimony we had this
morning, and for a person who basically comes from the business
community like me, you wonder if we are getting good bang for our
buck. By the time it gets revised and gets out, how useful can the
information be?

And, frankly, our big concern here is that, were we gypped out
of a resource? In putting the 1997 funding strategy together, are
we going down the same old road, or are we willing to listen and
open up our minds to the fact that there are some changes?

I know you are, but what is very discouraging, frankly, is that
people swore under oath that, you know, they went to a briefing
that never occurred. You, in turn, were asked to do the briefing,
and then you came out and had to apologize, according to their
words, for the fact that they werent going to be briefing General
McCaffrey. You appeared to be—this is not my words, it is their
words—upset in the process of explaining to them that the briefing
wasn’t going to take place; and the fact you also said this was not
to see the light of day.

I don’t know whether—what motivation they have for lying, or
whether they did, in fact, lie, or maybe they misinterpreted your
comments. Maybe you can clarify that a little bit for us.

Admiral KRaMEK. I would be delighted to.

I have been in the forces for 39 years. I don’t ever recall lying,
and I certainly would not enjoy being accused of ever doing that.

Mr. ZELIFF. 1 hope you don’t take this—I am not accusing any-
body, I am just trying to settle with—putting it together.

Admiral KrRAMEK. I think I can clarify a lot of this for you. I was
there. I was in the briefing. I was the one that told IDA not to give
the briefing the next day. I can explain all of that to you and why
that was so.

First of all, IDA had been providing very useful data for me. As
you said, the Department of Defense had the funds for that, but
I am to coordinate all of these 32 different agencies.

This report was not information we would normally use. I use
track data. I use the intelligence data. I put down all of their
tracks and look at that and say, we know what to do about that,
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we know how to shut those tracks down, we know how to stop the
supply of coca. That was Green Clover, now Operation Laser
Strike.

This report that they put together first came to my attention be-
cause they gave me an oral brief of data that they were finding on
major operations that, in their opinion, had caused an effect on
price, impurity, and demand in December, and they said they
would be ready to make a better presentation in January. And on
January 11, IDA—January 11, 1996, IDA gave me a brief that
showed some of the graphs that are in the current version of their
report, some very similar to that. That was very, very dramatic
data.

My entire USIC staff consists of five people. I don’t have any an-
alysts or any assistants that could analyze that, but I have a very,
very experienced committee, the Interdiction Committee, TIC, that
I explained to you before, which advised me, and I called the first
and only emergency meeting of TIC that I ever knew of. They re-
sponded and, on January 17, met in my briefing room in Coast
Guard headquarters, where I presented the IDA report and all of
those charts to TIC.

Their total consensus of opinion was, the data was preliminary.
There were lots of questions by DEA that really reflected what was
going on. There were only a couple of data points on Operation
grrfgen Clover, which had terminated on December 15, just 1 month

efore.

We were anxious to get on and go to sustained operations to see
if, in fact, this data would continue to show the trends that IDA
predicted, and the Department of Defense representatives who con-
tracted for the report had not given it any review. This was pre-
liminary data, preliminary information.

Mr. ZELIFF. Did you ever say at the end of this meeting, “Not a
word of this was to get out™?

Admiral KRAMEK. That was in January. In April, I was given
draft No. 2 on April 4. I then made a written comment to Gary
Boyer, my executive director, we provided you that information,
mage a written critique of that particular report that IDA put to-
gether.

The next month, I held a U.S. Interdiction Coordinator Joint
Staff planning conference at the Pentagon where all the command-
ers came into town. On the first day of that conference, IDA briefed
that report to all the commanders. That was the same day that I
briefed—that was the morning. In the afternoon, it was my first
briefing to the new drug czar.

Once every other month, I sit down with General McCaffrey and
give him a briefing status report of everything that is going on in
the interdiction community. As part of that briefing, one item of
perhaps eight or nine that I briefed him on was the status of the
IDA report. I told him I had the analysts out in his outer lobby if
he had the time to receive the full report. He said, will you brief
me now, tell me what this report is about? I gave him a quick brief-
ing. He said, does it have peer review? I said no. I told him that
I had vetted the same briefing through the interdiction committee.
They had the exact same opinion of the report as he did. He said
it needed peer review, we needed to have peer review, and he
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didn’t want to receive the full report until it was a final report de-
livered to the sponsoring Department of Defense and it had gotten
proper peer review.

I then left and went out into the hallway. On the way out, I told
Barry Crane, I am very sorry you won't be able to present this
today, it is preliminary, it is not ready for prime time, I think I
told him, and it needs to be reviewed.

Mr. ZELIFF. Did you or did you not say that not a word of this
was to get out?

Admiral KRaMEK. No; what I told him was the USIC command-
ers conference that I hold on a quarterly basis is always a 2-day
meeting. First day, the working groups meet together, and the sec-
ond day, the principals meet.

Barry Crane’s group had already presented this information to
the working group. I told him I did not want the conclusions of the
report presented to the principals the next day because it was pre-
liminary, it wasn’t approved, TIC didn't agree with it, the drug czar
didn’t agree with the draft, and it hadn’t had peer review. He could
present all the data, he would present the curves, he would present
the information, but he wasn’t to present any of the conclusions
and comments about other studies in other reports because it
hadn’t been vetted, hadn’t gotten any review. So I instructed them
not to present that report and their conclusions to the principals.

It was a meeting that I prepared the agenda for. They are sup-
posed to support me in information and tracking data, which they
did. They did their normal briefing, presented their normal infor-
mation, but I did not want the conclusions of that report briefed
to those principals because it was—as far as I was concerned, it
hadn’t been verified, and it was inconclusive. I don’t brief my staff
and principals at meetings on things that we haven’t verified that
are factual yet.

Mr. ZeLiFr. If this report was so badly put together and so mis-
informing and, according to you and also General McCaffrey, that
it was not good data, good research——

Admiral KrRaMEK. 1 wouldn't say it was bad data, bad research,
or poorly put together. I would say it had not been completed, it
was draft No. 2. I think they appeared before you today with draft
No. 4, which is still a draft. It hadn’t been accepted. It hadn’t been
completely reviewed.

Mr. ZeLIFF. Do you agree with the basic conclusions then relative
to the RAND study and also with basic conclusions on interdiction?

Admiral KraMEK. I don’t agree with any one report, whether it
be the RAND study or the IDA report, that supports one notion
that there is a major silver bullet that will help our drug problem
is a valid report.

I think we have to take into account all of the information avail-
able and have a balanced approach on treatment, prevention, inter-
diction, source country programs. They all have to be worked con-
currently, and it takes a tremendous bipartisan effort to make that
happen, and that will be the only thing that will give the American
people the will to win, and we will be able to make some progress.

Mr. ZELIFF. On the RAND data specifically, because that was
contained in the report, do you agree or not agree with criticism
of the RAND data?



121

Admiral KRAMEK. My comments to IDA are that I neither agreed
nor disagreed. Rather, I thought it was inappropriate for them and
I, as Interdiction Coordinator, to report on a RAND report which
was a demand side report, and it appeared to me they were trying
to enhance their own report. Rather, I directed them to concentrate
on interdiction data and report on that, and if that was valid and
withstood peer review, whatever they put forth would stand on its
own two feet.

I thought it was inappropriate in a report to me to comment on
demand data. I am a supply side manager on this war on drugs.
I am the Interdiction Coordinator, and, to me, the information they
were trying to present on RAND data didn’t belong in an interdic-
tion report to me.

Mr. ZeLirr. Captain Boyer, I guess, independently of you, wrote
and said, good work on this report.

Admiral KrRaAMEK. He recommended they take that information
out. This is good work, and I would agree, I think they have done
a lot of work. They have taken a lot of data, 30,000 data points.
They figured out how to smooth it and present it. They must have
done a good job.

We have been holding hearings on this. Certainly this—we have
given this report more attention than any other report recently
that has been put out by any other analyst. It is certainly con-
troversial.

Mr. ZeLiFF. My personal conclusion to this, before I turn it over
to Mr. Mica, I think we probably-——I mean, Mr. Cummings.

Mr. CuMMINGS. I am still here.

Mr. Zerirr. We will live through this. I guess my conclusion
would be, maybe we are doing too many reports and too many
studies, and we need people like yourself who basically know what
we need to do to win the war on drugs, who, frankly, in terms of
interdiction, you previously testified before this subcommittee you
have been pretty much right on.

I guess where we go from here, if in the final analysis we start
putting more money into interdiction and source country programs
and stop cutting them to the bone, and we take a realistic review
of whether treatment is really working or whether it isn’t, if we re-
turn some of those assets we took away in 1992 and 1993 when we
really were doing some good things, then I guess it doesn’t matter
whether people heard the wrong thing outside the room or what-
ever. I think the important thing is, we move on and start winning
the war on drugs. That is what I really care about. And you have
done some really great things.

I just wish that somehow, you know, we had a little bit of discus-
sions, some more information as they were putting the appropria-
tions bills together. We probably would have given you more assets.
I think we feel a little bit more confident that we would get a bet-
ter bang for the buck.

With that, I will turn it over to my good friend, Mr. Cummings.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Thank you very much.

I, too, share the feelings of our chairman with regard to your in-
tegrity, and your efforts. One of the most moving days of my life
was one of my first hearings here, was when you and some of your
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subordinates came in and talked about your efforts and what you
had to do in the waters and various oceans and whatever.

And I went back to my community, and they were very skeptical
about what was being done. When I told them about some of the
stories you told and your efforts and putting your lives on the line,
they were very moved. I want you to continue doing what you are
doing.

Let me ask you just a few questions because—and I want to com-
ment on another thing. The word “liar” is a very, very serious
word, in my estimation. As a criminal lawyer for 20 years, a trial
lawyer, that is not some word that I use lightly. I want you to un-
derstand my questions.

I have not heard anybody lie today. I mean—and I have a listen-
ing ear for inconsistencies. I think basically what we had was some
people that even admitted there was some conjecture, that they
had opinions, things they didn’t even hear. They heard loud voices
in a room, that kind of thing. That is not enough to accuse anybody
publicly on C~SPAN of lying. I have a major problem with that be-
cause people’s reputations are most important.

Having said that, let me ask you this: Did General McCaffrey at
any time, to your knowledge, ever try to thwart this effort to get
this report out? Did you get that impression, or do you know that?

Admiral KRAMEK. No; he did not. He did not agree with the fun-
damental premise of the report, but he knew that it hadn’t gotten
peer review, and he ordered that peer review be obtained for it,
which was done, and it was done, and all the results of that—most
of the results of that have been submitted to this committee.

Mr. CUMMINGS. One of the things that you said that caught me
off guard, and 1 have to ask you about this, you talk about this
TIC—

Admiral KRAMEK. It is a committee headed up by the Commis-
sioner of Customs and for years had been co-chaired by the com-
mandant of the Coast Guard. It has two functions. First, it reports
border interdiction philosophy and strategy to the drug czar. It re-
ports directly to ONDCP. And its second function is, it acts as coor-
dinator of the different issues that come up in interdiction that I
can’t coordinate and solve by myself. These are the bosses, if you
will, of almost all of the agencies who are involved in interdiction.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Would you say these people more or less have be-
come experts over time with regard to interdiction?

Admiral KRAMEK. It is the Commissioner of the Customs and Ad-
ministrator of the DEA.

. Mr. CuMMINGS. They have a great interest in interdiction; is that
correct?

Admiral KRAMEK. That is their job, and they advise me, and I
brought this report to them 2 months before I brought it to the
drug czar.

Mr. CUMMINGS. You are going a little fast for me. You presented
this report before it even got to the czar; is that right?

Admiral KRaMEK. Over 2 months before it got to him.

Mr. CUMMINGS. And they had the same opinion, it needed some
peer review?

Admiral KRAMEK. Stronger than that. They said the report was
incomplete, there weren’t enough data points; it needed a lot of
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work. They invited the analyst to get together with their agencies.
They needed more data from Health and Human Services, and I
tried to get that for him. It needed a lot of work.

Mr. CUMMINGS. By the time you got to the drug czar, you had
already had some opinions from TIC?

Admiral KRAMEK. Opinions from the top interdiction coordinator
administrators——

Mr. CUMMINGS. I am curious, did you already talk to TIC and
this is what they said, or did you go and present your information?

Admiral KrRaMEK. TIC’s opinion was—but this was something he
had to know was a work in progress, because it presented data that
hadn't been compared before. In particular, it was focusing on
Green Clover, which was an operation that General McCaffrey read
at SOUTHCOM.

Mr. CUMMINGS. You told the drug czar that?

Admiral KRAMEK. Oh, yes, I showed him that exactly.

Mr. CUMMINGS. Would it have surprised you if the drug czar’s de-
cision had differed from TIC? In other words, if you said all of this
to the drug czar and the drug czar said, “I don’t care about what
TIC says, let's get this out immediately,” would that have surprised
you?

Admiral KrRAMEK. I think what would have surprised me is if he
had totally gone against what the interdiction committee was rec-
ommending, which was peer review, that the report wasn’t ready
to kée published and that the data hadn’t been sufficiently devel-
oped.

Mr. CUMMINGS. There has been a lot made of this whole line of
debate. Did the drug czar ever say to you, “I don't ever want this
to see the light of day?”

Admiral KrRaMEK. No, that was never said.

Mr. CUMMINGS. I don’t have anything else.

Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you, Mr. Cummings.

Mr. Mica.

Mr. Mica. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Did General McCaffrey say to you, “Not a word of this report is
to get out”?

Admiral KRAMEK. I can’t hear you, sir.

Mr. Mica. Did General McCaffrey say that not a word of this was
to get out?

Admiral KRAMEK. No, he never said that.

Mr. MicA. In the March meeting?

Admtiral KRAMEK. No; it was May, May 7, May 8. That is when
we met.

Mr. MicA. Was there a meeting in March?

Admiral KRAMEK. No. There was only a meeting in May, and I
presented the draft findings of the report, that IDA was waiting in
his office to give him a full briefing on May 8.

Mr. MicA. You did not meet with General McCaffrey?

Mr. KrRAMEK. I did not present the IDA report to him in March,
not that I recall. I believe it was May 8.

Mr. MicA. The document we have says the draft final, May 1996.
Is this the report? Are you sure about that now?

Now, when you were driving—you were driving back, did you
make a comment or did one of your assistants make a comment
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that not a word of this report is to get out after meeting with the
general?

Admiral KRAMEK. I never made that comment. I did not drive
back with them, so I wouldn’t know if anyone made that comment
or who it was.

Mr. MicA. But it wasn’t you, and you didn’t hear that remark
made in the room when you spent time with the general?

Admiral KRAMEK. No. In fact, what I specifically told IDA was
that they were not to present the conclusions of the report the next
day to the principals’ group at the Pentagon, the meeting that I
had called of all of these commanders, because the data was still
inconclusive and had to have peer review, so I told him not to
present it.

Mr. MicA. You had called that meeting, and they were prepared
to have that meeting that next day, right, and hear that report?

Admiral KRAMEK. That is correct.

Mr. MicA. Before that, you had decided to have that meeting,
present that report, what influenced you not to—to change your
mind and suddenly not have that meeting?

Admiral KRAMEK. Two things influenced me. The first thing that
influenced me was that the interdiction committee still had not
changed their mind, felt the report had not been vetted. And I pre-
sented the preliminary, my version of it, to General McCaffrey. He
disagreed with it and asked me—

Mr. Mica. He influenced that decision then, somewhat. If you
hadn’t met with him, you would have been presenting that report;
right?

Admiral KRaAMEK. I am not sure that I would have.

Mr. Mica. The meeting would have gone on without you?

Admiral KRAMEK. What meeting is that?

Mr. MicA. The meeting you said you canceled the next day.

Admiral KRAMEK. The meeting was the second day of a 2-day
conference. Of the 8 hours of that meeting, it was a one-half-hour
presentation of an 8-hour meeting.

Mr. Mica. This report wasn't vetted. Did you also testify you first
presented this report in January 19967

Admiral KRaMEK. To the TIC, that is correct, draft 1.

Mr. MicA. But it hadn’t been vetted, and you don’t remember a
meeting in March, right, after he took over as drug czar, McCaffrey
took over as drug czar and presented——

Admiral KRAMEK. I think it was in May when I first presented
it to him.

Mr. Mica. You don’t remember anyone making those comments.
Were you aware of any efforts by the drug czar’s office to keep this
report from coming to Congress?

Admiral KRAMEK. None.

Mr. Mica. Did you see any memos that said this should not be
in any way, any of this information, unleashed to Congress?

Admiral KRaMEK. No. I don’t recall.

Mr. MicA. Did you produce any memos that said that this report
should not be released in any fashion?

Admiral KRAMEK. The only thing I can recall is that the report
had not been completed, it was still a draft; and before we accepted
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its conclusions, we needed it to be a final report approved from the
contractor, by the sponsor, who was DOD.

Mr. Mica. Haven’t you been concerned for some time that the
cutting of the drug interdiction program was a policy of failure, and
didn’t you see results in your responsibility, your areas of respon-
sibility in the Coast Guard, in and around Puerto Rico, for exam-
ple, dramatic drug increases and——

Admiral KRAMEK. Yes, I did.

Mr. MicA. Did you take action? Didn’t you write Lee Brown, the
drug czar in 1994, and express your alarm and also ask for a meet-
ing with the President and the National Security Advisor because
you thought it was getting so serious that in fact—let me read—
“priority of counternarcotrafficking is a threat to the national secu-
rity of the United States?”

Did you express that concern to the drug—the former drug czar?

Admiral KRAMEK. I absolutely did, but I would like to explain in
what context it was expressed, because I think it was a very impor-
tant Presidential decision.

Directive 14, that I explained to you, which gave the four pri-
mary objectives to achieve, also spoke to a gradual change in strat-
egy. It was called a gradual shift from interdiction in the transit
zone to source country.

The IDA report focuses on the effect of source country interdic-
tion—if you will, things like disrupting the air bridge and its poten-
tial effect, in their view, on price, purity, and demand.

What had not taken place was the shift. The President’s strategy
had not been implemented either by the agencies or by the Con-
gress. Rather, interdiction resources had been reduced, as shown
on curves previously at this hearing, and resources not put into
source country programs. In fact, source country programs had
been reduced at the same time.

So the memo I wrote to Dr. Brown, which you cite, was that we
should not continue to reduce interdiction resources; rather, we
should bring them back up to prior years’ levels until the source
country’s strategy was effective and investments were made in the
source countries, which I believe is an effective strategy.

So what had happened was, a gradual shift didn’t take place. We
cut interdiction, didn’t make the investment in the source strategy,
and I saw that as problematic and advised the drug czar of that.

Mr. MicA. You knew we were headed for disaster, then?

Admiral KrRAMEK. I wouldn’t say “disaster,” but it was in the
wrong direction.

Mr. MicA. Let me ask you, too, about the cocaine. It declined
from a peak of 70,000 kilograms in 1992 to 37,000 kilograms in
1995; is that correct?

Admiral KRAMEK. That is correct.

Mr. MicA. What is the Coast Guard’s responsibility in regard to
Puerto Rico? Isn’t it to guard the waters around Puerto Rico?

Admiral KRAMEK. Our responsibility in Puerto Rico is the same
as it is everywhere in the maritime area; the Coast Guard is the
lead agency for interdicting drugs in the maritime area.

Mr. MicA. Hadn’t your resources been dramatically cut by Con-
gress? And I have the amounts of—-
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Admiral KraMEK. By approximately 40 to 50 percent over the
last 4 years.

Mr. Mica. Forty to fifty percent, and this was from 1993 to 1995.

Admiral KRAMEK. Basically, from probably 1991 or 1992 to 1995;
that is correct.

Mr. Mica. 1 have 1992 to 1995, when the other party controlled
the Congress and made those decisions, and what you announced
this morning was the resumption of your program in Puerto Rico.
And isnt it true that this subcommittee-~the chairman took our
subcommittee to Puerto Rico to examine this problem?

Admiral KRaAMEK. You held a hearing based on a GAO study that
indicated 28 percent of narcotics, particularly cocaine, came
through the Puerto Rico area of responsibility. This spring, I testi-
fied at that hearing. Subsequently, the chairman held a field hear-
ing in Puerto Rico.

Mr. Mica. Wasn't the conclusion that there was a serious prob-
lem there?

Mr. KRAMEK. I was very happy that the committee paid attention
to the GAO study and held the field hearing; I thought it was ex-
cellent. But I would point out that I had made Puerto Rico a major
issue to the drug czar almost a year ago——

Mr. MICA. And nothing was done.

Admiral KRAMEK. I had pointed that out to General McCaffrey
the first time I met with him, and the supplemental appropriation
that the President sent to Congress in April requested funds for
the Coast Guard to do the Puerto Rican operations. I believe that
f\gvas about the same time you were holding the hearings, if not be-
ore.

I think we are all on the same wavelength, but what you have
done has certainly helped.

Mr. MicA. General McCaffrey said he was afraid the report
would be throwing him a bouquet. I was concerned that the report
would be throwing him a bomb.

Admiral KRaMEK. The GAO report, that is?

Mr. Mica. No; the IDA report. It reported more concentration on
interdiction and source depression of the drug trade.

Admiral KRAMEK. There is no question, and I have testified be-
fore this committee before, that we were short of resources to do
interdiction in the transit zone, short of resources to do interdiction
and finance source country programs. I think, in over 10 hearings,
you have created a public record, and I applaud this particular
committee and its oversight in doing that, for showing that we
need to do more to accomplish goals No. 4 and 5 of the strategy.

I will say that I recently, the first week in August, got all of the
commanders together again in the Pentagon for 2 days. I had them
review the new 1996 strategy General McCaffrey has presented to
this committee. I asked them what they—their major issues were
in not being able to implement that strategy. Approximately one-
third of those issues were resource-related issues, all of which were
requested in the President’s supplemental request in April, and I
believe now, all of which you financed at the conclusion of this last
week’s omnibus appropriations bill.

Mr. MicA. I will repeat one more time: You did not hear General
McCaffrey say that not a word of this report was to get out?
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Admiral KraMEK. No, he never said that, to my knowledge.

Mr. MicA. Mr. Chairman, it may be necessary to refer a matter
of conflict that we have heard before our investigations—direct con-
flict in testimony, to the Justice Department. And I would like to
consult with staff and with you on this matter. And I think that
it should be further explored and it should be further considered
by our subcommittee.

Mr. ZeLIFF. I will take that under advisement.

Your time has expired.

Admiral, I showed this to General McCaffrey, but let me just
point out—and you are familiar with these numbers, I am sure:
Interdiction efforts, we showed $2 billion in 1991; $1.9 million in
1992; $1.5 million in 1993; $1.3 million in 1994; $1.2 million in
1995; $1.13 million in 1996.

1 also referred to a U.S. interdiction coordinator memorandum of
1995 that you wrote in June, listing all the assets that were pulled
out of the drug war.

And I only have one motivation here and the motivation is,
where are we going? You know, we have discussed that on several
occasions, what has happened since 1992 in terms of interdiction—
where we have had a success, where we are going, what we need.

We have made some changes. You are fairly familiar with the re-
sources we put in the current budget for 1997. How do you feel
about that?

Admiral KRAMEK. I think we are going in the right direction.

Mr. ZELIFF. Is there a stop sign 100 yards out? Have we done
enough, or are we winning this thing?

I have been at a couple of Coast Guard functions as well as a
lot of functions around, and I ask people, are we winning the drug
war? and I don’t see any hands go up.

Tell me from your heart, where are we going and what is it going
to take and are we doing enough?

Admiral KrRAMEK. If you would call it a war, we are winning the
war on drugs. I have to look at——

Mr. ZELIFF. Why wouldn’t we call it a war?

Admiral KRAMEK. Some people don’t like to call it a war. I will
call it a war, because I thinﬁ it is.

We need a couple of elements to win. I think we are winning,
when you take a look over the last 10 years, when I take a look
at the amount, overall, in the population that drug use has gone
down and what has happened in the United States. I still think it
is a major problem, No. 1 or 2 on the list with the American people.

I think most of our major crime is—at least 60 percent of it is
directly related to drug abuse. I think that General McCaffrey—in
fact, I know—is putting us back on track with a balanced approach
that we have to do all of these things concurrently—treatment, pre-
vention, core-country programs, interdiction.

I feel we are short in interdiction. It is only 9 or 10 percent of
the total budget; I have testified before it needs to be probably
around 13 or 14 percent. I think the President’s supplemental re-
flects that and your record shows that, and I think we are headed
in the right direction.

The action Congress took on an appropriations bill this year is
in the right direction, and I am hopeful that when the agencies
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analyze what took place in Congress and as they are preparing
their 1998 budgets, that they will ask for the remainder that is
necessary to have a robust interdiction and source-country program
to complement our treatment and prevention and education pro-
gram.

Mr. ZeLiFF. How much more is necessary?

Admiral KRAMEK. As of April of this year, probably $250 to $350
million was necessary. The President’s supplemental requested
$250 million. I am not sure how much Congress appropriated this
weekend, because my staff is still sorting that out because it came
in many different accounts. But I think we are getting very close,
Mr. Chairman,.

Mr. ZeLIFF. And you feel that with that number, that brings us
up to 13 or 14 percent?

Admiral KrRaMEK. 1 think it should bring us close to 13 percent
ag a portion of the total pie. I have not had a chance to analyze
that.

Should we go back to the $3 billion or whatever the top chart
was in 19927 No. At that particular time, those numbers are a lit-
tle bit skewed. We were buying equipment; we were buying sen-
sors; we were buying intelligence systems. We don’t have
OPTEMPO, ship time, plane time. The Coast Guard has been re-
duced by 4,000 people and $400 million a year over the last 3 years
in order to meet our balanced budget requirements.

Mr. ZELIFF. 1 think, though, with all due respect, sir, that we do
have to balance our budget, but we are putting assets and putting
priorities on the drug war in spite of that.

Admiral KRAMEK. We are certainly trying to do both, as you
know, Mr. Chairman. I think both can be done. We made some
major adjustments.

You asked me what it would take. It will take those assets, those
resources; but more than that, it will take a bipartisan effort to
keep this in front of the American people, because it is going to
take all of us together on educating our children, making it a na-
tional priority, providing the resources to the agencies, whether it
is education, prevention, interdiction, or source country, and one
heck of a lot of cooperation by our foreign partners.

You cannot accomplish source-country programs without total co-
operation with Peru, Bolivia, Colombia, and Venezuela. You were
there; I was there.

One thing you haven’t talked about that is most important when
you talk about all of this IDA data, the reason we disrupted the
air bridge wasn’t IDA data. IDA certainly gave us all the air tracks
in that particular area.

It was clear that by disrupting that bridge it would drive the
price of coca paste—60 percent of all the coca leaves in the world
are grown in Peru; 80 percent of all the cocaine that comes to the
United States comes from those coca leaves that gets transported
to Colombia for processing. If we could disrupt that, it would drive
the price of coca leaves below normal crops like pineapples, ba-
nanas, and soybeans.

And that's exactly what President Fujimori needed to develop an
alternative crop program. That transpired, as you know—you prob-
ably met with him, too, and he probably told you the same thing.
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We achieved that with Operation Laser Strike at this particular
time.

Mr. ZELIFF. Wasnt there—weren't we feuding with President
Fujimori over a period of maybe 2 years and didn’t we finally agree
to support that policy and weren’t there some problems prior to the
air bridge?

Admiral KRAMEK. Well, there were problems prior to the air
bridge because he was at war with Ecuador, No. 1, and some of the
equipment that he would need to prosecute his end on the war on
drugs, there was some thoughts that he might have to be—using
it for military needs, and all of those other State Department-relat-
ed policies which come into play.

I think we have a pretty clear path on what Peru is doing now
in cooperation with the United States to shut the air bridge down.

Mr. ZELIFF. Mr. Mica.

Mr. Mica. Mr. Chairman, just a couple of closing comments.
First, I want to thank you for holding this hearing. I think it’s im-
portant that we look at this whole question of success of interdic-
tion, of trying to attack the narcotics problem and trafficking and
source countries and transit zones and other questions that have
been raised here.

I am still very concerned and very alarmed that, in fact, that this
subcommittee that deals with oversight on this issue that has been
working so closely with these agencies, did not get a copy of this
report. I am even more concerned that this report was still—was
originally vetted in January.

I am very concerned that the report has been massaged to death,
that—and it was kept from us during a critical period when we
were making decisions on the direction of policy, again in a time
of limited resources, with our taxpayers footing the bill, and with
seeing the results of a disastrous policy on our streets and with our
children.

So I thank you for holding the hearing. I regret that I don’t think
we have gotten the whole story, the rest of the story, as Paul Har-
vey says, and I think we need to look at this and we also need to
keep these folks on track.

But I thank you, as our last hearing probably together at least
in Washington, for your tremendous leadership, what you have
done, your personal sacrifices and your commitment to do this at
tremendous personal cost to yourself and your family. But you
have—you are responsible for getting this moving, and I am dis-
mayed again, by what I have seen here today.

Thank you so much.

Mr. ZeLiFr. Thank you.

And I think it has been very much of a group effort with a whole
bunch of people getting it back on track.

I guess my last question, admiral, is how do you judge success?
How do you figure out whether we are on the right track, in terms
of interdiction? Do you have quantifiable goals? And maybe just
kind of—you know, do you have a lot of assets at your disposal?

Admiral KRaMEK. The total measure of success, to me, is only
one measurement that needs to take place, and to look at our over-
all population and as a combination of all the programs that we
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have mentioned, including interdiction, the measure of success
would be if drug use in the United States declines.

If drug use in the United States doesn’t decline through all of the
populations, not just our children, but the casual users and dif-
ferent elements of our population, then the entire program is not
successful,

Mr. ZELIFF. I thank you very much.

1 appreciate your testimony today and again to your commitment
to your country and not only in the drug war but in your total com-
mitment. Again, my comments to you earlier still stand. I have tre-
mendous respect for you and the uniform you wear, and I think
you are one of our great assets, and I wish you well.

Admiral KRAMEK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. ZeELIFF. We are going to combine the last two panels, if we
can. I will just introduce as those folks come forward. I would like
to welcome Dr. Tom Snitch.

Dr. Snitch is currently president of Little Falls Associates, Inc.,
and director of Federal research programs for Golden Gate Univer-
sity. Formerly he was a senior methodology expert at the National
Academy of Sciences.

Dr. Snitch, we thank you for being here today.

At this point, I would also like to welcome Dr. Peter Reuter—
Reuter.

Mr. REUTER. Reuter.

Mr. ZELIFF. Dr. Reuter is a professor at the University of Mary-
land School of Public Affairs. Formerly he served as co-director of
the Drug Policy Research Center at the RAND Corp.

Dr. Reuter, thank you for being here today.

Mr. REUTER. Thank you.

Mr. ZELIFF. Why don’t we start with you, Dr. Snitch.

If you would stand, I need to swear you in, if you would.

[Witnesses sworn.]

Mr. ZeLiFF. If you would like to condense your testimony, if you
would, and the balance of your written testimony will certainly be
accepted for the record.

STATEMENTS OF THOMAS H. SNITCH, PH.D., PRESIDENT, LIT-
TLE FALLS ASSOCIATES, INC.; AND PETER REUTER, PH.D,,
PROFESSOR, UNIVERSITY OF MARYLAND

Mr. SnrtcH. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I only want to make a few quick points here.

It has been, No. 1, a rather long day and, No. 2-—

Mr. ZELIFF. It has been an interesting day, though; hasn't it?

Mr. SNITCH. Very interesting. And even more important, in my
terms, I am very anxious to find out what the Baltimore Orioles
are doing since they started 2 hours ago and the game should just
abé)ut be over by now. So I would like to see what the Orioles did
today.

Your task to me was to examine the methodological soundness
and basically cite to the veracity of the IDA study. I took a look
at this study, the RAND study, and some of the critiques that were
provided to me. And I look at this, at this assignment, and I take
the position of being a social scientist.
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My background and training is in methodological approaches and
how to develop rigorous analytical ways to study empirical data
sets and then to apply those approaches to looking at significant
international policy issues.

I am not, by any means, a drug expert. I instead take a look at
this as from a methodological point of view, and I try to look at
some of the ways that if you came to me and asked me some of
the questions that were presented today and asked of IDA, how
would I go about providing you with those answers in a rigorous
scientific fashion.

I just want to make three quick points and then we can open it
up for some questions.

After reading the IDA study, I think that given the assumptions
that were placed on the study, the data issues, and we can talk
about that more later, which I think is one of the real key issues
here, if you look at how they approached this issue and when you
really come down to it, what IDA is trying to do is to provide em-
pirical data to what I would argue is almost a common sense or in-
tuitive argument. That is, if you were to say to me, if you were to
decrease the supply of drugs coming into the United States from
Latin America, would you expect that that would in some way have
a resultant impact on the amount of supply of drugs available and,
therefore, if the amount of supply of drugs is changed, would that
affect the price?

If you were to ask me that question, I would say that sounds log-
ical to me. But if you look at from it a scientific point of view, I
would have to go back and collect empirical data and try to verify
the correctness of that supposition.

I think the IDA is basically doing some cutting-edge research, be-
cause they are looking at some very difficult variables and some
very difficult data collection issues which I think are important to
provide into this whole debate over drug strategy.

If you look and just try and imagine, if you were to ask me what
is the street price of cocaine in the United States, how would you
go about finding out what that was, well, we have all sorts of data
points here. They are from DEA data that was collected from peo-
ple who were out there making supposed buys for this.

I suppose we could go out and ask people in prisons how much
they charged or how much they paid for cocaine, or perhaps we
could even go out on the street and try to create a data collection
survey, something that I don’t think I would want to do, that is,
ask buyers and sellers of cocaine how much they were charging.

But what they have done here is tried to look at a longitudinal
study, that is, the price of cocaine on the street over time, and look
at fluctuations. And if you look at their graphs, you will see that
indeed there are marked changes in the price of cocaine on the
streets of the United States.

The question then comes down to: What causes those changes?
I think what IDA is trying to look at—and I don’t think that in
their conclusions they would state that interdiction is the only rea-
son that you find prices increasing on the streets, but that interdic-
tion efforts have had some type of impact on the price of cocaine
in the United States.
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Now, we can argue all you want about price elasticities of de-
mand and we can look at what is the elasticity of a heavy user vis-
a-vis a light user? But I think what IDA is trying to do is set the
stage in terms of putting an issue on the table for discussion to
look and try to quantify the impact of source interdiction as it ap-
plies to actual pricing mechanisms.

So I think that there are some flaws and some analysis that they
have done in their study that I might do a little differently, but
overall I think it’s a very useful effort. I think, as a scientist, I
would like to see studies like this put on the table for open discus-
sion, and I think much of the discussion here in the hearings today
has been very useful.

From a more editorial point of view, I would just say that from
what I understand, this is a federally funded study. It is unclassi-
fied, and I think that it behooves both myself as a scientist and
myself as a taxpayer to have the ability to look at these studies
when we begin to debate policy issues. And, therefore, I see no rea-
son why this study shouldn’t be released and shouldn’t be available
for gublic discussion among interested parties.

Thank you.

Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you.

Mr. Reuter.

Mr. REUTER. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

I ask my written statement be placed in the record.

Mr. ZELIFF. Without objection.

Mr. REUTER. As you stated, I was at RAND for some years and
was involved in the management of the study that is referred to
here as the RAND study. 1 probably provided some of the intellec-
tual underpinnings for it in the earlier study I did of interdiction
for the Department of Defense in 1988.

The IDA study is, in fact, very simple. It begins by asserting that
there was a marked success in drug policy in 1989. The IDA re-
searchers observed that the price of cocaine, which had fallen
sharply throughout the 1980’s, stabilized after 1989. That was de-
fined as a success because the researchers claimed that absent
some newly effective Government intervention, the price of cocaine
would have fallen to $25, less than half the figure they estimated
it stabilized at in 1989.

This is absolutely critical to the whole analysis. This is no longer
facts. This is a theoretical projection on their part. The only basis
they offer for that projection is a statement by Mark Moore, a pro-
fessor at Harvard, about what the price of cocaine would be if legal,
and a statement that: “Exponential decay in prices might be ex-
pected for a commodity in a saturated market characterized by un-
constrained competition.” .

I have no idea where that statement comes from and no ref-
erences provided for it. It may, indeed, be that looking at the drift
of prices as a physicist, you would indeed see that decline, but in
economics there’s no basis for making that statement.

The next question that the IDA researchers asked was: What
would explain this apparent success? I will for the moment leave
aside their claim that there was a success.

Their answer was that this success must be the result of more
effective interdiction efforts by the United States and producer



133

countries, since they claimed there were three upturns in the price
series they had constructed that occurred shortly after the launch
of three interdiction operations. From this they concluded that
interdiction operations should be credited with all reductions in co-
caine consumption resulting from the price increase that they in-
ferred; did not measure, they inferred.

Interdiction then seemed to be an extraordinarily cost-effective
program achieving a 1 percent reduction in cocaine consumption for
only $8 million. This contrasts dramatically with a RAND estimate
that source country and interdiction programs require $350 to $800
million to accomplish that same reduction. There is no basis for
this.

Their measurement of price—sorry. There is no basis for this be-
cause, in fact, there were many other things that effect the price
of cocaine. It is not simply driven by Government expenditures on
interdiction.

For example, over the last 10 years, an increasing number of per-
sons have been locked up for drug-selling offenses. Presumably,
that has some effect on the supply curve for drugs. It has made
this business more risky, and one presumes that that has an effect
just as interdiction will have an effect by increasing riskiness.

The other central problem of the study is that the measures of
price are highly questionable. There are already in existence some
well-documented price series published by the Abt Corp. under con-
tract to ONDCP, published over a number of years, well-docu-
mented, well-analyzed using exactly the same data.

There’s no reference to these series in the IDA study and they
show a very different level of prices. That is, the street price of co-
caine per pure gram is more like $125 rather than $50 and, just
as importantly, they don’t show the two upturns in retail cocaine
prices that the IDA series shows in 1992 and 1995. There is a mod-
est upturn in 1995, but it is so small that it could simply be
noisy—noisy data. These data are not collected by scientists in
white coats in sterile labs, or even by clerks writing down nurhbers
from supermarket labels; they come from undercover purchases in
markets characterized by lots of cheating and uncertainty.

The IDA study then has a spurious price increase which is in
conflict with what is available from other sources.

The other sort of major failing here is that in looking at prices,
they look only at what they claim are retail prices. In fact, if inter-
diction is effective on prices, what you would expect to see is a rise
in import prices and then wholesale prices and eventually retail
prices. What is made immediately risky and expensive by interdic-
tion is smuggling and smugglers sell not in the retail market but
in the wholesale market.

In fact, the Abt series for wholesale shows no such increase in
wholesale prices in 1992 or 1995. They continued to decline, and
an increase in retail prices is more reasonably attributed to
changes in enforcement at the local level or at least domestically,
if DEA also operates at that lower level of the market.

My written testimony has a few more details about some of the
technical failings of the study, which I think is very weak. The fail-
ure of the authors to cite most of the published research on drug
prices and markets is simply remarkable.
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The claim that these are data that have not been analyzed before
is simply untrue. Every price series here, except one, has been reg-
ularly published and even that last series, SmithKline Beecham—
SmithKline testing data have also been analyzed by at least one
other person.

One would at least have expected them to address why their
price series looked so different from the price series that had al-
ready been published.

Let me conclude by saying that the weakness of this study has
no policy meaning whatsoever. Interdiction might indeed be more
effective than RAND researchers, including myself, have previously
estimated. The volume of research in this area is scandalously
small and it’s easy to raise questions about the few studies that
have been done. I mean, I would say that the RAND study in con-
trolling cocaine is far and away the best study of these issues.
That’s easy enough. There are no other studies of this issue until
this one is actually published.

John Caulkins, a major contributor to work in this area, has un-
dertaken a number of conceptual pieces that I think provide the
basis for the next generation of studies in this area that might en-
rich the results of the RAND work. There is new evidence about
the elasticity of prices that suggests that demand is more respon-
sive to price increases than was assumed by the RAND model and
by the IDA analysts.

If Congress and high-level decisionmakers in the executive
branch make decisions about the allocation of resources amongst
Federal drug control programs in a reasonable way, then they will
have to push agencies into investing in systematic analysis and
data collection.

Thank you.

[The prepared statement of Mr. Reuter follows:]
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Testimony of Peter Reuter before the Subcommittee on International Affairs,
House Committee on Government Reform
October 1, 1996

My nams is Peter Reuter. am a professor in the School of Public Affairs and in the
Department of Criminology at the University of Maryland. From 1989 to 1993, T was Co-Dircctor
of RAND’s Drug Policy Research Center, where I led studies on various aspects of dmg policy. In
1988 I'was the principal author of a major DoD funded study of the effectivencss of the
interdiction program’, I appreciate the opportundty to appear before the Committes and to discuss
ths Ingtitute of Definso Analysis Report entitled An Empirical Examination of Counterdrug
Interdiction Program Effsctivansss.

Given the eveats that have led to the hearing, I should start by describing my association
with both RAND’; study entitled Controliing Cocaine: Demand vs. Supply Programs (beresfter
Controlling Cocains) and the Office of National Drug Control Policy (ONDCP). While I was
not an author of the RAND study, I was very much involved in its geneaisand provided numerous
corments to the roscarchors. Controlling Cocaine also draws on my earlier interdiotion study and
another paper that I co-authored.? [ have never besn an official consultant to ONDCP but have
reviewed the IDA study and at least ono other study at their roquest pro domo; 1 am in discassion
with ONDCP at the moment about doing soms consulting on measures of effectivenses.

1t is important to carry out studies of the effectiveness, and cost effectiveness of various
fideral drug control programs. The existing studies are very fow in number and represent firly
small scale efforts, ‘While I believe that both Sealing the Bordars and Controlling Cocaine are
professionally done and credibls studies, they are certainly not definitive. Indeed, I shall in the
course of my testimony suggest soms basic issues that these studies have not explored and which
might make a substantial diffsrence to their results.

Howsver the IDA study s not a useful contribution. It is doeply flawed conoeptually. Its
basic assumption is that only interdiction works and that no ather drug control program has
affocted the price of cocaine; unsurprisingly, interdiction is thus shown to be effective. The
empirical work is poarly done, showing a striking lack of familiarity with prior research. The
results it produces have no credibility.

! Reuter, Crawford and Cave Sealing the Borders RAND, 1988
% Reutor and Kleiman “Riske and Prices® In Mortis and Tonry (sde.) Crime and Justice: A Review of
Research Vol 7, 1988
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The IDA Analysis
Summary

Let mo begin by summarizing the major problems of the study. The principal concoptual
weakness lies in the claim that the retail price of cocaine would, in the abssnce of effective
interdiction programs, have fallen to $25 pérpure gram. This is based on a mystarious assertion
about the characteristics of drug markets that has no analytic or empirical basis. It also ignores all
the other factors, particularly other federal and gtate enforoement programs, that influcnce the price
of cocaine and leads to a dramatic overstatsment of the cost-effectiveness of interdiction,

Empirically, the study is flawed by a failure to interpret a mamber of data series correctly
The price series confounds domestic wholesale and retail prices, which leads to errors in the
behavior of prices aver time and may exaggerate the estimated impact of individual interdiction
efforts. It makes claums that prices have recently increased for which no data are offered and
which are flatly contradicted by others who follow this data serics, The misisterpretation of the
DAWN (Drug Abuse Warning Network) and DUF (Drug Use Forecasting) series as measures of
consumption leads to baffling analyses.

The study shows strikingly littls familiarity with the relevant analytic literatare, which is
readily accessible and of modest volume. It referencag neither the other models of interdiction nor
the growing literature on the behavior and determinants of cocaine prices. This may explain the
unsophisticated character of the empirical analyses.

Conceptual Issues,

The study's central assertion is that the retail price of cocaine would, absent effoctive
interdiction, have fallen to about $25 per pure gram. Nothing else contributed to kesping prices
from falling to this level. The cost effectivences equation presented on p.8 implicitly sets the price
impact of all other enforcement effarts at zero. Le. if the federal government wers to eliminate all
domestic enforcement expenditures, the price of cocains would not be affectsd.

The asscrtion about the potential price of cocaine is justified in two ways.

(1) Citation to an asssrtion by Mark Moore, a leading analyst of drug policy, that the floor
price of cocaine would bo $15-20 (p.6). As represented in both the Rydell and Everingham study
(which IDA uses as the source of the ststement) and the original Moore article’ this was not a
statement about what would happen if interdiction went to zero but about the comsequences of

"Moore "Supply Reduction. And Drag Law Enforcoment* in Wilson and Tonty (cda) Drugs and Crime
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legalizing cocaine. Moore is very explicit that factors other than enforoement would cantribute to
raising the price of cocaine above that legal floor.

(2) A projection from the curvilinear behavior of retail prices in the period 1985 to 1989.
No justification is offered for making thig projection exccpt that “an exponential decay ..might be
expected for a commodity in a saturated market characterized by unconstrained competition." No
literature is cited for this latter assertion, which is completely novel to me. I note that one of the
other reviewers was similarly baffled as the origin of the claim. There might well be learning by
doing that leads to 8 continung outward shift in the supply curve as the market expands® (i.e.
smugglers, like computer manufacturers, become more efficient as they becoms more experienced)
but fere is no basis for asserting that this would continus indefinitely. Basically, IDA simply
makes an extengion of a line on a graph and calls it analysis.

There is thus no basis for the statement that the retail price of cocaine would have fallen to
$25 in the absence of interdiction expenditurcs. Explaining the bshavior of cocaine prices ovar the
lagt 10 years is indood challenging, Tt is difficult to understand their continued decline (in inflation
adjugted terms, using the Abt series) given the vast increase in the number and length of prison
sentences recsivad by cocuine deslers and the apparent stagnation of demand, as shown by the
number of fraquent ugers that are not incarcerated. But any effort to explain that pattern would
certainly includs a modsling of the effsct of many programs other than interdiction, such as state
and local enforcement, treatment and faderal imprisonment which account for very much larger
sums than interdiction and (apart from treatment) which clearly impose great risks and cost on
drug dealers.

As suggested in my introduction, 2 more probative method for assessing the impact of
specific interdiction programs 18 to examins the import, rather than retail, price of cocaine. This
was the method used in Sealing the Borders. Certainly one would expect that the first sign of
effioctive transit zons (and possibly source zone) interdiction would be on the smugglers’ margin, as
measured by the difference betwsen the import price (at which smugglers sell drugs) and the export
prics (at which they buy the drugs). IDA makes no reference to this prics margin. In fact import
prices remain & small shars of retail prics. In March 1995 DEA reported Chicago kilogram prices
(which are higher than the import prics, since imports are sold in bundles of 10 to 1,000 kilograms)
were $21,000-25,000, while retail prices in that city were $100-150 per gram; adjusting for purity,

® A model of this kind was developed by J. Cave and P.Reuter in The Interdictor's Lot RAND 1988
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the retail price was equivalsot to §150-200,000 per kilogram”. Thus the import price is leas than
one sixth of the retail price. Moreover the import price scams not to have increased since 1983,
indeed, after adjusting for inflation, it bax fallen by about one third,

IDA simply fails to model the mechanism by which interdiction affects retail prices. They
do not explain whetheroneshouldadoptau.addmvo or multiplicative maodel in projecting from
tmport to retail prices. They manage to do this by simply assuming that the only influence on retail
prices is interdiction.

Data Interpretation

The IDA price series shows anomalies compared to those published by other analysts.
These anomalies may account for some of the surprising findings on the impact of interdictios.

For example, the series developed by Abt Associstes for ONDCP' shows substantially
higher prices for the post 1989 period. For the period 1991-1993, the upper bound estimate is as
high as $168 and the lower bound estimats no lower than $120. In contrast the IDA figures for
1991-1993 in Figure 2, show prices between about $50 and $85 per pure gram. This difference
may be explained by the peculiar procedure IDA used to estimate the price series, namely the
inclusion of all purchases up to 10 kilograms, which is at least two and possibly three levels above
retail loved. Given that DEA makes numerous purchases at the higher levels of the market, this
serics cannot be taken to represent retail prices,

A retailer sells in approximately ons gram units and buys in about 10 gram units. A
wholesaler buys in 50 to 250 gram units. A high level wholssaler might buy 1 to 10 kilogram
units, If.uhubwnposmlsﬁdmﬂ:eﬁshandpﬂm:ﬁodd.ﬂwmk—upnvxﬁomhvuhdm
market is determined primarily by the intensity of enforcement at that particular lovel, this price
series confounds the effacts of different enforcement efforts.

The result is that much of the variation that IDA reports may be an artifact of the mix of
observations in the STRIDE data. If in ons quarter DEA makes more purchases at ths true retail
level (i.e. leas than 5 grams) the average price for that quarter will go up, even if actual prices have
not varied, simply because the price per pure gram is much higher for smaller purchases. This
Lind of variation 15 taken account of in other prics series developed by Caulking'® and Abt.

® Drug Enforcement Administration Jilegal Drug Price/Purity Report: United States Jenuary 1992-March
1995,

19 sehat America's Users Spand on Jllicit Drugs, 19881993

Y Caulking A Price Serins for Cocaina Santa Monica, CA, RAND, 1994
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Ancther odd featurs of the price analyses is the failure to take advantage of the regional
varistion that is available in STRIDE (System to Retrisve Information from Drug Evidance),
DAWN and DUF. Prices vary among cities in both absolute levels and fluctuations over tims,
‘While it is hard to determins what exactly IDA did in Figure C-1 (Correlstion between STRIDE
and DUF) there is no suggestion that IDA attempted to generate city lovel STRIDE data. That
leaves two possibilitics:

(a) Each city was weighted equally and a DUF average percent positive was
estimated for the nation. Thus New York City, with 7 million residents would be weiglhted ecually
with Portland, a city with less than half 3 million.

(b) The cities were analyzed separatsly but a single nationa! price was used.
Unloas the time serics acrose cities are highly correlated, which is not my impression, this will
ngMmMm.

Conclusion

There are numerous major and minor errors in the study which 1 had not had time to fully
deseribe. Forutmplc,ﬂwesﬁmmoﬂhcehsﬁcityofdmmdviqlmﬁebmcmluof
sconometrics text books; since however IDA ended up using the sams elasticity as Comrolling
Cocaine, this is of little relevance, except for the doubt that it casts on the qualifications of the
researchers. The choice of 1989 as 8 starting potnt for the finding of effiective source zons
interdiction is justified by a serics of non-sequiturs®.

The IDA study is simply not credible. Bvary page shows a lack of expertise and analytic
competence in the rolovant aress. I have never seen a study which so comprehensively betrayed
one of the basic rules of scientific rescarch, namely read the literature. Controlling Cooaine was
replete with the basic references; the IDA. toam ignored thom all. I they bad located Canlkins®
conjecture about multiplicative effects of import price increases, they would have had a much
better basis for beginning a oritique of Controlling Cocaine; thoy had read so little that they seem
o have been unaware of it.

The weaknesscs of this study have no policy significance. It may indeed bo the case that
too little is spent on interdiction. I suggostod that possibility in testimony on May 1, 1996 to the

2 “Prior to 1988, the U 8. Customs Sezvice and other law enforcament agencies aggrensively conducted &
mmmmmmmummmwamus.wmmm
were highly sucoessful in stopping the serial influx, there 18 no evidence of price increases in the U.S,
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Sevate Judiciary Committee, though I would be surprised if the increase would constituts a large
share of the total federal drug budget. To make that assessment the federal government, including
the major enforcament agencies, would have to consistently invest in developing data and analysis
that would provide Congress and other high level policy makers with the ability to compare the
cost-effectiveness of different programs.

No such effort has been mads. For example, no agency consistently reports data on leaf’
prices, or mdeed prices of cocaine as it moves from the farm to cxport, which is cascotial to any
analysis of foreign drug control efforts. IDA’s only comment on leaf prices was based on a report
from Reuters News Agency (no relative), published in the Washington Times; surely the agencics
of the United States can provide something more authoritative than for a rescarch contractor. Nor
do agencics such as Customs, Coast Guard and DEA develop policy analytic expertise, cither
internally or with external contractors.

Evidence Based Research (EBR) conducted a study of the cost-cffcctivencss of interdiction
for ONDCP in 1996. The EBR study remains classified; only 2 summary has been released, which
does not permit & full asscssment of its validity, though I remain skeptical of any study which does
not take into account prioes, instead relying on some measure of disruption imposed on smugglers.
In 1987 WEFA, a well respected sconamic consulting firm, did a study of the cost-offsctivences of
interdiction for the Customs Service, comparing it to other types of domestic law enforcement®, It
has disappeared from sight because it was obviously biased toward finding interdiction more
effective and used transpareutly inappropriate measures. Otherwise, apart from classified studice
that I might not have seen, there aro only Sealing the Borders, which made no comparisons with
other programs, and Controlling Cocaine to guide Congress in it3 assessment of .the effectiveness
of interdiction,

The federal government does indeed fund quito a large program of drug policy evaluation
research but almost exclusively for treatment and prevention programs. These demand side
programs may receive only one third of the federal drug budget but they probably account for
ninety percent of the foderally funded evaluation. The explanation is no mystery; treatment lacks
polstical friends and is always being subject to scrutiny to show that it “works”. No such scrutimy
is required of federal enforcement programs.

warket from thess efforts. We thus conclude that the effects of U.S. border interdiction are included and
accounted for in the general exponential decline of price prior to 1989." (p.7)
" Godshaw, Koppel and Pancoast
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‘This surely provides an utterly inadequate basis for decisions about the allocation of the
foderal drug budget, now in excess of $15 billion, if agenoy figures are to be trusted' and
dominated by big federal enfiorcement efforts Though acknowledging my self-interest in the
matter, I think that one good outcoms from the IDA fiasco might be an awarensss on the part of
both the Executive branch and Congress that mors money has to be invested to anewer thess
complex questions about the cost-cffoctivencss of drug enforcement programs in an objective and
defensible manner.

1 would be happy to answer any questions.

" Onthi;gammh&rphyl(updngm&om The Frailtiss of the Federal Drug Control Budget
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Mr. ZeLiFF. Thank you very much.

Mr. Hastert.

Mr. HASTERT. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

At least very quickly, I was interested in your presentation, Dr.
Reuter. You used words like scurrilous and scandalous.

Mr. REUTER. Say that again?

Mr. HASTERT. Scurrilous is a word that you used.

Mr. REUTER. I don't think I used the word scurrilous.

Mr. HASTERT. You did.

Mr. REUTER. Spurious.

Mr. HASTERT. I thought it was scurrilous.

Mr. REUTER. No, it was spurious.

Mr. HASTERT. Well, all right.

Well, I just wondered if there was empirical evidence to put a
qualitative face on what is scurrilous and what is scandalous in
your empirical evidence.

Mr. REUTER. 1 am sorry. 1 simply was referring to something
being a spurious correlation, a spurious observation. It is nothing
about—not impugning——

Mr. HASTERT. Anyway, you used the word scandalous, too. That’s
fine. I thought that was rather unscientific.

Dr. Snitch, in your estimate of the IDA study, were good sci-
entific data used?

Mr. SNITCH. They used the data that was available. As was just
stated, the data collections in this area are few and far between,
and I think it’s rather difficult sometimes to get very good data on
what actually is the price of cocaine on the street at any given
time. As I said before, if you look at their analysis over time, I be-
lieve that they used the best data that was available to them and
did their analysis with that. Yes, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. So how about the conclusions that they drew from
it? Are they sound conclusions or not?

Mr. SNITCH. I would argue that the conclusions, as I have read
this study and looking at the data and the restraints that they
were working under—I don’t know what IDA’s tasking order origi-
nally was and what they were asked to look at. But if you follow
the study, as they have carried it out, I think that their conclusions
can be substantiated by the data, yes, sir.

Mr. HASTERT. Well, my understanding is that they were doing
studies—they started out, you know, as a physicist doing this study
but they found that they were looking at over-the-surface—over-
the-horizon radar and they got involved in tracking drug planes
and they found out when they started to put a real tight kibosh on
drug trafficking that there was a reaction in the market. So I guess
that’s how they got started.

I'm not sure if—that probably, as an economist we would want
models and everything else to fit in there, but there is an action
and reaction, so to speak, which I guess the physicists look at this.

And can you say that after you look at this evidence that there
is a cause and an effect here?

Mr. SNITCH. I see correlations on the data that was presented.
Trying to determine causality is much more difficult. I think you
have to go into a multivaried analysis type of situation. But, again,
in looking at the data, when they—when they show you data and
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pricing over time, and then they superimpose upon that data var-
ious external events, that is, interdiction efforts, and you see a
short time lag and then you start to see increases in prices. Maybe
that may be coincidence, but nonetheless, it is showing that there
is a trend evident on their data. )

Mr. HASTERT. And we are sitting here trying to make policy,
long-term policy. It might be a year, 2 years, maybe 5 years. And,
you know, we don’t have perfect data to make any decision on. Part
of it comes from the——

Mr. SNITCH. Sir, I don’t think you will ever get perfect data.
That’s probably not the issue. It is what is the best data you can
have.

As I said in my remarks earlier, I think it would have been very
useful for you if you would have had this study and this debate
that we are having today perhaps 4 months ago or 5 months ago,
before you got into appropriations and authorizations and policy is-
sues, as opposed to the day after the new fiscal year started.

Mr. HASTERT. Well, I agree.

Well, we have another fiscal year coming up. But I was the per-
son who had to try to persuade or discuss it with a lot of Appro-
priation Subcommittee chairmen.

Thank you.

I want to yield back, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. ZeLiFr. I thank you, Mr. Hastert.

Mr. HasTeRrT. Mr. Chairman, if I could, too, let me just take a
second,

Maybe this may be the appropriate time, maybe not, but you
know I have been able to work with you and this committee for a
lot of years and especially the last year or so have worked on this
issue. You have been an exemplary and very fine leader on this
issue.

I think a lot of the things that have been done today and hap-
pened in this whole issue would not have happened if not your
leadership had taken place. So I just want to say from the bottom
of my heart, and I know a lot of those people that are out there,
that this makes a real difference, too.

Thank you.

I know that you are not going to walk away from this thing when
your term in Congress ends; that you will be out there fighting
along,r the way. I appreciate all the efforts that you have put for-
ward.

I yield back.

Mr. ZELIFF. Thank you.

It has been a great partnership. I remember when we were down
in Colombia, you and I went, at lunchtime we had a break, and
rather than eating lunch we went and talked to all the DEA agents
who were there risking their lives and thanking them on behalf of
the Congress. There are a lot of people out there around the world
that are fighting with very limited resources, and so the stakes are
awfully high.

I thank you very much. It does take commitment, mostly because
I have got three wonderful grandchildren and you have got a fam-
ily that you are worried about, too. I think it’s the future that we
are worried about.
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I guess I will jump into your comment there, that you kind of
left. Wouldn’t it have been great if we had that information avail-
able 4 months ago. And you sat right up there listening to 5 hours
of testimony.

You know, where did you come out on all of this discussion, we
heard it, we didn’t hear it? It's 7—you know, it’s 12 months in the
making and now it’s 7 months into it. We still don’t have a final
draft, it’s not ready, it is not a finished product, it’s not prime time.

I mean, if I were listening to all of this from the private sector,
I would probably go nuts. But what do you think?

Mr. SNITCH. 1 spent some time running studies for the National
Academy of Sciences and we ran into some of these same problems
where you get draft, after draft, after draft. It comes to a point in
time where you have got to fish or cut bait, and it's time to put
some closure to a study.

Again, I think you could make an argument—and many of the
criticisms of this report I think are valid, where you can probably
analyze this to death. You ecan continue on. If there’s enough
money coming to the folks who are doing the study, they can keep
analyzing and looking at new factors, new variables, almost ad infi-
nitum.

I think what you have to do is get a study that is fairly well-fo-
cused, bring some conclusions to the table, let people discuss them,
beat them around. If, indeed, they are nonsense and garbage, well,
then they will be dismissed. If not, analyze them.

I think the important issue is to get the information and to get
the ideas out on the table so people can have the ability to give and
take and either agree with them or disagree with them. So the—
I am not going to argue that the study should have been released
earlier, but there gets to a point in time where decisions have to
be made about how many drafts do you do and when does it be-
come released to the public?

I would also say that it perhaps might have been useful in some
of these earlier stages, if they could have consulted with the Con-
gress, knowing full well that you were involved in some of these
policy and budgetary issues, to say here is a study coming down
the road which is going to raise some flags, because it does con-
tradict certain approaches that we now take. And I think it prob-
ably would have been useful for you to see that, even if the docu-
ment hadn’t been publicly released.

Mr. ZELIFF. Especially since we are part of the partnership that
gives them the resources that do what they do.

Mr. SNITCH. Most definitely.

Mr. REUTER. Mr. Chairman, could I comment?

Mr. ZELIFF. Sure.

Mr. REUTER. I think this is a document that is far too flimsy to
be released. I have never seen peer review comments as totally
damning as these ones, and I do not think this is a study that can
be rescued. The conclusions are not supported and it would not in-
deed have been helpful in your deliberations. It is a study which
having been reviewed has been found wanting in almost every rel-
evant dimension.

Mr. ZELIFF. Well, there certainly is some strong disagreement
with what you just said, and we have—that’s one nice thing about
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democracy. We still don’t have it resolved whether it was adequate
research or whether it wasn’t.

Mr. REUTER. There is a peer review process.

Mr. ZeLiFr. The fact it was covered up or whether it wasn’t. So
we will have to go and solve that on another day.

I do have—on three pieces of the conclusions, I would like to ask
you a few questions, Dr. Snitch, how you feel. And the first one is,
continued counternarcotics efforts have significantly reduced the
scope of the cocaine epidemic as compared to the levels that would
have resulted had the cocaine trade continued to operate
unimpeded. Yes or no?

Mr. SNITCH. I would think that would go without saying.

Mr. ZeLiFF. OK. Second, when pursued with aggressive focused
actions, source-zone interdiction efforts aimed at denial of produc-
tion and transportation from the coca-growing regions have consist-
ently caused marked increases in the street price of cocaine. This
suggests that a long-term denial strategy could have lasting effects
on the cocaine market. Yes or no?

Mr. SNiTCH. Could I make two insertions? It has caused marked
temporary increases in the street price. If you look there, there are
peaks and valleys. So it has not been a long-term, but has caused
a temporary.

Mr. ZELIFF. And probably the reason is that they have started
into a 3-month effort and then stopped it because of funding?

Mr. SNiTCH. Perhaps. It could be. I would say that the long-term
denial strategy, if it was continuous, that is not stop and go, could
lead—could have a lasting effect as opposed to episodic interdiction
efforts that cause minor spikes.

Mr. ZeLiFF. The last one would be, widely circulated analyses
that have included a very low cost-effectiveness for source-owned
interdiction, particularly as compared with treatment programs for
heavy users, are counter to the empirical evidence. The discrepancy
is largely attributed to the use and such analysis of improper meas-
ures of source-zone interdiction effectiveness, unrealistic assump-
tions regarding the margin of costs of large-scale additional treat-
ments and reliance upon a questionable model to fit cocaine de-
mand as a primary evaluation tool.

Mr. SnitcH. Well, I don’t know if I would agree with that be-
cause I haven’t studied and gone over the RAND report. I would
say that the RAND study was not an improper measure of source-
zone interdiction. It was a different measure. They were looking at
different things.

The IDA study is a supply study that is looking at interdictions
in a zone outside the United States. The RAND study appears to
be looking at seizures within the United States.

If you had a very effective interdiction effort in Latin America
and you cut off the supply of cocaine to the United States down to
zero, if measured by the RAND criteria, there would be no seizures
and, therefore, you have a very ineffective policy. So they are meas-
uring apples and oranges here.
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Mr. ZeLiFF. All right. Mr. Reuter—Dr. Snitch, Dr. Reuter, thank
you very much for your testimony. We appreciate your being here.

Thank you.

[Whereupon, at 3:30 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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